EDGAROnline

ALIMERA SCIENCES INC

FORM 10-K

(Annual Report)

Filed 03/07/14 for the Period Ending 12/31/13

Address

Telephone
CIK
Symbol
SIC Code
Industry
Sector
Fiscal Year

6120 WINDWARD PARKWAY

STE 290

ALPHARETTA, GA 30005
6789905740

0001267602

ALIM

2834 - Pharmaceutical Preparations
Biotechnology & Drugs

Healthcare

12/31

Powere 4 &y EDGAROnline

http://www.edgar-online.com
© Copyright 2014, EDGAR Online, Inc. All Rights Reserved.

Distribution and use of this document restricted under EDGAR Online, Inc. Terms of Use.


http://www.edgar-online.com

Table of Contents

UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-K

(Mark One)
ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2013
or

a TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF
1934

For the transition period from to

Commission file number: 001-34703

Alimera Sciences, Inc.

(Exact name of registrant as specified in its chaer)

Delaware 20-0028718
(State or other jurisdiction of (I.LR.S. Employer
incorporation or organization) Identification Number)

6120 Windward Parkway, Suite 290
Alpharetta, GA 30005

(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code)

(678) 990-5740

(Registrant’s telephone number, including area code

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) t¢fie Act:

Common Stock, $0.01 par value per share The NASDAQ Stock Market LLC
(Title of each class) (Name of each exchange on which registered)

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) diie Act:
None

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a welbwn seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405%edb#turities Act.  Yed No

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is notuieed to file reports pursuant to Section 13 orti®acl5(d) of the Act. Yes[d No

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant €l filed all reports required to be filed by Secti8 or 15(d) of the Securities Excha
Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (orsiach shorter period that the registrant was reduodile such reports), and (2) has been
subject to such filing requirements for the pastgs. YesX] No O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant lasmstted electronically and posted on its corpo¥alb site, if any, every Interactive
Data File required to be submitted and posted puntsio Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (8 232.405 of tthapter) during the preceding 12
months (or for such shorter period that the regigtwvas required to submit and post such filesY.es No O



Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquiletrs pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K (825 of this chapter) is not
contained herein, and will not be contained, toltbst of registrant’s knowledge, in definitive pyax information statements incorporated by
reference in Part Il of this Form 10-K or any amerent to this Form 10-K.[X]

Indicate by check mark whether the registrantlerge accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, m-accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting
company. See the definitions of “large accelerdited” “accelerated filer” and “smaller reportirmmpany” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange
Act. (Check one):

Large accelerated filer O Accelerated filer O

Non-accelerated filer O (Do not check if a smaller reporting company) Serakporting company
Indicate by check mark whether the registrantskell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Actyes O No

As of June 28, 2013, the last business day ofdbistrant's last completed second quarter, theegatg market value of the Common
Stock held by non-affiliates of the registrant vaaproximately $ 50,490,774 , based on the closiiog pf the registrant's Common Stock, as
reported by the NASDAQ Global Market. Shares of Gwn Stock held by each executive officer, direatod stockholders known by the
registrant to own 10% or more of the outstandiglsbased on public filings and other informatigrown to the registrant have been exclu
since such persons may be deemed affiliates. Btemination of affiliate status is not necessaailyonclusive determination for other
purposes.

A s of February 28, 2014 there were 37,910,991eshaf the registrant's Common Stock issued argtanding.
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DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

Specified portions of the registrant’s proxy stagaitwith respect to the registrant’'s 2014 Annuakbtey of Stockholders, which is to be
filed pursuant to Regulation 14A within 120 dayteathe end of the registrant’s fiscal year endedddnber 31, 2013, are incorporated by
reference into Part Il of this Form 10-K.
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PART |
SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD -LOOKING STATEMENTS AND PROJECTIONS

Various statements in this report are “forward-lngkstatements” within the meaning of the PrivageBities Litigation Reform Act of
1995. Forwardeoking statements involve substantial risks anceutainties. All statements, other than statemehiéstorical facts, included
this report regarding our strategy, future operegjduture financial position, future revenuesj@cted costs, prospects, plans and objectives ¢
management are forward-looking statements. Thesensents are subject to risks and uncertaintiesentdased on information currently
available to our management. Words such as, buimibéd to, “anticipate,” “believe,” “estimate,’"&@xpect,” “intend,” “may,” “plan,”
“contemplates,” “predict,” “project,” “target,” “Kely,” “potential,” “continue,” “ongoing,” “will,” “would,” “should,” “could,” or the negative
of these terms and similar expressions or word@stify forward-looking statements. The events aincunstances reflected in our forward-
looking statements may not occur and actual resolifd differ materially from those projected inrdarward-looking statements. Meaningful
factors which could cause actual results to difielude, but are not limited to:

” w ” ou ” w ” ” o

. uncertainty as to our ability to commercialize ILIBN in the European Union(EL

. our limited sales and marketing infrastruct

. delay in or failure to obtain regulatory approvalldJVIEN or any future products or product candiels

. our inability to successfully market and sell ILLBN following regulatory approval in additional matk

. uncertainty as to the pricing and reimbursengeidelines for ILUVIEN or any future products ompluct candidates, including
ILUVIEN in the various EU countries;

. uncertainty as to the relationship between teefits of ILUVIEN or any future products or prodwandidates and the risks of
their side-effect profiles;

. dependence on third-party manufacturers to natufe ILUVIEN or any future products or produchdalates in sufficient
quantities and quality;

. the extent of government regulatic

. uncertainty of clinical trial resull

. our ability to operate our business in compl@andth the covenants and restrictions that we abgest to under our credit
facility; and

. our ability to raise sufficient additional finangi

All written and verbal forward-looking statementiautable to us or any person acting on our Hedral expressly qualified in their
entirety by the cautionary statements containe@f@rred to in this section. We caution investarsto rely too heavily on the forward-looking
statements we make or that are made on our b&Malfindertake no obligation, and specifically dexkmy obligation, to update or revise
publicly any forward-looking statements, whethenagsult of new information, future events or otfiee. You are advised, however, to
consult any further disclosures we make on relatdgjects in any annual, quarterly or current repthrait we may file with the Securities and
Exchange Commission.

We encourage you to read the discussion and asalysiur financial condition and our consolidatetncial statements contained in
annual report on Form 10-K. We also encourage goedd Item 1A of Part 1 of this annual report onnfr 10-K, entitled “Risk Factors,”
which contains a more complete discussion of tflkesrand uncertainties associated with our busimesaldition to the risks described above
and in Item 1A of this report, other unknown or tettictable factors also could affect our resultsere can be no assurance that the actual
results or developments anticipated by us willdmized or, even if substantially realized, thalytivill have the expected consequences to, or
effects on, us. Therefore no assurance can be iatithe outcomes stated in such forward-looktatements and estimates will be achieved.
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ITEM 1. BUSINESS
Overview

Alimera Sciences, Inc., and its subsidiaries (Wlénéra or the Company), is a biopharmaceutical camythat specializes in the
research, development and commercialization ofgpiggtgon ophthalmic pharmaceuticals. We are prdgdatused on diseases affecting the
back of the eye, or retina, because we believeettisgases are not well treated with current thesegnd represent a significant market
opportunity.

Our only commercial product is ILUVIER, which has received marketing authorization intiasthe United Kingdom, Portugal,
France, Germany and Spain, and has been recommémdedrketing authorization in Italy, for the ttegent of vision impairment associated
with chronic diabetic macular edema (DME) considensufficiently responsive to available therapi@®E is a disease of the retina that
affects individuals with diabetes and can leadeteese vision loss and blindness. ILUVIEN is thatfiproduct approved for chronic DME in the
United Kingdom and European Union (EU). ILUVIEN hast been approved by the U.S. Food and Drug Aditration (FDA).

We launched ILUVIEN in the United Kingdom and Genyiain April and May of 2013, respectively, and mantly plan to launch
ILUVIEN in France in 2014. To date, the majorityair sales have been in Germany. We were ableitehain Germany without price
restriction, but continue to work with the statytbiealth insurance funds in Germany to streamimabursement for ILUVIEN.

In January 2013, the United Kingdom’s National itas¢ for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) puldidhinal guidance for England
and Wales indicating that ILUVIEN does not satisfyCE's definition of cost effectiveness for theatiraent of vision impairment associated
with chronic DME considered insufficiently resporsio available therapies given the cost of £5,5%08.submitted a simple patient access
scheme (PAS) for ILUVIEN to NICE for consideratiander its rapid review facility. In October 201BetNICE Appraisal Committee issued a
positive Final Appraisal Determination recommendibdVIEN funding for the treatment of pseudophakiges (eyes with an artificial lens),
chronic DME patients that are insufficiently respime to available therapies and the final technplagpraisal guidance was published in
November 2013. The technology appraisal guidaneerses the published guidance issued by NICE inalg2013, and takes in
consideration the PAS. NICE requires clinical cossianing groups, National Health Service (NHS) Bndland local public health authori
to comply with the recommendations in the finaldguice within three months of its date of publicatdd/e began receiving orders for
ILUVIEN from several NHS facilities in January 2QlAdicating early implementation of the NICE guida in certain NHS facilities. Further,
in February 2014, the Scottish Medicines Consortiafter completing its assessment and review ahdas simple PAS, announced that is |
accepted ILUVIEN for restricted use within the NiSSotland.

In July 2013, the Transparency Commission (Commisde la Transparence or CT) of the French Natiblealth Authority (Haute
Autorite de Sante) issued a favorable opinion lierreimbursement and hospital listing of ILUVIEN ttne French National Health Insurance
for the treatment of chronic DME considered instiéfntly responsive to available therapies. In thimion, ILUVIEN was deemed as providil
a "moderate medical benefit" as defined by the iBeMedical Rendu. As a result, when we agree prica with the French authorities,
patients will be reimbursed for 100% of the costLadVIEN under the Affection de Longue Duree, a ifie program for severe chronic
diseases such as diabetes. When comparing theatlbenefit of ILUVIEN to existing therapies (Amedation du Service Medical Rendu or
ASMR), the CT rated the product at "level IV" whiglill be used in considering the price and any trinsement conditions for ILUVIEN in
France.

In September 2013, we submitted an applicatiohedMiedicines and Healthcare Products Regulatornné&géHRA) in the United
Kingdom, as the Reference Member State, for teitiaddl EU country approvals through the Mutual Bguaition Procedure.

We submitted a New Drug Application (NDA) in Jur@l® for ILUVIEN in the U.S. with the FDA. We resulited our NDA in May
2011 and April 2013 to address matters raisedarFiDA's Complete Response Letters (CRLSs) relatirtye NDA. In October 2013, we
received a third CRL from the FDA stating that MiBA could not be approved in its current form. e third CRL, the FDA identified clinical
and statistical deficiencies and indicated thatabeefits of ILUVIEN did not outweigh its risks. Fher, the FDA also indicated that results
from a new clinical trial would need to be subnditeogether with at least 12 months of follow-upad@r all enrolled patients, to support
certain indications previously discussed with tiAFThe FDA suggested that a meeting with the Déotogic and Ophthalmic Drugs
Advisory Committee may be of assistance in addngstbie deficiencies identified above and providadgice whether a patient population can
be identified in which the benefits of the drugduwot might outweigh the risks. In the third CRLe thDA referenced deficiencies in the
methods and controls used for the drug produdteafacility where ILUVIEN is manufactured. We dottelieve that these deficiencies will
affect our European commercial supply of ILUVIENeWnd our third-party manufacturer are in the pgead resolving these deficiencies.
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We were notified of a January 2014 meeting of tkeigdory Committee shortly after the issuance oftthiel CRL. In a subsequent
communication with the FDA, we believe we clarifithait the purpose of the Advisory Committee meetag to consider the benefits and
risks of ILUVIEN based on existing data availalden our two completed Phase 3 pivotal clinicallsri@ollectively, our FAME Study).
Further discussion with the FDA in preparationtfoe Advisory Committee resulted in labeling diséoiss for ILUVIEN, and we and the FDA
agreed that the Advisory Committee was no longeesgary. We intend to submit a response to thé @RL in the first quarter of 2014 to
include a new proposed label, address concerrSDideraised regarding the facility at which ILUVIEN manufactured, and provide a safety
update on ILUVIEN, which will include data from INJEN patients and from physician experience with thUVIEN applicator in the Unite
Kingdom and Germany, where ILUVIEN is commercialailable. The FDA has indicated that we will netrequired to conduct any new
clinical trials in connection with the FDA's revienf this submission.

ILUVIEN is an intravitreal implant that treats patits by delivering a consistent sub-microgram dadlge of the non-proprietary
corticosteroid fluocinolone acetonide (FAC) in thee, which is sustained and therapeutically effedirough 36 months. ILUVIEN is inserted
in a non-surgical procedure employing a device witb-gauge needle which allows for a self-sealingnd. In approved European countries,
the procedure is performed in a hospital or priwditac setting. If approved in the U.S., the namegcal procedure will be performed in the
retinal specialist’s office. In the treatment of@hic DME with an intraocular corticosteroid, welibee that delivering therapeutic levels and
mitigating the typical side effects can only beiaghd by delivering drug to the back of the eye ®wHe@ME occurs, and minimizing exposurt
the front of the eye, where the typical side effdake place. To achieve this, ILUVIEN is insertethe back of the patierst’eye to a placeme
site that uses the eyehatural fluid dynamics to focus drug deliverythie back of the eye. Therefore, we believe ILUVI&®ivers a sustaine
therapeutic effect in chronic DME, and an adveraneprofile that is predictable and manageabla bstinal physician.

Our commercialization strategy is to establish ILBM as a leading therapy for vision loss in chrddME patients and subsequently for
any other indications for which ILUVIEN is proveafe and effective. We are led by an executive tedtim extensive development and
commercialization expertise with ophthalmic produatluding the launch and management of Visudtheefirst pharmacological treatment
indicated for patients with wet AMD. We intend tapitalize on our management’s experience and aspdd market ILUVIEN and other
potential eye care products, when, where and if sinags receive regulatory approval. We have hadditional ophthalmic and specialty
product managers in Europe. We launched ILUVIEKh@ United Kingdom and Germany, in April and May26f13, respectively, and
currently plan to launch ILUVIEN in France in 20Me also plan to commercialize ILUVIEN, directlywith a partner, in Austria, Italy,
Portugal and Spain, with potential expansion inteoEU and noif=U countries pending future applicable regulatqgravals. If ILUVIEN is
approved by the FDA, we intend to commercialize MIBIN directly to physicians and retina centers asrthe U.S. through specialty
distributors and specialty pharmacies.

Business Strategy

We are presently focused on diseases affectingabk of the eye, or retina, because we believeettisgases are not well treated with
current therapies and represent a significant nanieortunity. Our business strategy is to:

. Maximize the Commercial Success of ILUVIWe launched ILUVIEN in the United Kingdom and Genyain April and May of
2013, respectively, and currently plan to launctVMLEN in France in 2014. We also plan to commeiz@lLUVIEN, directly or witr
a partner, in Austria, Italy, Portugal and Spaiithywotential expansion into other EU and non-ElUrddes pending future applicable
regulatory approvals.

. Pursue FDA Approval for ILUVIEI We intend to submit a response to the third Cikthe FDA in the first quarter of 2014. If
approved by the FDA, we intend to directly commalize ILUVIEN to physicians and retina centershie tJ.S. through specialty
distributors and pharmacies.

. Pursue Approval in Additional Countri. We are eligible for a mutual recognition procedunder which we can submit ILUVIEN 1
approval in any or all of the remaining 20 EU coigs. The International Diabetes Federation esémtiere are approximately
11 million people suffering from diabetes in thesmaining countries. In September 2013, we subdhiteapplication to the MHRA
in the United Kingdom, as the Reference Membere$tat ten additional European Union country appievhrough the Mutual
Recognition Procedure. We are also consideringungsapproval in Middle Eastern and Asia Pacifialkess.

. Assess the Effectiveness of ILUVIEN for Additiddetinal Disease. We believe that ILUVIEN has the potential to sekir additional
retinal diseases including, among others, dry AMBt AMD and RVO.

. Expand Our Ophthalmic Product PipelirWe believe there are further unmet medical neetlsdtreatment of ophthalmic diseases.
Toward that end, we intend to leverage our managémexpertise and its broad network of
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relationships to continue to evaluatdizensing and acquisition opportunities for compdsiand technologies with potential treatn
applications for diseases affecting the eye.

Disease Overview and Market Opportunity
Diabetes and Diabetic Retinopathy

Diabetes mellitus, with its systemic and ophthalogmplications, represents a global public hedltbdt. The estimated prevalence of
diabetes worldwide in 2013 increased to 382 mill@ople and is expected to increase to 592 mipieople by 2035. In the EU countries in
which ILUVIEN has received marketing authorizatiamshas been recommended for marketing authorizagiccording to the International
Diabetes Foundation, Diabetes Atlas, Sixth Edittbere are approximately 23.0 million diabeticsubiom we estimate approximately
1.3 million suffer from DME.

According to the U.S. Centers for Disease Contnol Brevention (CDC), the number of Americans diagaowith diabetes has increa:
from approximately 8.1 million people in 1994 tqpapximately 21.0 million people in 2011. In additito diagnosed cases, the CDC estimate
that an additional 5.0 to 7.0 million Americanshmitiabetes are currently undiagnosed and are tirerabt being monitored and treated to
control their disease and prevent systemic andhajrinic complications. With better diagnostics amgiioved public awareness, the number o
persons diagnosed with and being treated for déslistexpected to increase.

All patients with diabetes are at risk of develgpgsome form of diabetic retinopathy, an ophthalogmplication of diabetes with
symptoms including the swelling and leakage of Blwessels within the retina or the abnormal grosfthew blood vessels on the surface of
the retina. According to the American Diabetes Agsion, diabetic retinopathy causes approximat@yO00 to 24,000 new cases of blindnes:
in the U.S. each year; making diabetes the leattinge of new cases of blindness in adults aged 28.tDiabetic retinopathy can be divided
into either non-proliferative or proliferative netipathy. Non-proliferative retinopathy (also calletkground retinopathy) develops first and
causes increased capillary permeability, micro sysens, hemorrhages, exudates, macular ischemiesnandlar edema (thickening of the re
caused by fluid leakage from capillaries). Proéfere retinopathy is an advanced stage of diabeticopathy which, in addition to
characteristics of non-proliferative retinopatmgsults in the growth of new blood vessels. Theselrieod vessels are abnormal and fragile,
growing along the retina and along the surfacéefdear, vitreous gel that fills the inside of #ye. By themselves, these blood vessels do n
cause symptoms or vision loss. However, these blesdels have thin, fragile walls that are pronleasage and hemorrhage.

DME is a common ocular complication of diabeteslitosl. As the incidence of diabetes continues twease worldwide, the incidence
DME and other complications is predicted to risevali. A majority of patients who suffer from diabke do not meet glycemic (glucose or
blood sugar) targets, resulting in chronic hypergiyia (elevated levels of glucose in the bloodjs;Tin turn, leads to the development of
micro-vascular complications, the most common oitilis diabetic retinopathy. Diabetic retinopathythe leading cause of new-onset
blindness in patients aged 20 to 70, with DME acotiog for a majority of vision loss in patients Wwitliabetic retinopathy. Vision loss from
DME affects both patients and caregivers, who raastist the patient with doctor visits.

Diabetic Macular Edema

DME, the primary cause of vision loss associatati @iabetic retinopathy, is a disease affectingnttaeula, the part of the retina
responsible for central vision. When the blood ekksakage of diabetic retinopathy causes sweillirthe macula, the condition is called DN
The onset of DME is painless and may go undetduydtie patient until it manifests with the blurrinfjcentral vision or acute vision loss. The
severity of this blurring may range from mild tofisund loss of vision. We estimate there are agprately 1.1 million patients suffering fro
DME in the seven EU countries in which ILUVIEN haseived or been recommended for marketing authiioiz.

As the diabetic patient continues to suffer from BNhe disease can undergo a transition where mitaenmatory factors become
present, and it is referred to as chronic DME.As stage, first line treatments may no longer cedhe macular edema or improve vision of
the patient even after a significant reduction ecolar edema has occurred.

Limitations of Current Treatments for DME

The current standards of care for the treatme®t\E are laser photocoagulation and intravitreatdtipns of anti-vascular endothelial
growth factor (antWEGF) antibody and corticosteroid therapies. Laertocoagulation is a retinal procedure in whidasar is used to apply
burn or a pattern of burns to cauterize leaky bleeskels to reduce edema. Visual acuity gainsese with this therapy, however, its primary
benefit is to prevent or slow vision loss. Furthbrs is a destructive procedure that has unddsisitie effects including partial loss of
peripheral and night vision. Lucentis, an anti-VE&#fibody, is marketed for the treatment of vidimss associated with DME in the U.S. and
the EU. Retinal specialists
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have supplemented laser photocoagulation and Lisogiih the use of off-label intravitreal injecti®of other anti-VEGF antibody and
corticosteroid therapies.

Studies have also shown that both anti-VEGF antésoand corticosteroids are efficacious in somepts suffering from DME.
However, both corticosteroids and avf:GF antibodies are limited by a need for multipliections to maintain a therapeutic effect andreot
efficacious in all patients. This raises conceroisamly for patients, but also for caregivers whe affected by frequent doctor visits, and
healthcare providers who must monitor patients tmgnEurthermore, some patients either do not aghé&eresponse or achieve an insufficient
response from these therapeutic approaches. Itiatydhese therapies have safety concerns. Cetéonids have historically been associated
with significant increases in pressure (IOP), whitdly increase the risk of glaucoma, and the aa#derof cataract formation. Frequent
injections of anti-VEGF antibody treatments inceettee risk of endophthalmitis and have also beewsho raise IOP in certain patients.

ILUVIEN
Overview

Our only commercial product is ILUVIEN, an intrasatl implant providing a therapeutic effect forto86 months in the treatment of
vision impairment associated with chronic DME byiwking sustained sub-microgram levels of FAcpa-proprietary corticosteroid.
Intravitreal refers to the space inside the eyarakthe lens that contains the jelly-like substacaked vitreous. DME is a disease of the retina
which affects individuals with diabetes and cardleasevere vision loss and blindness. ILUVIENnisearted in the back of the patienéye in i
non-surgical procedure using a sterile preloadgdicgior (the ILUVIEN applicator) employing a 25+gge needle, which allows for a self-
sealing wound. This procedure is very similar t® aldministration of an intravitreal injection, apedure commonly employed by retinal
specialists. In approved European countries, thequture is performed in a hospital or private clgetting. If approved in the U.S., the non-
surgical procedure will be performed in the retispécialist’s office. Based on data from our FAMEdy, we believe ILUVIEN improves
vision while mitigating side effects commonly assted with the use of corticosteroids for the faliog reasons:

. ILUVIEN delivers FAcThe active pharmaceutical ingredient in ILUVIENHACc, which has demonstrated efficacy in the
treatment of DME in the two completed Phase 3 jivdinical trials, collectively referred to as desAME Study.

. ILUVIEN delivers sustained s-microgram daily levels of a steroid to the eJhe dosage level of ILUVIEN provides lower
daily and aggregate exposure to corticosteroids thiaer intraocular dosage forms currently avadabl

. ILUVIEN delivers a therapeutic effect for up tor86nthsIn vitro release kinetics have shown that ILUVIENYides sustaine
delivery of sub-microgram levels of FAc over tinBased on the results of the FAME Study, ILUVIEN yides a sustained,
therapeutic effect in the treatment of DME patig¢htesugh 36 months.

. ILUVIEN's placement utilizes the eye’s natural fluid dyiesriThere are two natural currents of fluid within #aee; one to the
front of the eye and the other to the back of te er retina. We believe that ILUVIEN'’s delivery gustained sub-microgram
levels of FAc and insertion into the back of the eptimizes delivery of FAc to the retina by uiitig these natural currents,
maximizes efficacy and mitigates side effects.

. ILUVIEN is inserted using a -gauge needleNeedle gauge determines the size of the woundstltatated. ILUVIEN is
inserted into the eye in a non-surgical procedsiegia 25-gauge needle, which results in a wouatlistrsmall enough to seal
itself after the needle is removed, thus elimirgatite need for additional intervention. Using @éarneedle would require a
more complicated procedure to create a self-sealimgnd, or would require a suture to ensure closfithe wound.

Fluocinolone Acetonide

FAc, a nonproprietary corticosteroid, is the active compoimtLUVIEN and a member of the class of steroidswn as corticosteroid
Corticosteroids have demonstrated a range of planlogical actions, including inhibition of inflammian, inhibition of leukostasis, up
regulation of occludin, inhibition of the releadfecertain inflammatory cytokines and suppressioWBGF secretion. These pharmacological
actions have the potential to treat various ocaerditions, including DME, dry AMD, wet AMD and RV.®lowever, FAc shares many of the
same side effects as other corticosteroids cuyrentilable for intraocular use, including increa$®P, which may increase the risk of
glaucoma, and the acceleration of cataract formatio

ILUVIEN is Positioned to Mitigate IOP Increases
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Based on our analysis of the final clinical readiooin our FAME Study through month 36, it appe&a iLUVIEN mitigates the
incidence of steroid-induced IOP elevations assediwith the intraocular use of corticosteroidsjalihwve believe is due to its sustained low
dose and insertion in the posterior portion oféfe.

The side effect of increased IOP associated withiamsteroids in certain people is directly relatedhe interaction of corticosteroids
with the cells of the trabecular meshwork, a spizad tissue that acts as a filter located in toatf of the eye. In some individuals, the use of
intraocular corticosteroids can result in a buifglof debris in this meshwork, increasing resistaiocoutflow, and increasing pressure inside
eye. The positioning of ILUVIEN allows it to takeheantage of the posterior flow of fluid away frohettrabecular meshwork of the eye. We
believe ILUVIEN's sustained low dose and positignminimizes the anterior chamber exposure to FAtraitigates the incidence of IOP
elevations typically seen with the use of intraacworticosteroids.

ILUVIEN Provides Sustained Sub-Microgram Delivery

ILUVIEN consists of a tiny polyimide tube with anpeeable membrane cap on one end and an impernmstdd@e cap on the other end
that is filled with 190ug of FAc in a polyvinyl abol matrix. ILUVIEN is non-bioerodable; howeventh polyimide and the polyvinyl alcohol
matrix are biocompatible with ocular tissues andehaistories of safe use within the eye. ILUVIEMydes sustained sub-microgram levels o
FAc and demonstrated a therapeutic effect for lg6tmonths in our FAME Study. We believe that ILUPN's ability to deliver consistent,
subsmicrogram levels of FAc from a posterior point efease in the eye mitigates the incidence of I@Rations commonly associated with
intraocular use of corticosteroids.

The ILUVIEN Applicator

We developed a custom, proprietary applicator f&fMIEN, which includes improvements over the moelifisyringe used during our
FAME Study. These improvements include ergonomaigiefeatures, a transparent window to visuallyficonILUVIEN’s presence within
the applicator, a longer needle and markings tdeetinal specialists to the proper insertion pdks was the case with the modified syringe
used during our FAME Study, the ILUVIEN applicat®es a 25-gauge needle, which results in a wowatdsismall enough to seal itself after
ILUVIEN has been inserted into the back of the agyd the needle has been removed.

ILUVIEN for Other Diseases of the Eye

We believe that ILUVIEN has the potential to addrether ophthalmic diseases such as dry AMD, weDAdd RVO. Details regardir
the rationale for these other indications are #eVis:

. Dry AMD. Dry AMD patients account for 90% of AMD patientsitiwthe greatest unmet need among these patieintg ae
treatment for geographic atrophy (GA) for whichrthare currently no treatments available. Pre-@dinstudies in two
established rat models of retinal degenerationrtedat the Association for Research in Vision @mhthalmology meetings
in 2006, 2007 and 2008, described the efficacifiexis of a miniaturized version of ILUVIEN in retl degeneration. While
there are no standard preclinical models of GApeleve these results support the continued exidoraf ILUVIEN to treal
this condition.

. Wet AMD.The size of the wet AMD market was $2 billion in080according to visiongain, an independent conipetit
intelligence organization. AnWEGF antibodies require persistent dosing to mairdetherapeutic effect which is a burder
both the patient and the physician. We believe ILEN has the potential to be synergistic with thekealeading antVEGF
antibody therapies in the treatment of wet AMD gitkat corticosteroids have been shown to supphesgroduction of
VEGF.

. Macular edema associated with r-ischemic RVOAccording to GlobalData, a provider of global bsia intelligence, there
are 16 million adults affected with RVO around tierld. Retinal specialists have been using intragitinjections of the
corticosteroid triamcinolone acetonide on an offelabasis to treat non-ischemic RVO. In SeptemBEB2Allergan, Inc.
(Allergan) introduced Ozurdex (a three to five nfodexamethasone intravitreal implant) as the &ipgiroved product for
macular edema following branch or retinal vein as@n. The FDA’s approval of Ozurdex provides addil evidence that
corticosteroids work effectively for RVO.

ILUVIEN Regulatory Status
U.S. Regulatory Status

We submitted a NDA in June 2010 for ILUVIEN in tbeS. with the FDA. We resubmitted our NDA in MaylZ0and April 2013 to
address matters raised in the CRLs received frentA. In October 2013, we received a third CRInfrihne FDA stating that the NDA could
not be approved in its current form. In the thifdLC the FDA identified clinical and statistical
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deficiencies and indicated that the benefits of MILEN did not outweigh its risks. Further, the FD#dicated that results from a new clinical
trial would need to be submitted, together witkeast 12 months of follow-up data for all enrolfegtients, to support certain indications
previously discussed with the FDA. The FDA suggéstat a meeting with the Dermatologic and Ophtlh@Brugs Advisory Committee may
be of assistance in addressing the deficienciegiftal above and providing advice whether a patmpulation can be identified in which the
benefits of the drug product might outweigh thé&sidn the third CRL, the FDA also referenced deficies in the methods and controls used
for the drug product at the facility where ILUVIEBI manufactured. We do not believe that these idefices will affect our European
commercial supply of ILUVIEN. We and our third-parhanufacturer are in the process of resolvingeltegiciencies.

We were natified of a January 2014 meeting of tideigory Committee, shortly after the issuance efttiird CRL. In a subsequent
communication with the FDA, we believe we clarifithat the purpose of the Advisory Committee meetag to consider the benefits and
risks of ILUVIEN based on existing data availabdeni our FAME Study. Further discussion with the FD4preparation for the Advisory
Committee resulted in labeling discussions for IUBM, and we and the FDA agreed that the Advisoryn@ittee was no longer necessary.
We intend to submit a response to the third CRihafirst quarter of 2014, to include a new progbisével, address concerns the FDA raised
regarding the facility at which ILUVIEN is manufaced, and provide a safety update on ILUVIEN, whidh include data from ILUVIEN
patients and from physician experience with the\LEN applicator in the United Kingdom and Germawiere ILUVIEN is commercially
available. The FDA has indicated that we will netrequired to conduct any new clinical trials imgection with the FDA's review of this
submission.

EU Regulatory Status

We met with regulatory authorities in Germany, 8p&rance, Portugal and the United Kingdom andgwiesl our overall preclinical,
technical, clinical and statistical developmeninglavhich included the use of visual function asgtimary efficacy endpoint and an anatom
measure as a co-primary efficacy endpoint or kepsgary efficacy endpoint. In July 2010, we subedith data package regarding the efficac
and safety of ILUVIEN through month 24 of the FANBEudy to the applicable regulatory authoritiesha United Kingdom, Austria, France,
Germany, Italy, Portugal and Spain. In November®R@de received a Preliminary Assessment Report (FHAdR the MHRA. After meetings
and discussions with the MHRA, we finalized andriited our response to the PAR to the MHRA in Nobem2011with ILUVIEN efficacy
and safety through the end of the FAME Study, m@&@thin February 2012, we received a Final AssessReport (FAR) from the MHRA
indicating that the United Kingdom, Austria, FranGermany, Italy, Portugal and Spain had reachemhaensus that ILUVIEN was approve
for the treatment of vision impairment associatéith whronic DME considered insufficiently resporesiw available therapies and that the
decentralized procedure was complete. Upon reoéipie FAR, we entered the national phase with efithese seven countries and received
marketing authorization in Austria, the United Kilogn, Portugal, France, Germany and Spain. Duriagitiional phase labeling in each
country’s local language is finalized. As partlof approval process in these countries, we havendibead to conduct a five-year, post-
authorization, open label registry study of ILUVIENpatients treated per the labeled indicatiorGéptember 2013, we submitted an
application to the MHRA in the United Kingdom, a® tReference Member State, for ten additional Euhtty approvals through the Mutual
Recognition Procedure.

Commercialization

ILUVIEN is the only drug therapy indicated for paits with chronic DME considered insufficiently pessive to available therapies and
the only single treatment providing a sustainedapeutic effect of up to 36 months. Our commerzélon strategy is to establish ILUVIEN
a leading therapy for the treatment of vision limsshronic DME patients and subsequently for othdications for which ILUVIEN may prove
safe and effective. We launched ILUVIEN in the @ditkingdom and Germany in the second quarter 08281d currently plan to launch
ILUVIEN in France in 2014. We also plan to commealigie ILUVIEN, directly or with a partner, in Au&r, Italy, Portugal and Spain, with
potential expansion into other EU and non EU caestpending future applicable regulatory approvélapproved in the U.S., we intend to
distribute ILUVIEN to physicians and retina centdrough specialty distributors and specialty preaims. Although we anticipate ILUVIEN
being administered as a standalone therapy, wedimresee the use of ILUVIEN as precluding the axistration of other therapies in
conjunction with ILUVIEN. Our commercialization ategy in any geography is subject to and depengwori the regulatory approval of
ILUVIEN in any jurisdiction.

Sales and Marketing

We are led by an executive team with extensive ceroialization expertise with ophthalmic productsliing the launch and
management of Visudyne, the first pharmacologieatment indicated for the treatment of wet AMD.

In late 2012 and early 2013 we established a cargagement team for our EU operations based in tiiiedJKingdom. In November
2012, we entered into a master services agreenignQuintiles Commercial Europe Limited. Under eigreement, Quintiles Commercial
Europe Limited and its affiliates (collectively, @tiles Commercial) provide certain
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services to us in connection with the commerciibraof ILUVIEN in certain countries in Europe. Suservices include marketing, brand
management, sales promotion and detailing, madatss, pricing and reimbursement support, regylamedical science liaison and
communications and/or other advisory services. fA3ezember 31, 2013, we had entered into eigheptajrders with Quintiles Commercial
for the provision of sales, marketing, managemmitket access and medical science personnel in&wrrthe United Kingdom and France.
Under these project orders Quintiles Commerciatfddecember 31, 2013, employed 24 persons fulthiadged to Alimera. Quintiles
Commercial also employed six persons partially ckgéid to Alimera in Germany, the United Kingdom &nance as of December 31, 2013. Ir
December 2013 and January 2014, respectively,amsitroned our German and United Kingdom countrypagr positions in house.

If we obtain ILUVIEN approval from the FDA, we acifpate building our sales and marketing infrasticeein the U.S. to include
marketing, managed markets and sales , and fieldebamanaged markets and sales managers.

Our plan includes developing our medical marketprgmotion and communication materials and ensuhiaginfluential retinal
specialists are presenting our FAME Study dataraesisages at key retina meetings in the U.S. and EU.

Manufacturing

We do not have, and do not intend to establismdruse manufacturing capability for our productd as a result we will continue to
depend heavily on third-party contract manufactuterproduce and package ILUVIEN. We rely on thes@mufacturers to produce active
pharmaceutical ingredients, or APIs, and finishedygroducts in accordance with current Good Martufing Practices (cGMPs) and all ot
applicable laws and regulations. We anticipate weatvill continue to rely on contract manufacturersnanufacture ILUVIEN for commercial
sale. We maintain agreements with potential anstiexj manufacturers that include confidentialitg amtellectual property provisions to
protect our proprietary rights related to ILUVIEN.

Third party manufacturers are responsible for tamercial-scale production of ILUVIEN and the ILUBM applicator. We have
finalized agreements with the manufacturer of RAe,active pharmaceutical ingredient in ILUVIEN (RMABIOS SpA/Byron Chemical
Company Inc.), the manufacturer of the componehtiseolLUVIEN applicator (Flextronics Internationaltd or an affiliate of Flextronics
International, Ltd. (Flextronics)),the manufactuoéiLUVIEN (Alliance Medical Products Inc. (Alliaze)) and the manufacturer for the quality
release testing of ILUVIEN in the EU (Brecon Phacenaticals Limited (Brecon)). We do not currentlywbalternate providers for any of these
activities.

pSivida manufactured our clinical trial materiads éur FAME Study, our pharmacokinetics study drPhase 2 clinical trials for the
use of ILUVIEN for the treatment of dry AMD and w&MD. pSivida's manufacturing process is manual kwbr intensive and not practical
for commercial manufacturing. We worked with Flextics and Alliance to develop a manufacturing pssoghere automation is employed
whenever feasible so that we have a process capfibteng scaled-up to produce commercial quastifidle manufacturing process for
ILUVIEN consists of filling the polyimide tube wita matrix consisting of FAc and polyvinyl alcoh8\A), cutting the tubes, capping the
tubes with membrane caps, curing at high tempezakoading ILUVIEN inside the ILUVIEN applicatorapkaging and sterilizing the product.
This process has been transferred and validat&tliatce, the third-party contract manufacturedldfVIEN. Subsequent to the transfer and
validation of the process, Alliance began providitigical trial materials for our Phase 2 clinitaéls. We have discussed our approach to
show equivalency of the pSivida manufacturing pssde the commercial manufacturing process witi-bA, the MHRA and the German
Bundeninstitut fir Arneimittel und Medizinprodukt®fArM). The CRLs we received from the FDA and tmsessment reports received from
the European Health Authorities did not raise asyé with our demonstration of equivalency betwhermanufacturing processes at pSivida
and Alliance.

In February 2010, we entered into a commercial faanturing agreement with Alliance whereby Alliaragreed to manufacture and
package ILUVIEN for us at its Irvine, Californiacitity. Certain equipment at Alliance’s facility waurchased by us and is used solely for the
purpose of allowing Alliance to manufacture andiaaye ILUVIEN for us. Under the agreement, we ase aésponsible for supplying Alliance
with the ILUVIEN applicator and the API. Pursuaotaur agreement with Alliance, we have agreed dieiofrom Alliance at least 80% of our
total requirements for new units of ILUVIEN in theS., Canada and Europe in a calendar year; provfdg Alliance is able to fulfill our
supply requirements and is not in breach of iteagrents or obligations to us. Unless terminatelicean accordance with the provisions
thereof, our agreement with Alliance has an inigain of six years and will automatically renew $oiccessive terms of one year unless eithel
party delivers written notice of non-renewal to tiiker at least 12 months prior to the end of lem tcurrent term. In the CRL we received in
October 2013, the FDA referenced deficiencies énrttethods and controls used for the drug produtteafacility where ILUVIEN is
manufactured. We do not believe that these defigésnwill affect our European commercial supplyldfVIEN. We and our third-party
manufacturer are in the process of resolving tegieiencies.

In February 2012, we entered into a commercial rfaarturing agreement with Flextronics whereby Flemics agreed to manufacture
components of the ILUVIEN applicator for us atTiguana, Mexico facility. Certain equipment at
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Flextronics’ facility was purchased by us and isdusolely for the purpose of allowing Flextroniogrtanufacture the components of the
ILUVIEN applicator for us. Unless terminated earli@ accordance with the provisions thereof, oueagent with Flextronics has an initial
term of three years and will automatically renewdoccessive terms of one year unless either patiyers written notice of norenewal to th
other at least 18 months prior to the end of tle@ tturrent term.

In our NDA and Marketing Authorization ApplicatigimAA) for ILUVIEN, we provided the FDA and the Elégulatory authorities with
a completed process validation package on threenbich described manufacturing and packaging phaess and in-process controls.
Validation was conducted on small scale, 400 uaitthes but in the U.S., this can be scaled upnttinees. However, in the EU, the
manufacturing process for ILUVIEN is consideredomistandard process. In order to scale-up to @ldrgtch size, a new validation package
had to be submitted as a variation to the MAA.012, we completed three validation batches of @hu80t commercial batch and in 2013, we
filed, and received approval for, a variance tol#A with the MHRA.

In addition, we submitted 24 to 36 months of stgbdata from three primary stability batches tondmstrate that the product
manufactured using the process as described mezptged product specifications.

Customers

Our revenues for the fiscal year ended Decembe2®ll3 were generated from product sales primaril@érmany and our sales were
concentrated in a limited number of customers. Tustomers in Europe accounted for approximately 28%ur total consolidated revenues
for the year ended December 31, 2013. No othepmestaccounted for more than 10% of revenue in 2013

Competition

The development and commercialization of new damgsdrug delivery technologies is highly competitiWe face competition with
respect to ILUVIEN and any products or product d¢datks we may develop or commercialize in the fifuvm major pharmaceutical
companies, specialty pharmaceutical companies emednnology companies worldwide, many of whom hswiestantially greater financial
and other resources than we do. In the countriggioh ILUVIEN has received or been recommendedhiarketing authorization, or becomes
approved for use in the treatment of DME, it corepetgainst laser photocoagulation and the usetie¥ &G F antibody and corticosteroid
injections, or other therapies that may be apprawdie future. There are other companies workindevelop other drug therapies and
sustained delivery platforms for DME and other gadions. We believe that the following companiesvjate potential competition to
ILUVIEN:

. Roche’s products Lucentis (ranibizumab injectiand Avastin (bevacizumab) are both anti-VEGFlaties. Lucentis is
marketed in the EU by Novartis. Lucentis is curieapproved for the treatment of DME, the treatmameovascular wet
AMD and the treatment of macular edema following@®m the U.S. and the EU. Avastin, an oncology patdis used by
retinal specialists in both the U.S. and in certainntries of the EU in the treatment of numeraimal diseases but is not
formulated or approved for any ophthalmic use.

. Allergan’s product Ozurdex (dexamethasone iitire@l implant), is a bioerodable extended releag#ant that delivers the
corticosteroid dexamethasone. Ozurdex is approwethé treatment of macular edema following bramchentral RVO and
non-infectious uveitis affecting the posterior seginof the eye in both the U.S. and the EU. Ozudiaronstrates peak
efficacy at 60 days and duration of therapy ofé¢hefive months in the treatment of RVO. Ozurdes been submitted for
approval in the treatment of DME in the U.S.

. Regeneron/Bayer’s Eylea (aflibercept) is appdofeg the treatment of neovascular wet AMD in th&lhand in the EU. Eylea
has been submitted for approval in the treatmeBME in the U.S. and EU.

In addition, there are a number of other compaiesiding Ophthotech, Corp., Thrombogenics NV, Ampharmaceuticals and
pSivida, which are developing drug therapies otasned delivery platforms for the treatment of @uliseases. These companies are seeking
to apply their technologies to ophthalmic indicatan early stage clinical trials.

We believe we will be less likely to face generenpetition for ILUVIEN because of the bioequivalgmequirements of a generic form
of ILUVIEN. A generic pharmaceutical competitoritdJVIEN would need to establish bioequivalency thgh the demonstration of an
equivalent pharmacodynamic endpoint in a clinidal.tWe believe conducting such a clinical trisdwid be cost prohibitive and time
consuming.
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The licensing and acquisition of pharmaceuticatipits, which is part of our strategy, is a highdynpetitive area. A number of more
established companies are also pursuing strateglEense or acquire products. These establisbetbanies may have a competitive
advantage over us due to, among other factors,gtzei, cash flow and institutional experience.

Licenses and Agreements
pSivida US, Inc.

We entered into an agreement with pSivida in Fatyr@805, and a subsequent amendment in March 20@®tain a worldwide
exclusive license to develop and sell ILUVIEN faligery to the back of the eye for the treatment prevention of eye diseases in humans
(other than uveitis). This agreement also provigewith a worldwide non-exclusive license to depedmd sell pSivida’s proprietary delivery
device to deliver other corticosteroids to the batthe eye for the treatment and prevention ofdigeases in humans (other than uveitis) or t
treat DME by delivering a compound to the backhef ¢ye through a direct delivery method througimaision required for a 25-gauge or
larger needle. We do not have the right to devalagp sell pSivida’s proprietary delivery device onoection with indications for diseases
outside of the eye or for the treatment of uveitis.

Our license rights to pSivida’s proprietary delivelevice could revert to pSivida if we were toféi)l twice to cure our breach of an
obligation to make certain payments to pSividaolwihg receipt of written notice thereof; (ii) fad cure other breaches of material terms ol
agreement with pSivida within 30 days after noti€such breaches or such longer period (up to 98)des may be reasonably necessary if th
breach cannot be cured within such 30-day peridffile for protection under the bankruptcy lawesake an assignment for the benefit of
creditors, appoint or suffer appointment of a reeebdr trustee over our property, file a petitiordar any bankruptcy or insolvency act or have
any such petition filed against us and such prdoge@mains undismissed or unstayed for a periadarke than 60 days; or (iv) we notify
pSivida in writing of our decision to abandon adeehse with respect to a certain product using ig8ig proprietary delivery device. We were
not in breach of our agreement with pSivida as ef&@nber 31, 2013.

The agreement provides that after commercializatsfdbh UVIEN, pSivida will be entitled to 20% of theet profits as defined in the
amended and restated agreement. In connectiorthistrrangement we are entitled to recover 20#pafmercialization costs of ILUVIEN,
as defined in the agreement, incurred prior to peogrofitability out of pSivida’s share of net fits. As of December 31, 2013 and 2012,
pSivida owed us $11.0 million and $5.6 million,pestively, in commercialization costs. Due to tineertainty of future net profits from
ILUVIEN, we have fully reserved these amounts ia #tcompanying consolidated financial statements.

We will owe pSivida an additional milestone paymef$25.0 million if ILUVIEN is approved by the FDAf we were to enter into any
sub-license of ILUVIEN, we must share 20% of netdfigs and 33% of any lump sum milestone paymerdsived from a sub-licensee, as
defined in the agreement with pSivida.

Dainippon Sumitomo

In November 2007, we entered into a license agraemigh Dainippon Sumitomo Pharma Co., Ltd. (Dapop) whereby it granted to us
a non-exclusive, worldwide, royalty free licensetient rights under specific patents and pateplicgtions for the development,
manufacturing and marketing in the field of ophthalogy an injectable polymer tube implantable iatoeye containing a mixture of a
polymer and FAc (or derivative or pharmaceuticallgeptable salt of FAc) with a polyvinyl alcoholather polymer coating or layer at each
end of the tube. In addition, Dainippon grantedgan option to acquire a non-exclusive, worldwidense to patent rights and know-how
related to specific patents and patent applicationthe development, manufacturing and marketihgtieer pharmaceutical products in the
field of ophthalmology. In exchange for the licerasal option granted to us by Dainippon, we paidd$200 to Dainippon shortly after the
execution of the license agreement, and we arecéeghéo pay another $200,000 to Dainippon withirtytdays following the first regulatory
approval of the licensed product in the U.S. byRB&\. Dainippon may terminate the license agreerfemt materially fail to fulfill or breach
certain terms and conditions of the license agre¢@ued fail to remedy such failure or breach witthimty days after receipt of notice from
Dainippon. In addition, Dainippon may terminate license agreement in the event that we contestalidity of the patent rights related to
Dainippon’s specific patents and patent application the event of termination of the license agreet by Dainippon, owing to our breach of
the agreement or to our contesting the validitipaiippon’s patent rights, we are still expectediake the payment described above.

Government Regulation

General Overview
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Government authorities in the U.S. and other coemextensively regulate among other things theareh, development, testing, qual
efficacy, safety (pre- and post-marketing), mantufidcg, labeling, storage, record-keeping, adviegispromotion, export, import, marketing
and distribution of pharmaceutical products.

u.S.

In the U.S., the FDA, under the Federal Food, Daimgl Cosmetic Act (FD&C Act) and other federal éomhl statutes and regulations,
subjects pharmaceutical products to review. If wendt comply with applicable regulations, the gowveent may refuse to approve or place ou
clinical studies on clinical hold, refuse to appra@ur marketing applications, refuse to allow umemufacture or market our products, seiz¢
products, impose injunctions and monetary finesgrand prosecute us for criminal offenses.

To obtain approval of a new product from the FDA, must, among other requirements, submit data stipgahe safety and efficacy as
well as detailed information on the manufacture emmhposition of the product and proposed labeling.

The testing and collection of data and the preparatf the necessary applications are expensivdiar@consuming. The FDA may not
act quickly or favorably in reviewing these apptioas, and we may encounter significant difficudtar costs in our efforts to obtain FDA
approval that could delay or preclude us from mimgeour products. The drug approval process init® generally involves the following:

. completion of preclinical laboratory and anintedting and formulation studies conducted underddaboratory Practices
(GLP) regulations;

. submission of an Investigational New Drug Apation (IND) which must become effective before hanshinical trials may
begin;

. completion of adequate and well-controlled hurolimical trials to establish the safety and effigaf the investigational drug
for its intended use; the studies must be condume@r Good Clinical Practices (GCP) regulations;

. submission of a NDA or Biologics License Applicati(BLA);

. satisfactory completion of an FDA inspectiortled manufacturing facility or facilities where theoduct is produced to assess

compliance with cGMP regulations; and
. FDA review and approval of the NDA or BL

Preclinical tests include laboratory evaluationshef active drug’s chemical and physical properpesduct formulation and stability and
animal studies to establish pharmacological effantssafety. The sponsor must submit the resultseaflinical tests, chemistry, manufactur
and control (CMC) information and a clinical deyaheent plan including clinical protocol(s) in an INDhe sponsor cannot start clinical
studies until the IND becomes effective which isd2s after receipt by the FDA unless the FDA amncerns or questions before expiratiot
of the 30-day review period. In that case, the spoand the FDA must resolve the questions or cosdeefore clinical trials can proceed.

Clinical trials involve the administration of theviestigational drug to human subjects under thersigion of qualified investigators.
They are typically conducted in three sequentialggls but the phases may overlap or be combinet.tEalcmust be reviewed and approved
by an independent Institutional Review Board befooan begin.

Phase 1 trials usually involve the initial introtioo of the investigational drug in a small numb&human subjects to evaluate the
product’s safety, dosage tolerance and pharmacotigsand if possible, to gain an early indicatidit®effectiveness.

Phase 2 trials are usually conducted in a limitaiiept population to evaluate dosage toleranceappdopriate dosage; identify possible
adverse effects and safety risks; and preliminailgluate the efficacy of the drug for specificigadions.

Phase 3 trials further evaluate clinical efficang dest further for safety in an expanded patiepitation at geographically dispersed -
sites. Completion of two adequate and well-corebPhase 3 studies with results that replicate etiar is the norm before an application is
submitted to the FDA.

The FDA closely monitors the progress of each plodséinical testing and may, at its discretiorgvaluate, alter, suspend or terminate
testing based on data accumulated to that poinitaradsessment of the risk/benefit relationshighéopatient. Total time required for running
the clinical studies varies between two and temsyésdditional clinical testing may be required &mrecial classes of patients, e.g., geriatric
patients, pediatric patients, patients with rengdairment.
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Once all the clinical studies are completed, tltanspr submits a NDA containing the results of ntmigal and clinical trials, together
with detailed CMC information for the product anwposed labeling. It is also important that thensuoo provide a detailed description and
justify the risk/benefit relationship of the drugthe patient. Under the Prescription Drug User A&ete(PDUFA), the applicant has to pay a L
fee, which was $1.8 million in 2012, increasings®0 million in 2013.

The FDA conducts a preliminary review of the NDAdamithin 60 days will make a “fileability” decisiofdnce the submission is
accepted for filing, the FDA conducts andaepth review of the NDA. Under the PDUFA, the FDashien months and six months, respecti
in which to complete its review and issue an aclatter for a Standard and Priority Review NDA. Tegiew process may be extended by t
months if the FDA requests additional informatiarthee sponsor provides significant new informatiwrelarification regarding information
already provided in the submission within the taste months of the original PDUFA date. If the FBAvaluation of the NDA and
audit/inspection of clinical and manufacturing prdares and facilities are favorable, the FDA mawéseither an approval letter or CRL. A
CRL is issued if the FDA determines that it willtramprove the application in its present form. TL will describe all of the specific
deficiencies the FDA has identified and when pdesiihe FDA will recommend actions that the appitcgan take before the application may
be approved.

Upon receipt of a CRL, the applicant must take afithe following actions:

. resubmit the NDA addressing all deficiencies id#diin the CRL
. withdraw the NDA without prejudice to a subsequaitimission; ¢
. request an opportunity for a hearing on the tioe®f whether there are grounds for denying apalrof the NDA. Within 60

days of the date of request, or within a diffetiamie period to which the applicant and the FDA agthe FDA will either
approve the NDA or refuse to approve the NDA. & BDA refuses to approve the NDA, it will give thgplicant a written
notice of an opportunity for a hearing on the qguesof whether there are grounds for denying apgrofthe NDA.

Responses to the CRL can be classified as Clas€lhss 2. Class 1 and Class 2 resubmissions have-month and a sixaonth review
cycle, respectively, beginning on the date the FBéeives the resubmission. Examples of Class bneissions are: draft or final printed
labeling, safety update, stability update, propo$al mandatory post-marketing commitments, assdigation data, minor re-analysis of
previously submitted data and minor clarificatioALClass 2 resubmission is for any item not spedifis a Class 1 item including any item
would require presentation to an Advisory Committee

Within one year after receipt of the CRL, the apgufit is required to take one of the actions citaa/a. If the applicant does not take one
of these actions, the FDA will consider the lackedgponse as a request to withdraw the NDA. Thécaop can also request an extension of
time to resubmit the NDA. A resubmission must fidlydress all the deficiencies cited. A partial cese to the CRL will not be processed as ¢
resubmission and will not start a new review cycle.

Other Regulatory Requirements

Risk Evaluation and Mitigation Strategy (REMB)e Food and Drug Administration Amendments Ac2@d7 (FDAAA), gives the FD;
authority to require a drug-specific REMS to engheesafe use of the drug. In determining whethREMS is necessary, the FDA must
consider the size of the population most likelyse the drug, the seriousness of the disease diticonto be treated, the expected benefit of
the drug, the duration of treatment, the seriouspé&nown or potential adverse events and whethaot the drug is a new chemical entity. If
the FDA determines a REMS is necessary, the sponsst propose the REMS plan at the time of apprév&EMS may be required to
include various elements, such as a medicationeguighatient package insert, a communication marducate health providers of the drug’s
risks, a limitation on who may prescribe or dispetie drug or other measures that the FDA deerreseaxy to assure safe use of the drug.

The FDAAA also expands the FDA's authority to regudostapproval studies and clinical trials if the FDAteafdrug approval, deems
appropriate. The purpose of such studies woula lzs$ess a known serious risk or signals of awserisk related to the drug or to identify an
unexpected serious risk when available data inglittet potential for a serious risk. The FDA may akqjuire a labeling change if it becomes
aware of new safety information that it believesiugtl be included in the labeling of a drug.

Post-Marketing RequirementbBhere are postarketing safety surveillance requirements thategeired to be met to continue market
an approved product. Adverse experiences with tbedyct must be reported to the FDA and could réauinhposition of market restrictions
through labeling changes or in product removaldBeb approvals may be withdrawn if compliance wébulatory requirements is not
maintained or if problems concerning safety andfticacy of the product occur following approvah& FDA may also, in its discretion,
require post-marketing testing and surveillancetmitor the
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effects of approved products or place conditionammnapprovals that could restrict the commergigliaations of these products.

With respect to product advertising and promotibmarketed products, the FDA imposes a number offtex regulations which
include, among others, standards for direct-to-gores advertising, off-label promotions, industryeepored scientific and educational
activities and Internet promotional activities. THBA has very broad enforcement authority undeRB&C Act, and failure to abide by these
regulations can result in penalties, includingitseiance of warning letters directing the spons@otrect deviations from FDA standards, a
requirement that future advertising and promotionaterials are pre-cleared by the FDA, and stadefedteral civil and criminal investigations
and prosecutions.

The manufacturing facility that produces our prddaast maintain compliance with cGMP and is subjegieriodic inspections by the
FDA. Failure to comply with statutory and regulgtoequirements subjects a manufacturer to poskgh and regulatory action, including
Warning Letters, seizure or recall of productsjmgtions, consent decrees placing significantig&tns on or suspending manufacturing
operations and civil and criminal penalties. In @RL received in October 2013, the FDA referenceficéencies in the methods and controls
used for the drug product at the facility where WEN is manufactured. We do not believe that thaskciencies will affect our European
commercial supply of ILUVIEN. We and our third-parhanufacturer are in the process of resolvingeltegiciencies.

Foreign Regulations

Foreign regulatory systems, although varying frayardry to country, include risks similar to thossaciated with FDA regulations in
the U.S.

Under the EU regulatory system, applications fagdapproval may be submitted either in a centrdlaedecentralized procedure. Un
the centralized procedure, a single applicatioéoEMA, if approved, would permit marketing of gm®duct throughout the EU (currently 27
member states). The centralized procedure is marydfair new chemical entities, biotech and orphaergdroducts and products to treat All
cancer, diabetes and neuro-degenerative disongterjramune diseases, other immune dysfunctionsvaatidiseases. Products that constitute
a significant therapeutic, scientific or technicalovation or which are in the interests of pasantthe EU may also be submitted under this
procedure. We believe ILUVIEN would have potenyiajualified for this procedure as a product thatstibutes a significant therapeutic,
scientific or technical innovation. However, we shdo pursue the decentralized procedure in theediingdom, Austria, France, Germany,
Italy, Portugal and Spain due to our limited resesr The decentralized procedure provides for egidins to be submitted for marketing
authorization in a select number of EU countridge Process is managed by a central Reference Mebtater (RMS) that coordinates the
review process with the Concerned Member States.

A mutual recognition procedure of nationally apgdwdecisions is available to pursue marketing aightions for a product in the
remaining EU countries once marketing authorizaktias been received in any EU country. Under thesaduiecognition procedure, the hold
of national marketing authorization in one of tlheietries within the EU may submit further applicas to other countries within the EU, who
will be requested to recognize the original auttation based on the FAR provided by the RMS. In&aper 2013, we submitted an
application to the MHRA in the United Kingdom, &g tReference Member State, for ten additional Euhtty approvals through the Mutual
Recognition Procedure.

Third-party reimbursement and pricing controls

In the EU, U.S. and elsewhere, sales of pharmaadytroducts depend in significant part on the labdity of reimbursement to the
consumer from third-party payers, such as govermnm et private insurance plans. Third-party payeesracreasingly challenging the prices
charged for medical products and services. In tf&,Uollowing regulatory approval, if any, it witle time consuming and expensive for us to
go through the process of seeking reimbursement Wiedicare and private payers. Our products mayaatonsidered cost-effective, and
coverage and reimbursement may not be availatdeféicient to allow us or our partners to sell puoducts on a competitive or profitable
basis. The passage of the Medicare Prescriptiog Bnd Modernization Act of 2003 imposes new reguésts for the distribution and pricing
of prescription drugs which may affect the markgtiri our products.

The Patient Protection and Affordable Care Acam&nded by the Health Care and Education Affordatitleconciliation Act of 2010,
collectively referred to as the ACA, is expectedignificantly change the way healthcare is finahlog both governmental and private insui
The provisions of the ACA became effective oveliaas periods from 2010 through 2014. While we cammedict what impact on federal
reimbursement policies this law will have in gemeraspecifically on any product we commercialitee ACA may result in downward
pressure on pharmaceutical reimbursement, whicldamgatively affect market acceptance of new petsluThe rebates, discounts, taxes anc
other costs resulting from the ACA may have a $igamt effect on our profitability in the futuren bddition, potential reductions of the per
capita rate of growth in Medicare spending underARA, could potentially limit access to certaiagtments or mandate price controls for
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our products. Moreover, although the U.S. SupremmartChas upheld the constitutionality of most af thCA, some states have indicated that
they intend not to implement certain sections efACA, and some members of the U.S. Congress ilreatking to repeal the ACA. We
cannot predict whether these challenges will camtior other proposals will be made or adopted,atwmpact these efforts may have on us.

In many foreign markets, including the countrieshie EU, pricing of pharmaceutical products is eabjo governmental control. In the
U.S., there have been, and we expect that theleavitinue to be, a number of federal and statpgsals to implement similar governmental
pricing control. While we cannot predict whetheclslegislative or regulatory proposals will be atdoly the adoption of such proposals could
have a material adverse effect on our businesadial condition and profitability.

Patents and Proprietary Rights

Our success depends in part on our ability to atdad maintain proprietary protection for ILUVIEN any future products or product
candidates, technology and know-how, to operatkowitinfringing on the proprietary rights of othersd to prevent others from infringing our
proprietary rights. Because certain intellectualparty relating to ILUVIEN is licensed to us byrthiparty collaborators, we are dependent on
our collaboratorsability to obtain and maintain such protection. \hee have conducted our own research, our pdity seek to protect o
proprietary position by, among other methods, dilh.S. and foreign patent applications relateduopsoprietary technology, inventions and
improvements that are important to the developroéntr business. We also rely on trade secretsykmmw, continuing technological
innovation and in-licensing opportunities to deyeémd maintain our proprietary position.

As of December 31, 2013, we owned or have licesset.S. utility patents, one U.S. design patemnt avo U.S. patent applications as
well as numerous foreign counterparts to many e$¢hpatents and patent applications relating t&/IBN or the ILUVIEN applicator. We
licensed two European patents from pSivida direttiemlir low-dose device and have an applicatiordipendirected to our applicator system
for ILUVIEN. We licensed our patent rights relatitILUVIEN from pSivida. Pursuant to our agreemeith pSivida, we only have the right
to our ILUVIEN-related patent rights for diseases of the humar(@jper than uveitis). Our licensed patent portfaticludes U.S. patents (wi
no currently pending or issued corresponding Euanplications or patents) with claims directechethods for administering a
corticosteroid with an implantable sustained deiidevice to deliver the corticosteroid to the ettus of the eye wherein aqueous
corticosteroid concentration is less than vitrecwsicosteroid concentration during release.

U.S. utility patents generally have a term of 2@rgefrom the date of filing. The utility patenthig relating to ILUVIEN licensed to us
from pSivida include five U.S. patents that exgiegween March 2019 and April 2020 and counterplarg$ to these patents in a number of
other jurisdictions. Two European patents are Beento us from pSivida directed to our low-dosei@®ethat expire in April of 2021 and
October 2024. No patent term extension or suppléangprotection certificate will be available famaof these U.S. or European patents or
applications.

The patent positions of companies like ours aregdly uncertain and involve complex legal anddatuestions. Our ability to
maintain and solidify our proprietary position faur technology will depend on our success in olbigieffective claims and enforcing those
claims once granted. We do not know whether arguofpatent applications or those patent applicattbat we license will result in the
issuance of any patents. Our issued patents asd that may issue in the future, or those licetseds, may be challenged, invalidated or
circumvented, which could limit our ability to stepmpetitors from marketing related products orlémgth of term of patent protection that
we may have for our products. In addition, the t8giranted under any issued patents may not praxdaeth proprietary protection or
competitive advantages against competitors withlairtechnology. Furthermore, our competitors nrajependently develop similar
technologies or duplicate any technology develdpeds. Because of the extensive time required éoetbpment, testing and regulatory
review of a potential product, it is possible thsfore such product can be commercialized, amaelpatent may expire or remain in force fo
only a short period following commercializationetkby reducing any advantage of the patent.

We may rely, in some circumstances, on trade setoqirotect our technology. However, trade seeaetdifficult to protect. We seek to
protect our proprietary technology and processepart, by confidentiality agreements with our eoygles, consultants, scientific advisors and
other contractors. These agreements may be breamhedve may not have adequate remedies for aaghtorén addition, our trade secrets r
otherwise become known or be independently dis@al/by competitors. To the extent that our employeessultants or contractors use
intellectual property owned by others in their wéok us, disputes may arise as to the rights iateel or resulting know-how and inventions.

Research and Development

We have built a research and development orgaaiz#tiat includes extensive expertise with ophthalpnoducts including Visudyne, t
first pharmacological treatment indicated for patsewith wet AMD. We operate cross-functionally aré led by an experienced research anc
development management team. We use rigorous progtagement techniques to
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assist us in making disciplined strategic researchdevelopment program decisions and to help tmitrisk profile of our product pipeline.
We also access relevant market information andoipdyion leaders in creating target product profdes, when appropriate, as we advance
programs to commercialization. We engage thirdiggib conduct portions of our preclinical reseatohaddition, we utilize multiple clinical
sites to conduct our clinical trials; however we aot substantially dependent upon any one of thigése for our clinical trials nor do any of
them conduct a major portion of our clinical trials

We invested $8.4 million and $7.9 million in resgraand development during the years ended DeceBih@013 and 2012, respective
Employees

As of February 20, 2014, we had 31 employees. Téinese employees are engaged in research, devefi@nd regulatory activities,
and 21 are engaged in administrative support, §ieaimformation technology and sales and markedeityities. None of our employees is
represented by a labor union and we consider opi@me relations to be good.

Corporate Information

We are a Delaware corporation incorporated on du2603. Our principal executive office is locasd120 Windward Parkway, Suite
290, Alpharetta, Georgia 30005 and our telephomebau is (678) 990-5740. Our website address is vaimerasciences.com. The
information contained in, or that can be accessemligh, our website is not part of this report ahduld not be considered part of this report.

Available Information

We file annual, quarterly, and current reportsxgrstatements, and other documents with the Sézsiahd Exchange Commission
(SEC) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934nasnded (the Exchange Act). The public may readcapy any materials that we file w
the SEC at the SEC’s Public Reference Room at 180det, NE, Washington, DC 20549. The public mataio information on the operation
of the Public Reference Room by calling the SEC-800-SEC-0330. Also, the SEC maintains an Intenr@disite that contains reports, proxy
and information statements, and other informategarding issuers, including us, that file electcafly with the SEC. The public can obtain
any documents that we file with the SEC at wwwgee.

Copies of each of our filings with the SEC on FdréaK, Form 10-Q and Form 8-K and all amendmenthidse reports, can be viewed
and downloaded free of charge at our website, wiiwesiasciences.com as soon as reasonably praciaftel the reports and amendments
electronically filed with or furnished to the SEC.

Our code of ethics, other corporate policies amtg@dures, and the charters of our Audit CommitBmempensation Committee and
Nominating/Corporate Governance Committee are abtglthrough our website at www.alimerasciences.:
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

Investing in our common stock involves risk. Yawkhcarefully consider the risks described bel@weell as all the other information
this report, including the consolidated financithtements and the related notes appearing at tleoéithis annual report on Form 10-K,
before making an investment decision. The risksusmegrtainties described below are not the onlkgiand uncertainties we face. Additional
risks and uncertainties not presently known to uthat we currently deem immaterial also may impair business operations. If any of the
following risks actually occur, our business, resulf operations and financial condition could suffin that event the trading price of @
common stock could decline, and you may lose gbor of your investment. The risks discussed belsw include forwardeoking statemen
and our actual results may differ substantiallyrfréhose discussed in these forward-looking statésnen

Risks Related to Our Dependence on ILUVIEN

We are heavily dependent on the commercial sucadsaur lead product, ILUVIEN, which recently recedd marketing authorizations
in Austria, the United Kingdom, Portugal, France,&@many and Spain, and on the regulatory approvallbJVIEN for the treatment of
chronic diabetic macular edema (DME) in the U.S. dmther countries, which may never occur.

We are a biopharmaceutical company with only om&pet available for commercial sale in a limitednier of markets. As a result, our
future success is currently dependent upon the araiat and regulatory success of ILUVIEN for theatment of DME in Europe and the U
In February 2012, ILUVIEN received a positive outedfrom the Decentralized Procedure (DCP) in Eureiple the issuance of a Final
Assessment Report (FAR) from the United Kingdom Mie@és Healthcare Products Regulatory Agency (MHRW)cating that that it is
approvable for commercial use to treat vision impant associated with chronic DME considered insigffitly responsive to available
therapies in the United Kingdom, Austria, Francerm@any, Italy, Portugal and Spain. Following tteuance of the FAR from the MHRA,
ILUVIEN received marketing authorization from gowgrg regulatory bodies in Austria, the United Kioga, Portugal, France, Germany and
Spain. ILUVIEN has not yet received marketing auitetion in Italy, however, and we cannot be certahen, or if, it will receive such
authorization. ILUVIEN has not been approved byRDA in the U.S. and may never receive such appravé&eptember 2013, we submitted
an application to the MHRA, as the Reference MenState, for the approval of ILUVIEN in ten additadrEuropean Union (EU) countries
through the Mutual Recognition Procedure, but wenca be certain when, or if, it might receive sagprovals. We launched ILUVIEN in the
United Kingdom and Germany in April and May of 20t&spectively, and currently plan to launch ILUMXE France in 2014. The timing of
the commercial launch of ILUVIEN in the EU coungriis dependent upon each specific EU country’srmgiand reimbursement timelines.
Because we do not currently have any productsamtymt candidates available for sale or in clina@velopment other than ILUVIEN, our
future success is dependent upon building a comatengeration in the EU to successfully commeremlLUVIEN in the EU, and/or
obtaining regulatory approval from the FDA to markeJVIEN for the treatment of DME in the U.S., aifcapproved by the FDA,
successfully commercializing ILUVIEN in the U.S.

We anticipate that in the near term our abilitgémerate revenues will depend solely on our aliityuccessfully commercialize
ILUVIEN on our own in Germany, the United KingdomdaFrance. If we do not successfully commercidliz¢VIEN in these countries or
other countries in the EU or receive regulatoryrapgl in the U.S. for ILUVIEN for the treatment DPME, our ability to generate revenue may
be jeopardized and, consequently, our businessmagriously harmed. We may not succeed in our anciad efforts in the EU; we may not
receive regulatory approval in the U.S. for ILUVIEAhd if we do receive regulatory approval in th& UJor ILUVIEN, we may not be able to
commercialize ILUVIEN successfully, all of which widl have a material adverse effect on our busiardgrospects. In the near term, we
may experience delays and unforeseen difficultigbeé launch of ILUVIEN in one or more of the EUucdries, including obtaining
unfavorable pricing and/or reimbursement, whichldawegatively affect our stock price. We may counéirio experience delays in obtaining
regulatory approval in the U.S. for ILUVIEN, ifié approved at all, and our stock price may be tiegjg affected.

In addition, we have incurred and expect to comtitauincur significant expenses and to utilize lassantial portion of our cash resources
for the commercial launch of ILUVIEN in Germanyeth/nited Kingdom and France, continue to pursuapproval of ILUVIEN in the U.S.
and other EU countries and continue to grow ouratmmal capabilities. This represents a signifidamestment in the commercial and
regulatory success of ILUVIEN, which is uncertain.

We may also fail to develop future products or piciccandidates for the reasons stated in “RiskatB@lto Our Business and Industry.”

If this were to occur, we will continue to be degent on the successful commercialization of ILUV|ENr development costs may increase
and our ability to generate revenue could be ingohir
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Our revenue from sales of ILUVIEN in the EU countess in which it has received or been recommendedrf@arketing authorization is
dependent upon the pricing and reimbursement guidek adopted in each of such countries, which leeiay fall well below our current
expectations.

We have established list pricing or developed et of anticipated pricing in countries in whitJVIEN has received or been
recommended for marketing authorization. Thesenadés are our expectations, which are based udoutlden of DME, the lack of any
approved therapies for chronic DME, our perceptibthe overall cost to benefit ratio of ILUVIEN atitle current pricing in the EU of
therapies to treat DME and other retinal diseagel as age related macular degeneration and regirabcclusion. However, due to numer
factors beyond our control, including efforts toyide for containment of health care costs, on@ore EU countries may not support our
estimated level of governmental pricing and reirskurent for ILUVIEN, particularly in light of the going budget crises faced by a numbe
countries in the EU, which would negatively impanticipated revenue from ILUVIEN in the EU.

Expansion of our commercial infrastructure in the B is a significant undertaking that requires substtal financial and managerial
resources, and we may not be successful in our #$fd/Ne may also encounter unexpected or unforesdetays in connection with our
continued expansion of our commercial infrastructarin the EU, which may negatively impact our comroi efforts for ILUVIEN.

We anticipate that in the near term our abilitgémerate revenues will depend solely on our aliityuccessfully commercialize
ILUVIEN on our own in Germany, the United KingdomdaFrance. We launched ILUVIEN in the United Kingdand Germany, in April and
May of 2013, respectively, and currently plan toreh ILUVIEN in France in 2014. A commercial laurmfthis size is a significant
undertaking that requires substantial financial sxahagerial resources.

Although we have engaged Quintiles Commercial Eeilomited (together with its affiliates, Quintil€&mmercial) to provide services
to help facilitate the launch of ILUVIEN in the E¥xpansion of our business into the EU will reqsignificant management attention and
additional financial resources. We may not be &bl®maintain and expand our commercial operatiom ¢ost-effective manner or realize a
positive return on this investment even with theistance of Quintiles Commercial. In addition, vear& to compete with other pharmaceutical
and biotechnology companies to recruit, hire, teaid retain sales and marketing personnel. Fatttatsnay inhibit our efforts to
commercialize our products include:

» our or Quintiles Commercia'inability to recruit and retain adequate numloérsffective personne
» the inability of sales personnel to obtain access persuade adequate numbers of ophthalmoldgistescribe our produc

» the lack of complementary products to be offdrgdales personnel, which may put us at a conngetiisadvantage relative to
companies with more extensive product lines;

« the inability of market access personnel to obsaifficient levels of pricing and reimbursement &tk jurisdiction; an
» unforeseen costs and expenses associated witingraatommercial organization in the t

If we or Quintiles Commercial are not successfuldoruiting and retaining sales and marketing perebor in expanding our sales and
marketing infrastructure or if we do not succedgfahter into additional collaboration arrangemaenith third-parties, we will have difficulty
commercializing ILUVIEN or any future products aioguct candidates, which would adversely affecttusiness, operating results and
financial condition.

Even with the assistance of Quintiles Commercialtber third-party collaborators, we may not becgsgsful in maintaining and
expanding our commercial operation in the EU famewous reasons, including, but not limited to,figjlto attract, retain and motivate the
necessary skilled personnel and failing to devalspccessful marketing strategy. Failure to mairdaid expand our commercial operation in
the EU will have a negative outcome on our abtlitgommercialize ILUVIEN and generate revenue.

Additionally, we, Quintiles Commercial and/or ottikird-party collaborators may encounter unexpeoteahforeseen delays in
expanding our commercial operations that delayctimemercial launch in one or more EU countries inclWhLUVIEN has received or been
recommended for marketing authorization. Theseydat@ay increase the cost of and the resourcesreshjigir successful commercialization of
ILUVIEN in the EU. We do not have experience incanenercial operation of this size in the EU or elsere.
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ILUVIEN may not be commercially successful.

Market acceptance of and demand for ILUVIEN wilpdad on many factors, including, but not limited to

cost of treatmer

pricing and availability of alternative produr

our ability to obtain thirgearty coverage or reimbursement for ILUVIE
perceived efficacy relative to other available #paes

shifts in the medical community to new treatmerragayms or standards of ce
relative convenience and ease of administratiod

prevalence and severity of adverse side effectsceed with treatmer

Because we only recently initiated the commerdcidion of ILUVIEN, we have limited information wittegard to the market acceptance

of ILUVIEN in the EU or elsewhere. As a result, may have to revise our estimates regarding theptaeee of ILUVIEN under our
anticipated pricing structure, reevaluate and/@nge the anticipated pricing for ILUVIEN.

The activities of competitive drug companies, ohets, may limit ILUVIEN's revenue potential or reret it obsolete.

Our commercial opportunities for ILUVIEN will bedaced or eliminated if our competitors develop arket products that:

are more effectivi

have fewer or less severe adverse side ef
are better tolerate

receive better reimbursement ter

are more accepted by physicie

are more adaptable to various modes of do
have better distribution channe

are easier to administer;

are less expensive, including but not limited tgeaeric version of ILUVIEN

We expect that ILUVIEN may compete in the EU, ahdpproved by the FDA, in the U.S., with other ¢ats that are being developed

for the treatment of DME. There are no ophthalmiggatherapies approved to treat DME other than htisga drug sponsored by the Roche
Group. Lucentis is currently approved for the tneait of DME, the treatment of neovascular wet AMid ghe treatment of macular edema
following RVO in the U.S. and the EU. Lucentis ianketed in the EU by Novartis. Avastin, an oncolpggduct sponsored by the Roche
Group, is used by retinal specialists in both th®.ldnd in certain countries of the EU in the treatt of numerous retinal diseases but is not
formulated or approved for any ophthalmic use. Intiseand Avastin expected to provide competitionlfdJVIEN. Retinal specialists are
currently using laser photocoagulation and off-ldberapies for the treatment of DME, and may auurgito use these therapies in competition
with ILUVIEN. Later stage products for the treathehDME include Ozurdex, a drug developed and retatt by Allergan, Inc., and Eyelec
drug developed and marketed by Regeneron Pharn@alsutnc. and Bayer HealthCare. If approved, ¢hesatments would also compete v
ILUVIEN. Other laser, surgical or pharmaceuticalaiments for DME may also compete against ILUVIENese competitive therapies may
result in pricing pressure even if ILUVIEN is othdse viewed as a preferable therapy.
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In addition, there are many pharmaceutical comgamietechnology companies, public and private ersiNies, government agencies
research organizations actively engaged in researdhlevelopment of products, some of which mayetathe same indications as ILUVIEN
or any future products or product candidates. @umpetitors include larger, more established, fultggrated pharmaceutical companies and
biotechnology companies that have substantiallgatgrecapital resources, existing competitive prégluarger research and development staff:
and facilities, greater experience in drug develephand in obtaining regulatory approvals and greaiarketing capabilities than we do.

Failure to successfully manage our international epations could harm our business, operating resudtisd financial condition.

We have limited international commercialization espnce and international operations require sicgnit management attention and
financial resources. In addition, there are masksrinherent in international business activitreduding, but not limited to:

» extended collection timelines for accounts recdamd greater working capital requireme
* multiple legal systems and unexpected changegal tequirement

» tariffs, export restrictions, trade barriers amier regulatory or contractual limitations on ability to sell or develop our products in
certain foreign markets;

« trade laws and business practices favoring locaipetition

e potential tax issues, including restrictions onateating earnings, multiple and conflicting andmaex tax laws and regulatiol
« weaker intellectual property protection in somerdaes

» political instability, including war and terrorisaor the threat of war and terrorism; i

» adverse economic conditions, including the $itgland solvency of business financial marketsaficial institutions and sovereign
nations.

In addition, compliance with foreign and U.S. laavgl regulations that are applicable to our intéonat operations is complex and may
increase our cost of doing business in internatipmesdictions, and our international operatiosiicd expose us to fines and penalties if we
to comply with these regulations. These laws agdletions include import and export requirement§.Uaws such as the Foreign Corrupt
Practices Act, and local laws prohibiting corrupyments to governmental officials. Although we hawplemented policies and procedures
designed to help ensure compliance with these lese can be no assurance that our employeeagpaend other persons with whom we dc
business will not take actions in violation of galicies or these laws. Any violations of thesedawuld subject us to civil or criminal
penalties, including substantial fines or prohdns on our ability to offer our products in onenwere countries, and could also materially and
adversely harm our business and financial condition

Risks Related to Our Business and Industry

We have incurred operating losses in each year sintr inception and expect to continue to incur sthntial and increasing losses
for the foreseeable future

We launched ILUVIEN in the United Kingdom and Gemyan April and May of 2013, respectively, and antly plan to launch
ILUVIEN in France in 2014. We are not currently geating significant revenues and we cannot estinvateprecision the extent of our future
losses. ILUVIEN is our only product currently apped for commercial sale and it is only approvetrited markets in the EU. We may ne
achieve profitability. We expect to continue tounsubstantial and increasing losses. ILUVIEN hatsbeen approved for marketing in the (
and may never receive such approval. As a restiftesfe factors, we are uncertain when or if we agHieve profitability and, if so, whether
will be able to sustain it. As of December 31, 2048 have accumulated a deficit of $277.3 milliGuur ability to achieve revenue and
profitability is dependent on our ability to obtaiecessary regulatory approvals, have our prodmatsifactured, successfully marketed and
sold and to complete the development of any futwoelucts or product candidates. We cannot assuréhat we will be
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profitable even if we successfully commercialize products. Failure to become and remain profitatdg adversely affect the market price of
our common stock and our ability to raise capital aontinue operations.

As of December 31, 2013, we had approximately $ifllifon in cash and cash equivalents. In Janu@d42 we completed a private
placement of our common stock generating grosseeae of $37.5 million. Due to the limited reveneaegrated by ILUVIEN to date, we may
not be able to maintain compliance with covenantien our loan agreements. In an event of defauitlemder may call our term loan or
restrict the availability of our line of credit, dve will likely need to raise additional financinfjILUVIEN does not generate sufficient
revenue in the EU, we may adjust our commerciaigko that we can continue to operate with outtiegi€ash resources or seek to raise
additional financing.

Our operating results may fluctuate significantly.

Our operating results will continue to be subjecfiuctuations. The revenues we generate, if angl,aur operating results will be
affected by numerous factors, including:

* product sale:

e cost of product sale

* marketing and other expens

« manufacturing or supply issu

» regulatory developments affecting our productshosé of our competitol

e variations in the level of expenses related topyoducts or future development progra
« the timing and amount of royalties or milestonerpamts

» our addition or termination of development progrz

» our execution of collaborative, licensing oretlarrangements, and the timing of payments wemke or receive under these
arrangements;

» any intellectual property infringement or other faut in which we may become involved; i
» the timing and recognition of stotdased compensation expel

If our operating results fall below the expectasiaf investors or securities analysts, the priceusfcommon stock could decline
substantially. Furthermore, any fluctuations in operating results may, in turn, cause the priceuofstock to fluctuate substantially. We
believe that comparisons of our financial resufesrat necessarily meaningful and should not Gedelpon as an indication of our future
performance.

Prolonged economic uncertainties or downturns, asliras unstable market, credit and financial conidibs, may exacerbate certain
risks affecting our business and have serious adeconsequences on our business.

The global economic downturn and market instabiilgg made the business climate more volatile arré owstly. These economic
conditions, and uncertainty as to the general tor®f the macroeconomic environment, are beyamdcontrol. Sales of our products will be
dependent, in large part, on reimbursement fronegowent health administration authorities, privaalth insurers, distribution partners and
other organizations in Germany, the United Kingdiomd France. As a result of negative trends in #reegal economy in the EU or other
jurisdictions in which we may do business, thegmbizations may be unable to satisfy their reiménent obligations or may delay payme
In addition, health authorities in some jurisdiaanay reduce reimbursements, and private insoraysincrease their scrutiny of claims. A
reduction in the availability or extent of reimbensent could negatively affect our product salesrardnue.

In addition, we rely on third parties for severapiortant aspects of our business. During challengird uncertain economic times and in
tight credit markets, there may be a disruptiodelay in the performance of our third party cones, suppliers or partners. If such third
parties are unable to satisfy their commitmenisstoour business and results of operations woulebersely affected. Moreover, two
customers in Europe accounted for approximately 88%ur total consolidated
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revenues for the year ended December 31, 2013lo8kef or a substantial reduction in activity mear more of these customers could have
an adverse effect on our business, financial cmmd@nd results of operations.

We face heavy government regulation, and regulatapproval of ILUVIEN and any future products or pruct candidates from the
FDA and from similar entities in other countries isncertain.

The research, testing, manufacturing and marketirtyug products are subject to extensive regulatip U.S. federal, state and local
government authorities, including the FDA and saméntities in other countries. To obtain regublatapproval of a product, we must
demonstrate to the satisfaction of the regulatgsnaies that, among other things, the productfesarad effective for its intended use. In
addition, we must show that the manufacturing féedl used to produce the products are in compdiavith current Good Manufacturing
Practice (cGMP) regulations. In the third CRL reeelin October 2013, the FDA referenced deficienaiethe methods and controls used for
ILUVIEN at the facility where it is manufactured.aXlo not believe that these deficiencies will affaar European commercial supply of
ILUVIEN. We and our third-party manufacturer aretie process of resolving these deficiencies. Handf/we fail, to resolve these
deficiencies, it will adversely affect our ability obtain U.S. marketing approval for ILUVIEN.

The process of obtaining regulatory approvals dedrances in the U.S. and other jurisdictions wiiet®/IEN is not approved will
require us to expend substantial time and cajiaspite the time and expense incurred, regulatopyaval is never guaranteed. The number ¢
preclinical and clinical tests that will be requirr regulatory approval varies depending on thegydandidate, the disease or condition for
which the drug candidate is in development, thisgliction in which we are seeking approval andréulations applicable to that particular
drug candidate. Regulatory agencies, includingahishe U.S., Canada, the EU and other countriesevdrugs are regulated, can delay, limi
or deny approval of a drug candidate for many nessimcluding that:

* adrug candidate may not be safe or effec

* regulatory agencies may interpret data from présdirand clinical testing in different ways fronofe which we di

« they may not approve of our manufacturing proce

» they may conclude that the drug candidate doemmet quality standards for stability, quality, pyand potency; ar
» they may change their approval policies or adopt regulations

The FDA may make requests or suggestions regaodinduct of our clinical trials, resulting in an ieased risk of difficulties or delays
in obtaining regulatory approval in the U.S. Foaewle, the FDA may not approve of certain of outhrads for analyzing our trial data,
including how we evaluate the relationship betweghk and benefit. Further, we may pursue approffahd market other future products or
product candidates, outside the U.S. and spedificabdditional countries in the EU and Canadagiratory agencies within these countries
will require that we obtain separate regulatoryrappls and comply with numerous and varying reguiatequirements. The approval
procedures within these countries can involve &mfthi testing, and the time required to obtain apal may differ from that required to obtain
FDA approval. Additionally, the foreign regulatcaipproval process may include all of the risks assed with obtaining FDA approval. For
all of these reasons, we may not obtain additioraign regulatory approvals on a timely basistiéll. Approval by the FDA does not ensure
approval by regulatory authorities in other cowgdror jurisdictions, and approval by one foreiggutatory authority does not ensure approval
by regulatory authorities in other foreign courgr@ jurisdictions or by the FDA.

ILUVIEN utilizes FAc, a corticosteroid that has deomstrated undesirable side effects in the eye; t#fere, the success of ILUVIEN
will be dependent upon the achievement of an appiate relationship between the benefits of its eHty and the risks of its side-effect
profile.

The use of corticosteroids in the eye has beercaded with undesirable side effects, including@ased incidence of cataract formation
and elevated intraocular pressure (IOP), which merease the risk of glaucoma. We have 36 monthéirital data from our FAME Study,
but the extent of ILUVIEN's long-term side-effeatofile beyond month 36 is not yet known. We haveead with EU regulatory authorities to
conduct a five-year post-authorization, open labgistry study of the safety of ILUVIEN in 800 pattis treated per the labeled indication.
Although ILUVIEN has received marketing authorimatin Austria, the United Kingdom, Portugal, FranGermany and Spain, and been
recommended for marketing authorization in Itafyge EDA’s current position is that our FAME Studyl diot demonstrate that ILUVIEN has
sufficient levels of efficacy to outweigh the riskssociated with its side-effect profile. In theetthe FDA maintains this conclusion,
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ILUVIEN may not receive regulatory approval frometRDA. If other regulatory bodies adopt a conclaosonilar to the FDA’s we may not
receive approval in any other jurisdiction. Additidly, data accumulated from the five-year postatization study, or other commercial
experience, could result in the withdrawal of ILUBN approval in one or more jurisdictions. Furthvee, may not be able to complete the five-
year pos-authorization study, which could result in thehwitawal of ILUVIEN approval in one or more juristans.

Even if we do receive additional regulatory apprdsdor ILUVIEN, the FDA or other regulatory agencie may impose limitations on
the indicated uses for which ILUVIEN may be marketesubsequently withdraw approval or take otherians against us or ILUVIEN that
would be adverse to our business.

Regulatory agencies generally approve productpddicular indications. If any such regulatory agyeapproves ILUVIEN for a limited
indication, the size of our potential market folUMIEN will be reduced. For example, our potentiadnket for ILUVIEN in the U.S. would be
reduced if the FDA limited the indications of usepatients diagnosed with only clinically signifitddME as opposed to DME, or restricted its
use to patients exhibiting IOP below a certain lewénaving an artificial lens at the time of tneint. ILUVIEN has received marketing
authorization in Austria, the United Kingdom, Pggl; France, Germany and Spain, and been recomméadmarketing authorization in Ite
for the treatment of vision impairment associatéith whronic DME considered insufficiently resporesiw available therapies which may limit
the use of ILUVIEN to a segment of the DME populatiProduct approvals, once granted, may be wittndibproblems occur after initial
marketing. The marketing, distribution and manufeeof ILUVIEN in the EU, and if approved in theSJ.or elsewhere, will be subject to
regulation. We will need to comply with facilitygistration and product listing requirements of Bi®A and similar entities in other countries
and adhere to the FDA’s Quality System Regulatiblsicompliance with applicable FDA and similar &a§’ requirements can result in
warning letters, fines, injunctions, civil penadtjeecall or seizure of ILUVIEN, total or partialspension of production, refusal of regulatory
agencies to grant approvals, withdrawal of appbslregulatory agencies or criminal prosecutioe. Wuld also need to maintain
compliance with federal, state and foreign lawsarding sales incentives, referrals and other progra

Our ability to pursue the development and commetization of ILUVIEN depends upon the continuationf@ur license from pSivida
us, Inc.

Our license rights to pSivida US, Inc.’s (pSivigadprietary delivery device could revert to pSivifieve (i) fail twice to cure our breach
of an obligation to make certain payments to pSiamlowing receipt of written notice thereof; (fgil to cure other breaches of material terms
of our agreement with pSivida within 30 days aftetice of such breaches or such longer periodq@dtdays) as may be reasonably nece:
if the breach cannot be cured within suchd2@-period; (iii) file for protection under the bBanptcy laws, make an assignment for the bene
creditors, appoint or suffer appointment of a reeebdr trustee over our property, file a petitiordar any bankruptcy or insolvency act or have
any such petition filed against us and such praoge@mains undismissed or unstayed for a periadare than 60 days; or (iv) notify pSivida
in writing of our decision to abandon our licenséhwespect to a certain product using pSividatsppietary delivery device. If our agreement
with pSivida were terminated, we would lose ouhtggto develop and commercialize ILUVIEN, which webmaterially and adversely affect
our business, results of operations and futurepers.

We rely on a single manufacturer for ILUVIEN, a sigle manufacturer for the ILUVIEN applicator and aiagle active
pharmaceutical ingredient manufacturer for ILUVIENRs active pharmaceutical ingredient. Our businesswd be seriously harmed if any
of these third-parties are not able to satisfy ademand and alternative sources are not available.

We do not have, nor currently intend to have, indeomanufacturing capability and depend completelg single third-party
manufacturer for the manufacture of the ILUVIEN iamt (Alliance Medical Products, Inc. (Allianced) single thirdparty manufacturer for tt
manufacture of the ILUVIEN applicator (Flextronicgernational, Ltd. or an affiliate of Flextroniternational, Ltd. (Flextronics)), a single
third-party manufacturer for the manufacture of WEN's active pharmaceutical ingredient (FARMABIG®A./Byron Chemical Company
Inc. (FARMABIOS)) and a single third-party manufiadr for the quality release testing of ILUVIENtie EU (Brecon Pharmaceuticals
Limited (Brecon)). Although we have agreementstifier manufacture of the ILUVIEN implant (with Alliae), the manufacture of the
ILUVIEN applicator (with Flextronics), for the sulypof ILUVIEN's active pharmaceutical ingredientifty FARMABIOS) and for the quality
release testing of ILUVIEN in the EU (with Brecoif)any of the third-party manufacturers breachirthgreements or are unable or unwilling
to perform for any reason, we may not be able ¢atl alternative acceptable manufacturers, entefanorable agreements with them or get
them approved by the applicable regulatory autiesrisuch as the FDA in the U.S., in a timely manRerther, all of our manufacturers rely
on additional third-parties for the manufactureofmponent parts. Any inability to acquire suffidiguantities of ILUVIEN implants, the
ILUVIEN applicator or the active pharmaceutical iedient in a timely manner from these third-partiesld delay commercial production of,
and impact our ability to fulfill demand for, ILU¥N, if any.
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Materials necessary to manufacture ILUVIEN may nbt available on commercially reasonable terms, ba#, which may delay the
development, regulatory approval and commercialiaatof ILUVIEN.

We rely on our manufacturers to purchase matefriais third-party suppliers necessary to produceVILEN. Suppliers may not sell
these materials to our manufacturers at the timeesered them or on commercially reasonable termsdd\feot have any control over the
process or timing of the acquisition of these nmakeby our manufacturers. If our manufacturersuarable to obtain these materials, the
commercial launch of ILUVIEN would be delayed oeté would be a shortage in supply, which would migitg affect our ability to generate
revenues from the sale of ILUVIEN. Moreover, altghwe have entered into agreements for the comailgn@duction of the ILUVIEN
implant, the commercial production of the ILUVIENm@icator, and the supply of the active pharmacaltngredient in ILUVIEN, the
suppliers may be unable or choose not to suppily agimely manner or in the minimum guaranteedngtias. If we are unable to obtain these
supplies, our ability to manufacture ILUVIEN forroanercial sale would be delayed, significantly impag our ability to generate revenue
from the sale of ILUVIEN.

The manufacture and packaging of pharmaceutical phacts such as ILUVIEN are subject to the requiremsrof the FDA and simila
foreign regulatory entities. If we or our thir-party manufacturers fail to satisfy these requiremts, our product development and
commercialization efforts may be materially harmed.

The manufacture and packaging of pharmaceuticalymts such as ILUVIEN and any future product caatid are regulated by the F
and similar foreign regulatory agencies and mustdrelucted in accordance with the FDA’s cGMP andgarable requirements of foreign
regulatory agencies. There are a limited numbenariufacturers that operate under these cGMP régpsaivhich are both capable of
manufacturing ILUVIEN and willing to do so. Failubg us or our third-party manufacturers to compithvapplicable regulations,
requirements, or guidelines could result in samstibeing imposed on us, including fines, injundiasivil penalties, failure of regulatory
authorities to grant marketing approval of ILUVIENany future products or product candidates, delsyspension or withdrawal of
approvals, license revocation, seizures or recélfgoduct, operating restrictions and criminalg&eutions, any of which could significantly
and adversely affect our business. In the third C&deived in October 2013, the FDA referenced deiities in the methods and controls usec
for the drug product at the facility where ILUVIEBI manufactured. We do not believe that these igefides will affect our European
commercial supply of ILUVIEN. We and our third-parhanufacturer are in the process of resolvingeluediciencies. However, if we fail, to
resolve these deficiencies, or our manufactureérsofanaintain compliance, the production of ILUMEcould be interrupted, resulting in del
and additional costs. Any significant delays in th@nufacture of ILUVIEN or the quality of the pradicould materially harm our business i
prospects. For example, during routine manufaafunspection, we identified a quality issue relat@dne of our suppliers that affected cer
batches of work in process, which resulted in aeaoif of $1.4 million during the year ended DecemB1, 2013.

Changes in the manufacturing process or procethaieding a change in the location where the pro@dumanufactured or a change of a
third-party manufacturer, will require prior FDAview and/or approval of the manufacturing processarocedures in accordance with the
FDA's cGMP regulations. There are comparable foregguirements as well. This review may be cosily time consuming and could delay
or prevent the launch of a product. If we eleatn@nufacture products in our own facility or at theility of another third-party, we would need
to ensure that the new facility and the manufaotugrocess are in substantial compliance with cGMé& comparable foreign regulations. The
new facility will also be subject to pre-approvaspection. In addition, we have to demonstratettteaproduct made at the new facility is
equivalent to the product made at the former figclly physical and chemical methods, which arelg@std time consuming. It is also possible
that the FDA or a foreign regulatory agency maymegclinical testing as a way to prove equivaleneljich would result in additional costs
and delay.

Furthermore, in order to obtain approval of ILUVIENany future products or product candidates leyRDA and foreign regulatory
agencies, we need to complete testing on bothdiivegpharmaceutical ingredient and on the finispimtiuct in the packaging that we propose
for commercial sales. This includes testing of ilitghidentification of impurities and testing other product specifications by validated test
methods. In addition, we will be required to cotesisly produce in commercial quantities and of et quality in a reproducible manner and
document our ability to do so. This requirementierred to as process validation. The FDA andlaimfidreign regulatory agencies may also
implement new standards, or change their interpoetand enforcement of existing standards andireauents, for the manufacture,
packaging, or testing of products at any time.&@mple, in the CRL we received in October 2018,RDA referenced deficiencies in the
methods and controls used for the drug produdteafacility where ILUVIEN is manufactured. If weeaunable to comply, ILUVIEN may not
be approved, or we may be subject to regulatogniractions or penalties that could significandigd adversely affect our business.
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In order to expand our sales and marketing infrastrture, we will need to grow the size of our orgaation, and we may experience
difficulties in managing this growth.

As of December 31, 2013, we had 30 employees, 2¢hofm were located in the U.S. and six of whom wecated in the United
Kingdom or Germany. Recognizing that we would nestburces beyond this core management team to canafize ILUVIEN on our own i
the EU, in November 2012 we entered into a mastetices agreement with Quintiles Commercial to tevadditional personnel for our
planned launch of ILUVIEN, and subsequent operatiamGermany, the United Kingdom and France. Utldisragreement and its related
project orders, Quintiles Commercial, as of Decen®ig 2013, employed 24 persons fully dedicatedlimera . Quintiles Commercial also
employed six persons partially dedicated to Alimier&ermany, the United Kingdom and France, aseddmnber 31, 2013. While these
individuals are employed by Quintiles Commerciald @re not employed directly by us, we will notdide to operate effectively unless we
integrate them into our organization, which maydiféicult. As our development and commercializatiplans and strategies evolve beyond ou
initial planned EU launches, we will need to furtk&pand the size of our organization by recruitidglitional managerial, operational, sales,
marketing, financial and other personnel, who mayioed directly by us or through Quintiles Comniedror other similar organizations. This
future growth will impose significant added respbilties on members of management, including teedto identify, recruit, maintain,
motivate and integrate additional personnel. Atso,management may have to divert a disproportéoaatount of its attention away from our
day-to-day activities and devote a substantial athofitime to managing these growth activities. @uure financial performance and our
ability to commercialize ILUVIEN and our future phacts or product candidates and compete effectiwélydepend, in part, on our ability to
effectively manage any such future growth and eglabsts. We may not be able to effectively marsagmpid pace of growth and timely
implement improvements to our management infragiracand control systems.

ILUVIEN and any future products or product candidas may not be commercially viable if we fail to aist an adequate level of
reimbursement for these products from governmemsyate insurers, the Medicare program and otheiiridh-party payers. The market for
our products may also be limited by the indicatidios which their use or frequency of administratiomay be reimbursed.

The availability and levels of reimbursement by gamwmental and other third-party payers affect tlagket for products such as
ILUVIEN and others that we may develop. These tipiadty payers continually attempt to contain omueglthe costs of health care by
challenging the prices charged for medical prodants services.

In the United Kingdom, Austria, France, Germanglylt Portugal and Spain, as well as many otheidareountries, the pricing of
prescription pharmaceuticals is subject to govemtaieontrol. In the EU, each country has a diffiéreviewing body that evaluates
reimbursement dossiers submitted by marketing aizét@on holders of new drugs and then makes recenaations as to whether or not the
drug should be reimbursed. In these countriesingricegotiations with governmental authorities tate 12 months or longer after the receipt
of regulatory approval, or delay regulatory apptoVa obtain reimbursement or pricing approval@m countries, we may be required to
conduct a clinical trial that compares the cose&iffeness of our products, including ILUVIEN, tiher available therapies. Limitations on
reimbursement could be imposed at the nationaipnedjor local level or by fiscal intermediariesdach country. Our business could be
materially adversely affected if such limitationerne imposed. Our business also could be adverfelyted if retinal specialists are not
reimbursed for the cost of the procedure in whigdytadminister ILUVIEN on a basis satisfactorytte administering retinal specialists.

In the U.S., in the event that ILUVIEN is approvea will need to obtain approvals for payment 10dVIEN from private insurers,
including managed care organizations, and frormiMbdicare program. In recent years, through legisdaand regulatory actions, the federal
government has made substantial changes to vgrayueent systems under the Medicare program. Corapsére reforms to the U.S.
healthcare system were recently enacted, incluctiagges to the methods for, and amounts of, Megligambursement. These reforms could
significantly reduce payments from Medicare and Maid over the next ten years. Reforms or othengba to these payment systems,
including modifications to the conditions on quiakition for payment, bundling of payments or th@asition of enroliment limitations on new
providers, may change the availability, methods ratels of reimbursements from Medicare, privatarneis and other third-party payers for
ILUVIEN and our other potential products. Somehsdge changes and proposed changes could resedtuned reimbursement rates for
ILUVIEN and our other potential products, which ieadversely affect our business strategy, oparatand financial results.

We expect that private insurers will consider tffie@cy, cost effectiveness and safety of ILUVIENdetermining whether to approve
reimbursement for ILUVIEN and at what level. Obtagnthese approvals can be a time consuming anehsiyge process. Our business would
be materially adversely affected if we do not reeeipproval for reimbursement of ILUVIEN from prieansurers on a timely or satisfactory
basis. Although drugs that are not self-administen® covered by Medicare, the Medicare programdian the position that it can decide not
to cover particular drugs if it determines thatythe
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are not “reasonable and necessary” for Medicarefio@aries. Limitations on coverage could alsol@dsed at the local Medicare carrier leve
or by fiscal intermediaries. Our business couldriagerially adversely affected if the Medicare peogy local Medicare carriers or fiscal
intermediaries were to make such a determinatiaindamy or limit the reimbursement of ILUVIEN. Oundiness also could be adversely
affected if retinal specialists are not reimburbgdviedicare for the cost of the procedure in whiody administer ILUVIEN on a basis
satisfactory to the administering retinal specialiff the local contractors that administer thedidare program are slow to reimburse retinal
specialists for ILUVIEN, the retinal specialists ynaay us more slowly, which would adversely affeat working capital requirements.

Our business could also be adversely affectedvégonents, private insurers, the Medicare prograottter reimbursing bodies or
payers limit the indications for which ILUVIEN wilbe reimbursed to a smaller set than we belieigeeitfective in treating or establish a
limitation on the frequency with which ILUVIEN maye administered that is less often than we beliewald be effective.

We expect to experience pricing pressures in cdiorewith the sale of ILUVIEN and any future prodsior product candidates due to
the potential healthcare reforms discussed abewell as the trend toward programs aimed at reduoéalth care costs, the increasing
influence of health maintenance organizations alditianal legislative proposals, and the econoneialth of companies. If reimbursement for
our products is unavailable, limited in scope ooant, or if pricing is set at unsatisfactory leyalar business could be materially harmed.

We face substantial competition, which may resultdthers discovering, developing or commercializipgpducts before or more
successfully than we d¢

The development and commercialization of new disdsghly competitive and the commercial succesd OVIEN will depend on
several factors, including, but not limited to,éfficacy and side effect profile, authorizatiom feimbursement by foreign regulatory bodies,
private insurers and Medicare, acceptance of gijdime development of our sales and marketing azgtan, an adequate payment to
physicians for the insertion procedure and ouritgtih differentiate ILUVIEN from our competitorgroducts. We will face competition from
major pharmaceutical companies, specialty pharnime¢eompanies and biotechnology companies wodéwyith respect to ILUVIEN and
any future products or product candidates that \ag develop or commercialize in the future. Our cetitprs may develop products or other
novel technologies that are more effective, saféess costly than any that we are developing. @unpetitors may also obtain FDA or other
regulatory approval for their products more rapitigin we may obtain approval for ours. The activarmaceutical ingredient in ILUVIEN is
FAc, which is not protected by currently valid pate As a result, our competitors could developlérnative formulation or delivery
mechanisms to treat diseases of the eye with FAcd@hot have the right to develop and sell pSisigeoprietary delivery device for
indications for diseases outside of the eye otHertreatment of uveitis, which are retained byjusi. Further, our agreement with pSivida
permits pSivida to grant to any other party thétig use its intellectual property (i) to treat BNhrough an incision smaller than that require
for a 25-gauge needle, unless using a corticostelaivered to the back of the eye, (ii) to deli@aay compound outside the back of the eye
unless it is to treat DME through an incision regdifor a 25-gauge or larger needle, or (iii) tbvé non-corticosteroids to the back of the €
unless it is to treat DME through an incision regdifor a 25-gauge or larger needle.

Many of our competitors have substantially grefiteancial, technical and human resources than we.h&dditional mergers and
acquisitions in the pharmaceutical and biotechnplodustries may result in even more resourcesgoeimcentrated by our competitors.
Competition may increase further as a result ohades made in the commercial applicability of tedbgies and greater availability of capital
for investment in these fields.

Other than the master services agreement entered imith Quintiles Commercial in November 2012, weriently do not have any
collaboration agreements with third-parties. We eqh to depend on collaborations to develop and caruialize our products. If we are
unable to identify or enter into an agreement widmy material third-party collaborator, if our collborations with any such third-party are
not scientifically or commercially successful ordur agreement with any such third-party is termiteal or allowed to expire, we could be
adversely affected financially or our business raption could be harmed.

Our business strategy includes entering into coliaions with corporate and academic collabordtmrthe research, development and
commercialization of ILUVIEN and any future prodsictr product candidates. Other than the masteicesragreement entered into with
Quintiles Commercial in November 2012, we currexditynot have any collaboration agreements witldtparties. Areas in which we may
potentially entering into third-party collaboratiarrangements include joint sales and marketirgngements for sales and marketing of
ILUVIEN in certain EU countries and elsewhere otdgsof North America, and future product developrmarangements. If we are unable to
identify or enter into an agreement with any mafehird-party collaborator we could be adversdfgeed financially or our business
reputation could be harmed. Any
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arrangements we do enter into may not be scieallifior commercially successful. The terminatioraaf/ of these arrangements might
adversely affect our ability to develop, commeiigelnd market our products.

The success of our collaboration arrangementsdeflend heavily on the efforts and activities of caitaborators. Our collaborators will
have significant discretion in determining the eaand resources that they will apply to theséabolrations. We expect that the risks whick
face in connection with these future collaboratiasilsinclude the following:

e our collaboration agreements are expected forbiexed terms and subject to termination undeious circumstances, including, in
many cases, on short notice without cause;

* we expect to be required in our collaboratioreagients not to conduct specified types of resemndhdevelopment in the field that is
the subject of the collaboration. These agreemeaishave the effect of limiting the areas of reskand development that we may
pursue, either alone or in cooperation with thiedties;

e our collaborators may develop and commerciak#ther alone or with others, products and servitasare similar to or competitive
with our products which are the subject of theitatmoration with us; and

« our collaborators may change the focus of theiettigyment and commercialization efforts. In recesdrg there have been a signific
number of mergers and consolidations in the phagotézal and biotechnology industries, some of witiakie resulted in the
participant companies reevaluating and shiftingftieais of their business following the completidritese transactions. The ability of
our products to reach their potential could betimiif any of our future collaborators decreasefits to increase spending relating to
such products.

Collaborations with pharmaceutical companies ahérathird-parties often are terminated or alloweéxpire by the other party. With
respect to our future collaborations, any such itaition or expiration could adversely affect usafigially as well as harm our business
reputation.

If we lose key management personnel, or if we failrecruit additional highly skilled personnel, will impair our ability to identify,
develop and commercialize ILUVIEN and any future gmtucts or product candidates.

We are highly dependent upon the principal membkosir management team, including C. Daniel Myets,President and Chief
Executive Officer, Richard Eiswirth, our Chief Opting Officer and Chief Financial Officer, PhilipsAman, Ph.D., our EU Senior Vice
President and EU Managing Director, Dave Hollana, ®enior Vice President of Sales and MarketingaBuCaballa, our Senior Vice
President of Regulatory Affairs and Kenneth Gré&mD., our Senior Vice President and Chief Scien@ffficer. These executives have
significant ophthalmic, regulatory industry, sadesl marketing, operational, and/or corporate fieagxperience. The loss of any such
executives or any other principal member of our ag@ment team would impair our ability to identifgvelop and market ILUVIEN and any
future products or product candidates.

In addition, our growth will require us to hire igrsficant number of qualified technical, commet@ad administrative personnel. There
is intense competition from other companies andaesh and academic institutions for qualified persd in the areas of our activities. If we
cannot continue to attract and retain, on accept#ms, the qualified personnel necessary focémtinued development of our business, we
may not be able to sustain our operations or grow.

Our products could be subject to restrictions ortldrawal from the market and we may be subject emplties if we fail to comply wit
regulatory requirements, or if we experience unasipated problems with our products, when and if aofithem are approved.

Any product for which we have or obtain marketiqgeoval, including ILUVIEN in the EU, along withéhmanufacturing processes,
post-approval pharmacovigilance, advertising amarational activities for such product, will be settj to continual requirements, review and
periodic inspections by the FDA and other regulatmydies. Even if regulatory approval of a prodagjranted, the approval may be subject tc
limitations on the indicated uses for which thedarct may be marketed or to the conditions of apglraw contain requirements for costly post
marketing testing and surveillance to monitor thtety or efficacy of the product. Later discovefypeeviously unknown problems with our
products, manufacturer or manufacturing processdsilure to comply with regulatory requirememnmsy result in:

» restrictions on such products or manufacturirecpsses;

» withdrawal of the products from the market;
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» voluntary or mandatory recall;
» fines;
» suspension of regulatory approvals;
» product seizure; and
* injunctions or the imposition of civil or crimihpenalties.

We may be slow to adapt, or we may never adaghanges in existing regulatory requirements or idof new regulatory
requirements or policies.

Failure to obtain regulatory approval in additiondbreign jurisdictions would prevent us from markat ILUVIEN in additional
markets.

ILUVIEN has received marketing authorization in Aie the United Kingdom, Portugal, France, Germang Spain, and been
recommended for marketing authorization in ItatySeptember 2013, we submitted an applicationadtHRA, as the Reference Member
State, for the approval of ILUVIEN in ten additidi2l countries through the Mutual Recognition Pahge. We intend to continue to pursue
market authorizations for ILUVIEN internationally additional jurisdictions. In order to market guoducts in foreign jurisdictions, we will |
required to obtain separate regulatory approvaiscamply with numerous and varying regulatory regmients. The approval procedure varie:
among countries and jurisdictions and can invoblditeonal testing, and the time required to obtgdproval may differ from that required to
obtain FDA approval or approval in the seven EUntoes in which ILUVIEN has received or been recoemaied for marketing authorization.
Additionally, the foreign regulatory approval presanay include all of the risks associated witlawitg FDA approval. For all of these
reasons, we may not obtain additional foreign raguy approvals on a timely basis, if at all. Apmbby the FDA does not ensure approval by
regulatory authorities in other countries or juitsidons, and approval by one foreign regulatoryhatty does not ensure approval by regula
authorities in other foreign countries or jurisdhots or by the FDA. We may not be able to file fegulatory approvals and may not receive
necessary approvals to commercialize ILUVIEN in additional market. The failure to obtain theserapals could harm our business
materially.

We face the risk of product liability claims and manot be able to obtain or maintain insurance.

Our business exposes us to the risk of produdtitiablaims, which is inherent in the manufactugjriesting and marketing of drugs and
related products. If the use of one or more ofproducts harms people, we may be subject to castlydamaging product liability claims. We
maintain product liability insurance covering olinical trial activities and our product sales. Tiheurance provides worldwide coverage w
allowed by law. As product revenue is generateukeiw countries, we intend to obtain compulsory cagerin those countries that require it.
We may not be able to obtain or maintain adequattegtion against potential liabilities. If we areable to obtain insurance at acceptable cos
or otherwise protect against potential productiliigiclaims, we will be exposed to significantlidgities, which may materially and adversely
affect our business and financial position. Théssillties could prevent or interfere with our pumi development and commercialization
efforts.

We may not be successful in our efforts to expanat portfolio of products.

In the future, we may choose to commercialize &f@aw of new ophthalmic drugs in addition to ILUEZN. We may seek to do so
through our internal research programs and thrdiaghsing or otherwise acquiring the rights to paitd new drugs and drug targets for the
treatment of ophthalmic disease.

A significant portion of the research that we mhgase to conduct may involve new and unproven t@olgies. Research programs to
identify new disease targets and product candidatasre substantial technical, financial and humesources whether or not we ultimately
identify any candidates. Any future research progranay initially show promise in identifying poteitproducts or product candidates, yet
to yield products or product candidates for clihi@avelopment for a number of reasons, including:

» the research methodology used may not be succéssfidntifying potential products or product cathates; ¢

» potential products or product candidates may othéurstudy be shown to have harmful side effectstloer characteristics that indic
they are unlikely to be effective drugs.
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We may be unable to license or acquire suitabldymts or product candidates or products from tpadies for a number of reasons. In
particular, the licensing and acquisition of phacmaical products is a competitive area. Severakrestablished companies are also pursuing
strategies to license or acquire products in thetgmic field. These established companies may laasompetitive advantage over us due to
their size, cash resources and greater clinicaldpment and commercialization capabilities. Ofaetors that may prevent us from licensing
or otherwise acquiring suitable products or prodaetdidates include the following:

* we may be unable to license or acquire the agletechnology on terms that would allow us to makeppropriate return from the
product;

e companies that perceive us to be their competitag be unwilling to assign or license their produgits to us; ¢
e we may be unable to identify suitable productsrodpct candidates within our areas of expel

Additionally, it may take greater human and finahcesources to develop suitable potential prodoictsoduct candidates through
internal research programs or by obtaining righésitwe will possess, thereby limiting our abilitydevelop a diverse product portfolio.

If we are unable to develop suitable potential paddandidates through internal research prograrbg obtaining rights to novel
therapeutics from third-parties, our business m#dfes

We may acquire additional businesses or form stratealliances in the future, and we may not realitee benefits of such acquisitior
or alliances.

We may acquire additional businesses or produnts) trategic alliances or create joint ventures wiird-parties that we believe will
complement or augment our existing business. laegulire businesses with promising markets or tdognes, we may not be able to realize
the benefit of acquiring such businesses if wauaable to successfully integrate them with ourtegsoperations and company culture. We
may have difficulty in developing, manufacturingdamarketing the products of a newly acquired congphat enhances the performance of
our combined businesses or product lines to reaige from expected synergies. We cannot assatefthlowing an acquisition, we will
achieve the revenues or specific net income thsdifigs the acquisition.

Any future products or product candidates may newshieve market acceptance even if we obtain retpaapprovals.

Even if we receive regulatory approvals for thees#lany future products or product candidatesctimemercial success of these prod
will depend, among other things, on their accepancretinal specialists, patients, third-partygrayand other members of the medical
community as a therapeutic and cost-effective aétive to competing products and treatments. Tlgeedeof market acceptance of any future
products or product candidates will depend on aberof factors, including, among other things:

» the demonstration of its safety and efficacy;

» its cost-effectiveness;

» its potential advantages over other therapies;

» the reimbursement policies of government anditparty payers with respect to the product candidatd

» the effectiveness of our marketing and distribuitapabilities.

If any future products or product candidates faijain market acceptance, we may be unable tosedfiinient revenue to continue our
business. If any future product candidates areooépted by retinal specialists, patients, thindypgayers and other members of the medical

community, it is unlikely that we will ever becorpeofitable.

Any failure or delay in completing clinical trial§or any future product candidates could severelyritaour business.
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Preclinical studies and clinical trials requirecd&@monstrate the safety and efficacy of any fupwoeluct candidates will be time
consuming and expensive and together will takers¢years to complete. The completion of clinicals for any product candidates may be
delayed by many factors, including:

* our inability to manufacture or obtain from thiperties materials sufficient for use in preclinistudies and clinical trials;
» delays in patient enroliment and variability ethumber and types of patients available for cdihtrials;

» difficulty in maintaining contact with patientfter treatment, resulting in incomplete data;

* poor effectiveness of product candidates durlirgcal trials;

» unforeseen safety issues or side effects; and

» governmental or regulatory delays and changesgulatory requirements and guidelines.

If we fail to successfully complete any future @i trials for any future product candidates, waymot receive the regulatory approvals
needed to market those product candidates. Theredoy failure or delay in commencing or complesngh clinical trials would harm our
business materially.

In addition, a clinical trial may be suspendedavntinated by us, the FDA or other regulatory autiesrdue to a number of factors,
including:

» failure to conduct the clinical trial in accora@with regulatory requirements or our clinicaltoenls;

* inspection of the clinical trial operations aatrsites by the FDA or other regulatory authostiesulting in the imposition of a
clinical hold;

» unforeseen safety issues or any determinatidrethrdal presents unacceptable health risks; and

» lack of adequate funding to continue the clinicall, including the incurrence of unforeseen satie to enroliment delays,
requirements to conduct additional trials and &sidind increased expenses associated with theesepfiour contract research organizations,
and other third parties.

If we are required to conduct additional clinia@dlis or other studies with respect to any futuredpct candidates beyond those that we
initially contemplated, if we are unable to suctelbs complete our clinical trials or other studiesif the results of these trials or studies are
not positive or are only modestly positive, we rhaydelayed in obtaining marketing approval for ¢hfagure product candidates, we may not
be able to obtain marketing approval or we mayiakdpproval for indications that are not as brosdhéended. Our product development cost
will also increase if we experience delays in tegtir approvals. Significant clinical trial delagsuld allow our competitors to bring product:
market before we do and impair our ability to comeiadize our products or potential products. If afythis occurs, our business will be
materially harmed.

If our contract research organizations (CROSs), thiparty vendors and investigators do not succedgfahrry out their duties or if we
lose our relationships with them, our developmeffioets with respect to any future product candidateould be delayed.

We expect to be dependent on CROs, thady vendors and investigators for preclinicatitegand clinical trials related to our discov
and development efforts with respect to any fupirmuct candidates. These parties are not our sme@doand we cannot control the amount o
timing of resources that they devote to our progrdiithey fail to devote sufficient time and resms to our development programs with
respect to our product candidates or if their pennce is substandard, it will delay the developgnagad commercialization of our product
candidates. The parties with which we contracefacution of clinical trials play a significant eoin the conduct of the trials and the
subsequent collection and analysis of data. Thdirre to meet their obligations could adversefgetfclinical development of our product
candidates. Moreover, these parties may also teatanships with other commercial entities, sorhe/bich may compete with us. If they
assist our competitors, it could harm our competiposition.
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If we lose our relationship with any one or mordtadse parties, we could experience a significateydin identifying another compara
provider and contracting for its services. We mayubable to retain an alternative provider on reabte terms, if at all. Even if we locate an
alternative provider, this provider may need addiil time to respond to our needs and may not geotvie same type or level of service as the
original provider. In addition, any provider thaéwetain will be subject to current Good Laboratergctices (cGLP) and similar foreign
standards, and we do not have control over comgdiavith these regulations by these providers. Qqunesstly, if these practices and standards
are not adhered to by these providers, the devedapand commercialization of ILUVIEN or any futypeoduct candidates could be delayed.

Risks Related to Intellectual Property and Other Legal Matters

If we or our licensors are unable to obtain and nmaain protection for the intellectual property ingporated into our products, the
value of our technology and products will be advelssaffected.

Our success will depend in large part on our ahditthe ability of our licensors to obtain and ntain protection in the U.S. and other
countries for the intellectual property incorpothieto our products. The patent situation in tkeddfiof biotechnology and pharmaceuticals
generally is highly uncertain and involves comgkgyal and scientific questions. We or our licensoeg not be able to obtain additional iss
patents relating to our technology. Our succeslsdgpend in part on the ability of our licensorotiain, maintain (including making periodic
filings and payments) and enforce patent protedoonheir intellectual property, in particularaée patents to which we have secured excl
rights. Under our license with pSivida, pSivida tols the filing, prosecution and maintenance bpatents. Our licensors may not
successfully prosecute or continue to prosecut@alent applications to which we are licensed. Bf/patents are issued in respect of these
patent applications, we or our licensors may fainiaintain these patents, may determine not taupuigation against entities that are
infringing upon these patents, or may pursue sitiglation less aggressively than we ordinarily wbulithout protection for the intellectual
property that we own or license, other companieghirie able to offer substantially identical praduor sale, which could adversely affect
competitive business position and harm our busipesspects. Moreover, FAc is an off-patent acthgrédient that is commercially available
in several forms including the extended releasdandémplant Retisert.

Even if issued, patents may be challenged, narrpinedlidated, or circumvented, which could limitraability to stop competitors from
marketing similar products or limit the length efrn of patent protection that we may have for oudpcts. In addition, our patents and our
licensors’ patents may not afford us protectioniregjacompetitors with similar technology.

Litigation or third-party claims of intellectual poperty infringement would require us to divert ras@es and may prevent or delay our
development, regulatory approval or commercializatiof our products.

ILUVIEN or any future products or product candidateay infringe upon other parties’ intellectual peay rights that are protected by
patents or patent applications. Thjpdrties may now or in the future own or controlsta@atents and patent applications in the U.Sahnohd
These third-parties could bring claims againstusuv collaborators that would cause us to inclissantial expenses or divert substantial
employee resources from our business and, if saftdesould cause us to pay substantial damagpseeent us from developing any future
product candidates. Further, if a patent infringetseiit were brought against us or our collabosateve or they could be forced to stop or d
research, development, manufacturing or saleseoptbduct or product candidate that is the sulgkttie suit.

Several issued and pending U.S. patents claimiritads and devices for the treatment of eye diseasdading through the use of
steroids, implants and injections into the eyepptirto cover aspects of ILUVIEN. For example, efi@ur potential competitors holds issued
and pending U.S. patents and a pending Europeantpgtplication with claims covering injecting asutar implant into a patient’s eye similar
to the ILUVIEN applicator. There is also an isslie®. patent with claims covering implanting a sigabanti-inflammatory agent to treat an
inflammation-mediated condition of the eye. If thes any other patents were held by a court of @tem jurisdiction to be valid and to cover
aspects of ILUVIEN, then the owners of such patardsald be able to block our ability to commerciali. UVIEN unless and until we obtain
license under such patents (which license mightireaqus to pay royalties or grant a cross-licensene or more patents that we own), until
such patents expire or unless we are able to gaesir product to avoid any such valid patents.

As a result of patent infringement claims, or iderto avoid potential claims, we or our collaboratmay choose to seek, or be required
to seek, a license from the third-party and woutttlikely be required to pay license fees or rigalor both. These licenses may not be
available on acceptable terms, or at all. Evenefavour collaborators were able to obtain a lieetfse rights may be nonexclusive, which
would give our competitors access to the sameléutelal property. Ultimately, we could be prevenfien commercializing a product, or be
forced to cease some aspect of our business apesatj as a result of actual or threatened patdrihgement claims, we or our collaborators
are unable to enter into licenses on acceptahiesterhis could harm our business significantly.
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There has been substantial litigation and othecg®dings regarding patent and other intellectugbgnty rights in the pharmaceutical
biotechnology industries. In addition to infringembelaims against us, we may become a party ta ent litigation and other proceedings,
including interference proceedings declared byt Patent and Trademark Office and oppositiorcgedings in the European Patent Office
regarding intellectual property rights with resptcour products and technology. The cost to uEngflitigation or other proceeding, regardless
of its merit, even if resolved in our favor, coldd substantial. Some of our competitors may betaldestain the costs of such litigation or
proceedings more effectively than we can becausieef substantially greater financial resourcescéftainties resulting from the initiation ¢
continuation of patent litigation or other proceweg could have a material adverse effect on olityatt compete in the marketplace.
Intellectual property litigation and other proca®gh may, regardless of their merit, also absonhifsggnt management time and employee
resources.

If we fail to comply with our obligations in the agements under which we license development or caraialization rights to
products or technology from thir-parties, we could lose license rights that are iongant to our business.

Our licenses are material to our business, andxweact to enter into additional licenses in the fetiWe hold a license from pSivida to
intellectual property relating to ILUVIEN. This Bnse imposes various commercialization, milest@yengnt, profit sharing, insurance and
other obligations on us. We also hold a licensmff@ainippon Sumitomo Pharma Co., Ltd. to paterittirey to ILUVIEN. This license
imposes a milestone payment and other obligationsso If we fail to comply with these obligatiotise licensor may have the right to
terminate the applicable license, in which eventwoalld not be able to market products, such as ILlEN/ that may be covered by such
license.

If we are unable to protect the confidentiality ofur proprietary information and know-how, the valuef our technology and products
could be adversely affected.

In addition to patented technology, we rely upopatented proprietary technology, processes, tradets and know-how. Any
involuntary disclosure or misappropriation by thpdrties of our confidential or proprietary infortiee could enable competitors to quickly
duplicate or surpass our technological achievem#mis eroding our competitive position in our nearkVe seek to protect confidential or
proprietary information in part by confidentialidgreements with our employees, consultants and-garties. While we require all of our
employees, consultants, advisors and any thirdgsantho have access to our proprietary know-hofertination and technology to enter into
confidentiality agreements, we cannot be certa tiis know-how, information and technology widitrbe disclosed or that competitors will
not otherwise gain access to our trade secretslependently develop substantially equivalent miion and techniques. These agreements
may be terminated or breached, and we may not &deguate remedies for any such termination or hrdaathermore, these agreements ma
not provide meaningful protection for our tradersézand know-how in the event of unauthorizedarsdisclosure. To the extent that any of
our staff were previously employed by other phareuical or biotechnology companies, those emplogexg allege violations of trade secrets
and other similar claims in relation to their ddyelopment activities for us.

If our efforts to protect the proprietary nature dhe intellectual property related to our producase not adequate, we may not be able
to compete effectively in our markets.

The strength of our patents in the biotechnology imarmaceutical field involves complex legal aoiéstific questions and can be
uncertain. In addition to the rights we have licghfrom pSivida relating to ILUVIEN, we rely upontéllectual property we own, including
patents, patent applications and trade secretsp&ant applications may be challenged or faiegult in issued patents and our existing or
future patents may be too narrow to prevent thadies from developing or designing around thegera. As of December 31, 2013, the
patent rights relating to ILUVIEN licensed to usrr pSivida include five U.S. patents that expireMeen March 2019 and April 2020, two
European patents expiring in April of 2021 and ®@etoof 2024, and counterpart filings to these gatana number of other jurisdictions. No
patent term extension will be available for anyhafse U.S. patents, European patent or any ofeanded U.S. or European pending patent
applications. After these patents expire in Ap@i2@ in the U.S. and October of 2024 in Europe, Wienet be able to block others from
marketing FAc in an implant similar to ILUVIEN. Meover, it is possible that a thighrty could successfully challenge the scope (kkethe!
a patent is infringed), validity and enforceabilitifour licensed patents prior to patent expiratiad obtain approval to market a competitive
product.

Further, the patent applications that we licensieame filed may fail to result in issued patentsm® claims in pending patent applicati
filed or licensed by us have been rejected by pabeamminers. These claims may need to be amended. &ter amendment, a patent may not
be permitted to issue. Further, the existing aureipatents to which we have rights based on aweagent with pSivida may be too narrow to
prevent third-parties from developing or designangund these patents.
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Additionally, we may lose our rights to the pateats! patent applications we license in the eveatlmfeach or termination of the license
agreement. Manufacturers may also seek to obtgiroaal to sell a generic version of ILUVIEN priar the expiration of the relevant licensed
patents. If the sufficiency of the breadth or sgtarof protection provided by the patents we ligewith respect to ILUVIEN or the patents we
pursue related to ILUVIEN or any future product diate is threatened, it could dissuade compandes €ollaborating with us to develop, ¢
threaten our ability to commercialize ILUVIEN andyafuture product candidates. Further, if we enteudelays in our clinical trials for any
future product candidate, the period of time dusiidch we could market such product candidates updtent protection would be reduced.
We rely on trade secret protection and confideitfiagreements to protect certain proprietary kriiow that is not patentable, for processe
which patents are difficult to enforce and for arlger elements of our development processes wsheit to ILUVIEN that involve proprieta
know-how, information and technology that is noteed by patent applications. While we requireoftbur employees, consultants, advisors
and any third-parties who have access to our ptgsi know-how, information and technology to erméo confidentiality agreements, we
cannot be certain that this know-how, information &echnology will not be disclosed or that comfpesi will not otherwise gain access to our
trade secrets or independently develop substgnégliivalent information and techniques. Furthee, laws of some foreign countries do not
protect proprietary rights to the same extent adatvs of the U.S. As a result, we may encountgriicant problems in protecting and
defending our intellectual property both in the La8d abroad. If we are unable to protect or dethadntellectual property related to our
technologies, we will not be able to establish aintain a competitive advantage in our market.

Third-party claims of intellectual property infringment may prevent or delay our commercializatiofoets with respect to ILUVIEN
and our discovery, development or commercializatefforts with respect to any future product candiga.

Our commercial success depends in part on avoidfriggement of the patents and proprietary rigftthird-parties. Third-parties may
assert that we are employing their proprietary netdgy without authorization. In addition, at leasteral issued and pending U.S. patents
claiming methods and devices for the treatmenyefdiseases, including through the use of steraig@ants and injections into the eye,
purport to cover aspects of ILUVIEN.

Although we are not currently aware of any litigatior other proceedings or third-party claims ¢éliectual property infringement
related to ILUVIEN, the pharmaceutical industrcisaracterized by extensive litigation regardingepts and other intellectual property rights.
Other parties may in the future allege that ouivdigs infringe their patents or that we are enypig their proprietary technology without
authorization. We may not have identified all ttademts, patent applications or published literathat affect our business either by blocking
our ability to commercialize our products or prodcandidates, by preventing the patentability af onmore aspects of our products or those
of our licensors or by covering the same or sinté@hnologies that may affect our ability to mar&et product. We cannot predict whether we
would be able to obtain a license on commerciahspnable terms, if at all. Any inability to obtaunch a license under the applicable patents
on commercially reasonable terms, or at all, maxelmmaterial adverse effect on our ability to caraialize ILUVIEN or any future products
or product candidates until such patents expire.

In addition, third-parties may obtain patents ie thture and claim that use of ILUVIEN, our techogiks or future products or product
candidates infringes upon these patents. Furthe;nparties making claims against us may obtaimittjue or other equitable relief, which
could effectively block our ability to further conamcialize ILUVIEN or develop and commercialize dature product candidates. Defense of
these claims, regardless of their merit, would imesubstantial litigation expense and would balsstantial diversion of employee resources
from our business. In the event of a successfidotd infringement against us, we may have to p#ystantial damages, obtain one or more
licenses from third-parties or pay royalties, ormay be enjoined from further commercializing ILUBN or developing and commercializing
any future product candidates or technologiesdititan, even in the absence of litigation, we magd to obtain licenses from third-parties to
advance our research or allow commercializatiol OMIEN or any future product candidate, and we éawone so from time to time. We may
fail to obtain future licenses at a reasonable opsin reasonable terms, if at all. In that evergt,may be unable to further commercialize
ILUVIEN or develop and commercialize any future guot candidates, which could harm our businessfaigntly.

We may become involved in lawsuits to protect ofoece our patents or the patents of our licensovghich could be expensive, time
consuming and unsuccessful.

Competitors may infringe our patents or the pateftsur licensors. To counter infringement or uhauized use, we may be required to
file infringement claims, which can be expensive ime consuming. In addition, in an infringemenigeeding, a court may decide that a
patent of ours or our licensors is not valid anrienforceable, or may refuse to stop the othey fiamn using the technology at issue on the
grounds that our patents do not cover the techyatoguestion. An
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adverse result in any litigation or defense prooegsicould put one or more of our patents at ridkaing invalidated or interpreted narrowly
and could put our patent applications at risk dfigsuing.

Interference proceedings brought by the U.S. PatetitfTrademark Office may be necessary to deterthmeriority of inventions with
respect to our patents and patent applicationsaset of our collaborators or licensors. An unfatsteautcome could require us to cease using
the technology or to attempt to license rightd fooim the prevailing party. Our business coulchbemed if a prevailing party does not offer us
a license on terms that are acceptable to us atiitig or interference proceedings may fail andnaf/successful, may result in substantial ¢
and distraction of our management and other empky&e may not be able to prevent, alone or witHioensors, misappropriation of our
proprietary rights, particularly in countries whéehe laws may not protect those rights as fulljnabe U.S.

Furthermore, because of the substantial amounisobdery required in connection with intellectuabperty litigation, there is a risk that
some of our confidential information could be coomised by disclosure during this type of litigatidm addition, there could be public
announcements of the results of hearings, motiowsher interim proceedings or developments. Iuisidies analysts or investors perceive tt
results to be negative, it could have a substaatiaérse effect on the price of our common stock.

Product liability lawsuits could divert our resoues, result in substantial liabilities and reducedltommercial potential of our
products.

The risk that we may be sued on product liabillgiros is inherent in the development of pharmaceabproducts. We face an increased
risk of product liability as we further commercidiILUVIEN. We believe that we may be at a gresasd of product liability claims relative to
other pharmaceutical companies because our prodreiaserted into the eye, and it is possibleweainay be held liable for eye injuries of
patients who receive our product. These lawsuitg dirert our management from pursuing our busisésgegy and may be costly to defend.
In addition, if we are held liable in any of thdae/suits, we may incur substantial liabilities andy be forced to limit or forego further
commercialization of one or more of our productkhdugh we maintain product liability insurance edwg our clinical trial activities and our
product sales, our aggregate coverage limit uriteset insurance policies is limited to $10.0 milliommost jurisdictions, and while we believe
this amount of insurance is sufficient to cover product liability exposure, these limits may nethigh enough to fully cover potential
liabilities. The insurance provides worldwide caage where allowed by law. As product revenue iegEred in new countries, we intend to
obtain compulsory coverage in those countriesréngire it. However, we may not be able to obtaimaintain sufficient insurance coverage
at an acceptable cost or otherwise to protect agpotential product liability claims, which coysdevent or inhibit the commercial production
and sale of our products.

Legislative or regulatory reform of the health casystem in the U.S. and foreign jurisdictions magheersely impact our business,
operations or financial results.

Our industry is highly regulated and changes intaay adversely impact our business, operationganéial results. In particular, in
March 2010, the Patient Protection and AffordabdeeCAct, or PPACA, and a related reconciliatiohWwigre signed into law. This legislation
changes the current system of healthcare insuramt®denefits intended to broaden coverage andatausts. The law also contains provisi
that will affect companies in the pharmaceuticdlistry and other healthcare related industriesiposing additional costs and changes to
business practices. Provisions affecting pharmamdutompanies include the following:

* Mandatory rebates for drugs sold into the Mediggiogram have been increased, and the rebat&@eatgnt has been extended to
drugs used in risk-based Medicaid managed caresplan

* The 340B Drug Pricing Program under the Pubkalth Services Act has been extended to requirelatary discounts for drug
products sold to certain critical access hospitaacer hospitals and other covered entities.

» Pharmaceutical companies are required to offmodnts on brand-name drugs to patients who fillimthe Medicare Part D
coverage gap, commonly referred to as the “DonueHo

» Pharmaceutical companies are required to pananal non-tax deductible fee to the federal ganemt based on each company’s
market share of prior year total sales of brandeduywts to certain federal healthcare programs) asdMedicare, Medicaid,
Department of Veterans Affairs and Department ofeDse. The aggregate industry-wide fee is expeotéatal $28 billion through
2019, of which $3.0 billion will be payable in 2013ince we expect our branded pharmaceutical salesnstitute a small portion of
the total federal health program pharmaceuticaketawe do not expect this annual assessment t® &avaterial impact on our
financial condition.
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e The law provides that biologic products may reed 2 years of market exclusivity, with a possitilemonth extension for pediatric
products. After this exclusivity ends, generic nfasturers will be permitted to enter the marketjchitis likely to reduce the pricing
for such products and could affect the companydgitability. In addition, generic manufacturers Wik permitted to challenge one or
more of the patents for a branded drug after aymioid marketed for four years.

The full effects of the U.S. healthcare reform $afion cannot be known until the new law is impdeted through regulations or
guidance issued by the Centers for Medicare & Madi&ervices and other federal and state healtlaggrecies. The financial impact of the
U.S. healthcare reform legislation over the next years will depend on a number of factors inclgdaut not limited to the policies reflectec
implementing regulations and guidance and changealés volumes for products affected by the nestesy of rebates, discounts and fees. If
ILUVIEN is approved by the FDA, the legislation malgo have a positive impact on our future netssaleny, by increasing the aggregate
number of persons with healthcare coverage in tise, But such increases are unlikely to be realirgill approximately 2014, at the earliest.

The Physician Payment Sunshine Act also imposesreparting and disclosure requirements on devickding manufacturers for any
“transfer of value” made or distributed to preseriband other healthcare providers. In additiomicgeand drug manufacturers will also be
required to report and disclose any investmentasts held by physicians and their immediate famiémbers during the preceding calendar
year. Failure to submit required information magulein significant civil monetary penaltie

In addition, in September 2007, the Food and Drdmgihistration Amendments Act of 2007 was enactethgithe FDA enhanced post-
marketing authority including the authority to régupost-marketing studies and clinical trials,dlibg changes based on new safety
information and compliance with risk evaluationsl anitigation strategies approved by the FDA. TheARRDexercise of this authority could
result in delays or increased costs during prodaeelopment, clinical trials and regulatory reviémgreased costs to ensure compliance with
post-approval regulatory requirements and poterggtrictions on the sale and/or distribution gbrawed products.

Further, in some foreign countries, including thé &d Canada, the pricing of prescription pharmécalg is subject to governmental
control. In these countries, pricing negotiationthwovernmental authorities can take 12 monthsmger after the receipt of regulatory
approval and product launch. To obtain reimburserepricing approval in some countries, we maydiglired to conduct a clinical trial that
compares the cost-effectiveness of our productidatelto other available therapies. Our businesfldee materially harmed if reimbursement
of our products is unavailable or limited in sc@peamount or if pricing is set at unsatisfactoryelis.

Moreover, we cannot predict what healthcare refmitiatives may be adopted in the future. Furtreztefral and state legislative and
regulatory developments are likely, and we expagbing initiatives in the U.S. to increase pres&rrelrug pricing. Such reforms could have
an adverse effect on anticipated revenues from IIEN/or any future products or product candidates the may successfully develop and for
which we may obtain regulatory approval and magafbur overall financial condition and abilitydevelop drug candidates.

If we use hazardous and biological materials in eanmer that causes injury or violates applicable lawe may be liable for damages.

Our research and development activities may invtileecontrolled use of potentially hazardous sutrgts, including chemical and
biological materials. In addition, our operationaynproduce hazardous waste products. Federal,astdtiocal laws and regulations in both the
U.S. and Canada govern the use, manufacture, stdnagdling and disposal of hazardous materiathofigh we believe that our procedures
for use, handling, storing and disposing of thesgenials comply with legally prescribed standavas,may incur significant additional costs to
comply with applicable laws in the future. Alsogeenvif we are in compliance with applicable laws,aa@not completely eliminate the risk of
contamination or injury resulting from hazardoudenals and we may incur liability as a result ofyauch contamination or injury. In the
event of an accident, we could be held liable fameges or penalized with fines, and the liabildyld exceed our resources. We do not have
any insurance for liabilities arising from hazardenaterials. Compliance with applicable environrakl@ws and regulations is expensive, and
current or future environmental regulations mayampur research, development and production effevhich could harm our business,
operating results and financial condition.

Our ability to use our net operating loss carry-fwards may be limited.
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At December 31, 2013, we had U.S. federal and s&tteperating loss (NOL) carry-forwards of approately $82.4 million and $65.8
million, respectively, which expire at various dateeginning in 2020 through 2033. Section 382 efiifternal Revenue Code limits the annual
utilization of NOL carry-forwards and tax creditrpaforwards following an ownership change in oonpany. NOL carry-forwards may be
subject to annual limitations under Internal Rexee@ode Section 382 (or comparable provisions o€ $sav) in the event that certain changes
in ownership of our company were to occur. In gahem ownership change occurs for purposes of@e882 if there is a more than 50%
change in ownership of a company over a 3-yeantgperiod. The issuance of the Series A Convertitreferred Stock in October 2012
constituted such a change in ownership. As a retltis change in ownership, we performed a foramallysis in connection with IRC Section
382 and determined that approximately $13.7 milbbour NOLs generated prior to the change in osimigrcould not be utilized in the future.

We incur significant increased costs as a resultagferating as a public company, and our managemsntequired to devote
substantial time to new compliance initiative

As a public company, we incur significant legalc@anting and other expenses that we did not insur private company. The Sarbanes:
Oxley Act of 2002, as well as rules subsequentlyl@mented by the SEC and NASDAQ, has imposed varmew requirements on public
companies, including requiring establishment anthteaance of effective disclosure and financialtomls and changes in corporate
governance practices. Our management and othesrpeskare required to devote a substantial amdutithe to these new compliance
initiatives. Moreover, these rules and regulatibage substantially increased our legal and findrcimpliance costs and have made some
activities more time consuming and costly. Thesesrand regulations may make it more difficult amoke expensive for us to maintain our
existing director and officer liability insuranceto obtain similar coverage from an alternativevider.

The Sarbanes-Oxley Act requires, among other thihgsé we maintain effective internal controls fimancial reporting and disclosure
controls and procedures. In particular, pursua@dction 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act (Sectior) 404 may be required to perform system
and process evaluation and testing of our interaatrols over financial reporting to allow manageire report on the effectiveness of our
internal controls over financial reporting. Ourtieg, or the subsequent testing by our independsgistered public accounting firm, if requir
may reveal deficiencies in our internal controlgofinancial reporting that are deemed to be materéaknesses. Our compliance with
Section 404 would require us to continue to inabrssantial accounting expense and expend signifitamagement efforts. We currently do
not have an internal audit group, and we may neéiré additional accounting and financial stafofdover, if we are not able to comply with
the requirements of Section 404 in a timely mamméf we or our independent registered public actimg firm identifies deficiencies in our
internal controls over financial reporting that deemed to be material weaknesses, the marketgframar stock could decline and we could be
subject to sanctions or investigations by NASDAI@ SEC or other regulatory authorities, which waelguire additional financial and
management resources.

Risks Relating to Our Financial Results and Need fd~inancing

Fluctuations in our quarterly operating results andash flows could adversely affect the price of @mammon stock.

We expect our operating results and cash flowstsubject to quarterly fluctuations. The revenuegyenerate, if any, and our operating
results will be affected by numerous factors, idatg, but not limited to:

» the commercial success of ILUVIEN in the |

» our ability to obtain regulatory approval of ILUMNEIn additional jurisdiction:

» the emergence of products that compete with ILUV,

» variations in the level of expenses related to ILEN;

» the status of our preclinical and clinical devel@minprogram:

» execution of collaborative, licensing or other agaments, and the timing of payments received atenmader those arrangeme
e any intellectual property infringement lawsuitsatbich we may become a party; i

» regulatory developments affecting our productshosé of our competitol
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If our quarterly operating results fall below th@ectations of investors or securities analyses pitice of our common stock could
decline substantially. Furthermore, any quartddgtfiations in our operating results and cash flovey, in turn, cause the price of our stock tc
fluctuate substantially. We believe that quartedynparisons of our financial results are not neardgameaningful and should not be relied
upon as an indication of our future performance.

Exchange rate fluctuations could cause a declinedar financial condition and results of operations.

As a result of our European operations, we areestibp increased risk because we incur a signifipartion of our operating expenses
and receive revenues in multiple currencies oftfi@n the U.S. dollar. For example, in Europe whezehave operating costs in a foreign
currency, we are subject to risk if the foreignreacy in which our costs are paid appreciates ag#ie currency in which we generate reve
because the appreciation effectively increasegasirin that country.

The financial condition and results of operatiohsame of our operating entities are reported meif currencies and then translated
into U.S. dollars at the applicable exchange raténfclusion in our consolidated financial statetseAs a result, appreciation of the U.S. dc
against these foreign currencies generally willhawnegative impact on our reported operating togdele depreciation of the U.S. dollar
against these foreign currencies will generallyehapositive effect on reported operating losses.dé/not seek to mitigate this translation
effect through the use of derivative financial ingtents. To the extent we are unable to match tesreceived in foreign currencies with
costs paid in the same currency, exchange rateifitions in that currency could have a materiakask effect on our business and results of
operations.

We may need additional capital to support our gromivhich may be difficult to obtain and restrict owperations and will result in
additional dilution to our stockholders.

Our business may require additional capital thahese not yet secured. At December 31, 2013, weapptbximately $12.6 million in
cash and cash equivalents. Including the grossepdscfrom the $37.5 million private placement af tcammon stock completed in the first
quarter of 2014, based on our current plans, wievebur cash and cash equivalents will be sufiicie fund our operations beyond the
projected commercialization of ILUVIEN in Germartiie United Kingdom and France and the expectedrggae of positive cash flow in la
2014, at the earliest. However, the actual amofifurals that we will need will be determined by mdactors, some of which are beyond our
control, and we may need funds sooner than cuyranticipated. These factors include but are moitéid to:

» the amount of our future operating los

» third party expenses relating to the commerciabradf ILUVIEN;

» the level of success of the initial commercial ketuiof ILUVIEN in Germany, the United Kingdom andafce
» the status of our new drug application for ILUVIENthe U.S.

» the $25 million milestone payment owed to pSividahe event that ILUVIEN is approved in the U

« the timing of approvals, if any, of ILUVIEN in adatinal jurisdictions

» the need and cost of conducting additional clinidals for ILUVIEN;

» the amount of our research and development, mackatid general and administrative exper

« the extent to which we enter into, maintain, dedve revenues from licensing agreements, inolydigreements to out-license
ILUVIEN, research and other collaborations, joiehtures and other business arrangements;

» the extent to which we acquire, and our succes#égrating, technologies or companies;
» regulatory changes and technological developmertsii market:
General market conditions or the market price afammmon stock may not support capital raisinggeations such as an additional
public or private offering of our common stock dher securities. In addition, our ability to ramseditional capital may be dependent upon our
stock being quoted on the NASDAQ Global Market pomi obtaining shareholder approval. There can beesearance that we will be able to

satisfy the criteria for continued listing on NASDQAor that we will
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be able to obtain shareholder approval if it isassary. If we are unable to obtain additional fuoiis timely basis or on terms favorable to us
we may be required to cease or reduce further caniatieation of ILUVIEN, to cease or reduce certedisearch and development projects, to
sell some or all of our technology or assets oirfass units or to merge all or a portion of ouribeiss with another entity. In the event
additional financing is needed or advisable, we sk to fund our operations through the sale oitggecurities, additional debt financing
and strategic collaboration agreements. We cammstibe that additional financing from any of thesarces will be available when needed or
that, if available, the additional financing wik lmbtained on terms favorable to us or our stoddrslespecially in light of the current difficult
financial environment. If we raise additional furtisselling shares of our capital stock, the ownigrgnterest of our current stockholders will
be diluted. In addition, our Series A Convertibleferred Stock is entitled to price-based antitdhlu protection in connection with certain
financings, which has the potential to further @ilour other stockholders. If we attempt to radditéonal funds through strategic collaboration
agreements, we may not be successful in obtairgHghoration agreements, or in receiving milestoneoyalty payments under those
agreements, or the terms of the debt may involyeifs¢éant cash payment obligations as well as camenand specific financial ratios that may
restrict our ability to commercialize ILUVIEN or wriuture products or product candidates or opavatébusiness. For example, under the
secured credit facility, which Alimera Sciences itgd (Limited), our subsidiary, entered into in M2@13 (Credit Facility), we and certain of
our subsidiaries are subject to a variety of aféitive and negative covenants, including requiradrfcial reporting, limitations on our cash
balances, limitations on the disposition of asdetsdtations on the incurrence of additional dednid other requirements. Due to the limited
revenue generated by ILUVIEN to date, we may nadlile to maintain compliance with covenants under@an agreements. In an event of
default, our lender may call our term loan or fiesthe availability of our line of credit, and wéll likely need to raise additional financing. To
secure the performance of our obligations undeteelit Facility, Limited pledged all of its assétsthe lender. Our or Limited's failure to
comply with the covenants under the Credit Facdityld result in an event of default, the accelenadf our debt and the loss of our assets.
and certain of our subsidiaries are guarantore@bbligations of Limited to the lender under thedit Facility (Guaranties). Pursuant to the
Guaranties, we and these subsidiaries granteetiget a first priority security interest in subsialty all of our respective assets. Any
declaration of an event of default could signifitaarm our business and prospects and could aawsstock price to decline. Insufficient
funds may require us to delay, scale back, or aktei some or all of our activities, and if we anakie to obtain additional funding, there may
be substantial doubt about our ability to contiagea going concern.

Risks Related to Our Common Stock

Our stock price has been and may continue to beatit#, and the value of an investment in our commstock may decline.

We completed our IPO in April 2010 at a price oL D per share. Subsequently, our common stockddead as low as $1.09 per share
The realization of any of the risks described stinrisk factors or other unforeseen risks coule lradramatic and adverse effect on the m
price of our common stock. The trading price of common stock is likely to continue to be highlylatde and could be subject to wide

fluctuations in response to various factors, sofmehich are beyond our control. These factors idetu

» our ability to successfully commercialize ILUMEN the EU, including our ability to build our ovmommercial infrastructure for the
sale of ILUVIEN in Germany, the United Kingdom aRhnce;

» the ability of ILUVIEN to be approved in any additial jurisdiction

» the ability of ILUVIEN or any future products product candidates, if approved in additionalgdigtions, to achieve commercial
success;

» FDA or international regulatory actions, includifagiure to receive regulatory approval for ILUVIEN any future products or prodt
candidates;

e quarterly variations in our results of operationshmse of our competitol
ec

e announcements by us or our competitors of adeprns, regulatory approvals, clinical milestonesw products, significant contracts,
commercial relationships or capital commitments;

» third-party coverage and reimbursement polit

e additions or departures of key persor
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e commencement of, or our involvement in, litigat

e our ability to meet our repayment and other obiayet under our loan agreeme

» changes in governmental regulations or in the stafwur regulatory approva

» changes in earnings estimates or recommendatiossdwyities analys

e any major change in our board of directors or manant

» results from our clinical trial progran

» our ability to develop and market new and enhameeducts or product candidates on a timely b
» general economic conditions and slow or negatieevtr of our markets; ai

» political instability, natural disasters, war armdéwents of terrorisr

From time to time, we estimate the timing of theamplishment of various scientific, clinical, regtdry and other product development
goals or milestones. These milestones may inclvededmmencement or completion of scientific studied clinical trials, the submission of
regulatory filings, the notification of the resutitregulatory filings and the anticipated commaktaunch of ILUVIEN or any future products
or product candidates. Also, from time to time,ex@ect that we will publicly announce the anticgzhtiming of some of these milestones. All
of these milestones are based on a variety of g#gums. The actual timing of these milestones caty dramatically compared to our
estimates, in some cases for reasons beyond otrotdhwe do not meet these milestones as puphcinounced, our stock price may decline
and the further commercialization of ILUVIEN or afuture products or product candidates may be delay

In addition, the stock market has experienced mérprice and volume fluctuations that have ofteenbenrelated or disproportionate to
the operating performance of publicly traded congmrBroad market and industry factors may sernjoaffect the market price of companies’
stock, including ours, regardless of actual opegatierformance. These fluctuations may be even pram@ounced in the trading market for
stock. In addition, in the past, following periaafsvolatility in the overall market and the marlpgice of a particular company’s securities,
securities class action litigation has often bewtiated against these companies. This litigatibbrought against us, could result in substantial
costs and a diversion of our management’s atteatimhresources.

Certain of our stockholders have the ability to dool the outcome of matters submitted for stockheidapproval and may have
interests that differ from those of our other stdetilders.

As of December 31, 2013, our executive officery, &mployees, directors and their affiliates anditivestors that participated in our
Series A Convertible Preferred Stock financing liieredly owned, in the aggregate, a majority of thestanding voting power of our common
stock, assuming the exercise of the outstandingants to purchase shares of our Series A Converfiilgferred Stock. As a result, these
stockholders, if acting together, may be able &rege significant influence over all matters reupgj stockholder approval, including the
election of directors and the approval of significeorporate transactions, and this concentratiomoting power may have the effect of
delaying or impeding actions that could be benafit you, including actions that may be suppoligadur Board of Directors.

In addition, the terms of the Series A Convertibteferred Stock provide that certain corporateoastrequire the prior consent of the
holders of at least 70% of the then outstandingeshaf Series A Convertible Preferred Stock.

We currently do not intend to pay dividends on aaommon stock and, consequently, your only opportyrib achieve a return on yolt
investment is if the price of our common stock apprates.

We do not anticipate that we will pay any cashdabvids on shares of our common stock for the foaddeduture. Any determination to
pay dividends in the future will be at the disavatof our Board of Directors and will depend oruttesof operations, financial condition,
contractual restrictions, restrictions imposed ppleable law and other factors our Board of Dicestdeems relevant. Further, for so long as
least 37.5% of the shares of Series A ConvertibddeiPred Stock originally issued to the investdrha closing of our Series A Convertible
Preferred Stock financing in October 2012 are hglthe initial investors or their affiliates, we yaot, without first obtaining the approval of
the holders of at least 70% of the then
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outstanding shares of Series A Convertible Prefiegteck, declare or pay any dividend or distributim any shares of capital stock; provided,
however, that this restriction shall not apply A9 ¢lividends payable to holders of common stock tumsist solely of shares of common stock
for which adjustment to the conversion price of 8sgies A Convertible Preferred Stock is made @msto the certificate of designation or

(B) dividends or distributions issued pro rataltdhalders of capital stock (on an as-convertedd)as connection with the implementation of a
“poison pill” rights plan or similar plan by us. Aordingly, realization of a gain on your investmeiiit depend on the appreciation of the price
of our common stock, which may never occur.

Significant sales of our common stock could depresseduce the market price of our common stock,aause our shares of common
stock to trade below the prices at which they woattierwise trade, or impede our ability to raisetdue capital.

A small number of institutional investors and ptevaquity funds hold a significant number of shariesur common stock and all of our
shares of Series A Convertible Preferred StockSaries A Convertible Preferred Stock Warrants. Shjethese stockholders of a substantial
number of shares, or the expectation of such sedesd cause a significant reduction in the mapkite of our common stock. Additionally, a
small number of investors have rights, subjecteitain conditions, to require us to file regisiatstatements to permit the resale of their st
in the public market or to include their sharesdgistration statements that we may file for owsglor other stockholders.

In addition to our outstanding common stock, aBefember 31, 2013, there were a total of 7,566s#88es of common stock that we
have registered and that we are obligated to ispoa the exercise of currently outstanding optigrasited under our equity incentive plans.
Upon the exercise of these options, in accordarttetheir respective terms, these shares may lmddrégely, subject to restrictions imposed
on our affiliates under the SEC’s Rule 144. If digant sales of these shares occur in short psraddime, these sales could reduce the marke
price of our common stock. Any reduction in thedtrg price of our common stock could impede oulitgttio raise capital on attractive terms.

Actual or perceived significant sales of our commstwtk could depress or reduce the market priceotommon stock, cause our shi
of common stock to trade below the prices at whiey would otherwise trade or impede our abilityase future capital.

Future sales and issuances of our equity securit@sights to purchase our equity securities, inding pursuant to our equity
incentive plans, would result in dilution of the peentage ownership of our stockholders and couldisa our stock price to fall.

To the extent we raise additional capital by isguéquity securities; our stockholders may expegeubstantial dilution. We may sell
common stock, convertible securities or other gusatcurities in one or more transactions at pricebin a manner we determine from time to
time. If we sell common stock, convertible secestor other equity securities in more than onestration, investors may be diluted by
subsequent sales. Such sales may also result arigalilution to our existing stockholders, andwiavestors could gain rights superior to
existing stockholders. In addition, the Series A@tible Preferred Stock is entitled to price-lihaati-dilution protection in connection with
certain financings, which has the potential totfartdilute our other stockholders.

Pursuant to our 2010 Equity Incentive Plan, ourrBad Directors is authorized to grant stock opsioom our employees, directors and
consultants. The number of shares available faréugrant under our 2010 Equity Incentive Planeéases each year by an amount equal to tt
lesser of 4% of all shares of our capital stoclstautding as of January 1st of each year, 2,00G086s, or such lesser number as determine
by our Board of Directors. On January 1, 2014, dditeonal 1,264,440 shares became available farréuissuance under our 2010 Equity
Incentive Plan in accordance with the annual irsgen addition, we have reserved 494,422 sharearodommon stock for issuance under
2010 Employee Stock Purchase Plan. The numberapésteligible for purchase is replenished as afidignlst of each year in an amount e
to the shares purchased under the plan in thedirecgear. As such, on January 1, 2014, an additid®,123 shares became available for
future issuance under our 2010 Employee Stock RsePRlan.

The Series A Convertible Preferred Stock contaimvenants that may limit our business flexibility.

For so long as at least 37.5% of the shares oéSériConvertible Preferred Stock originally isstedhe investors at the closing of our
Series A Convertible Preferred Stock financing otaber 2012 are held by the initial investors aittlaffiliates, we may not, without first
obtaining the approval of the holders of at le@867f the then outstanding shares of Series A Quible Preferred Stock: (i) increase or
decrease the authorized number of shares of Se@Emvertible Preferred Stock; (ii) authorize, deedassue or obligate us to issue (by
reclassification, merger or otherwise) any secyotyany class or series
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thereof) or any indebtedness, in each case thamasghts, preferences or privileges senior tmroa parity with, the Series A Convertible
Preferred Stock, or any security convertible intexercisable for any such security or indebtedrmsggect to limited exceptions for certain
debt transactions; (iii) amend our certificaterafdrporation or the certificate of designationttd Series A Convertible Preferred Stock, in ¢
case in a manner that adversely affects the right$erence or privileges of the Series A ConvétiRreferred Stock; (iv) redeem, purchase or
otherwise acquire (or pay into or set aside fankisg fund for such purpose) any shares of comstonk or preferred stock; provided,
however, that this restriction shall not apply &) the redemption of rights issued pursuant to ‘goyson pill” rights plan or similar plan
adopted by us after the closing of the Series Av@dible Preferred Stock financing or (B) the refhases of stock from former employees,
officers, directors or consultants who performewvises for us in connection with the cessationumfrsemployment or service pursuant to the
terms of existing agreements with such individu@iydeclare or pay any dividend or distributionamy shares of capital stock; provided,
however, that this restriction shall not apply A9 ¢ividends payable to holders of common stock tumsist solely of shares of common stock
for which adjustment to the conversion price of 8sgies A Convertible Preferred Stock is made @amsto the certificate of designation or

(B) dividends or distributions issued pro rataltdalders of capital stock (on an as-convertedd)as connection with the implementation of a
“poison pill” rights plan or similar plan by us;ifvauthorize or approve any increase to the nurnbaggregate shares of capital stock reserve
for issuance pursuant to stock option, stock pwsehmans or other equity incentive plans suchttietotal aggregate number of shares issuec
under such plans and reserved for issuance undersans (on an as-converted basis) exceeds thberurfishares issued and reserved for
issuance under such plans (on an as-converted basiBe date of the closing of the Series A Cotilvier Preferred Stock financing by more
than 20% (as adjusted for stock splits, combinatistock dividends, recapitalizations and the Jikedvided that any increases resulting solely
from the annual increases resulting from the “exe=g” provisions of equity incentive plans in effen the date of the closing of the Series A
Convertible Preferred Stock financing shall nosbbject to this restriction and shall not be ineldidor purposes of determining whether such
20% increase has occurred; (vii) issue stock ogratiquity securities of any subsidiary (other ttemos or another of our wholly-owned
subsidiaries or declare or pay any dividend or oditribution of cash, shares or other assete@emption or repurchase of shares of any
subsidiary; or (viii) incur any secured indebtednether than certain limited debt transactions.r&feno guarantee that the holders of the
Series A Convertible Preferred Stock would apprawg such restricted action, even where such aaraetould be in the best interests of our
stockholders. Any failure to obtain such approwvaild harm our business and result in a decreageinalue of our common stock.

Anti-takeover provisions in our charter and bylavesid in Delaware law could prevent or delay acquiisit bids for us that you might
consider favorable and could entrench current mareagent.

We are a Delaware corporation and the anti-takepravisions of the Delaware General Corporation lragy deter, delay or prevent a
change in control by prohibiting us from engagingibusiness combination with an interested stddendor a period of three years after the
person becomes an interested stockholder, evechifiage in control would be beneficial to our erigistockholders. In addition, our restated
certificate of incorporation and bylaws may dis@me, delay or prevent a change in our managemetndrol over us that stockholders may
consider favorable. Our restated certificate obiporation and bylaws:

» authorize the issuance of “blank chepk&ferred stock that could be issued by our Bo&idiectors to thwart a takeover atten

» do not provide for cumulative voting in the e@len of directors, which would allow holders of $ethan a majority of our outstanding
common stock to elect some directors;

» establish a classified Board of Directors, assult of which the successors to the directorssehierms have expired will be elected to
serve from the time of election and qualificationtilthe third annual meeting following their elext;

* require that directors only be removed from officecause

» provide that vacancies on the Board of Diregtorsluding newly created directorships, may bledilonly by a majority vote of
directors then in office;

e contain certain protective provisions in favor lo¢ tholders of Series A Convertible Preferred S

« limit who may call special meetings of stockhold
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» prohibit common stockholder action by written camtseequiring all actions of the holders of comnsbock to be taken at a meeting
the stockholders; and

» establish advance notice requirements for notimgaandidates for election to the Board of Diogstor for proposing matters that can
be acted upon by stockholders at stockholder ngwtin

If securities or industry analysts do not publisesearch or reports or publish unfavorable researchreports about our business, our
stock price and trading volume could declir

The trading market for our common stock depengsaith on the research and reports that securitiesdastry analysts publish about us,
our business, our market or our competitors. If onmore of the analysts who covers us downgradestock, our stock price would likely
decline. If one or more of these analysts ceasesuer us or fails to regularly publish reportsum) interest in our stock could decrease, whict
could cause our stock price or trading volume tdide.
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ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
Not applicable.
ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Our U.S. headquarters are located in Alpharettar@®, consisting of approximately 14,000 squaet & office space. Our lease for t
facility expires in January 2015. Our EU headquarsee located in Fleet, United Kingdom, consistihgpproximately 1,300 square feet of
office space. Our lease for this facility expiraddecember 2014. We also lease space located iim B&ermany, consisting of less than 1,000
square feet of office space. Our lease for thigifiaexpires in March 2015. Management believest the leased facilities are suitable and
adequate to meet the Company’s anticipated near+ieeds. We anticipate that following the expiratd the leases, additional or alternative
space will be available at commercially reasonédaies.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

The Company is not a party to any material pentiggl proceedings, and management is not awamyof@templated proceedings by
any governmental authority against the Company.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES
Not applicable.
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PART I

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED SHAEHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES
OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Our common stock has been trading on The NASDAQ&IMarket (NASDAQ) under the symbol “ALIM” sincaupIPO on April 22,
2010. Prior to that time, there was no establighdalic trading market for our common stock. Thedwing table sets forth, for the periods
indicated, the range of high and low sale pricesuwfcommon stock as reported by NASDAQ.

Year Ended December 31, 2013 High Low

First quarter 2013 $ 33 $ REE
Second quarter 2013 $ 5.6¢ % 2.5¢
Third quarter 2013 $ 517 $ 3.0¢
Fourth quarter 2013 $ 512 % 1.65
Year Ended December 31, 2012 High Low

First quarter 2012 $ 49C $ 1.1¢
Second quarter 2012 $ 3.7¢ % 2.2¢
Third quarter 2012 $ 3.2 % 2.07
Fourth quarter 2012 $ 28t $ 1.2¢

Holders

As of February 28, 2014 there were 64 holders afng: of our common stock.

Dividends

We have not declared or paid any cash dividendsuorrommon stock since our inception. We do nat ptapay dividends in the
foreseeable future.Under our 2013 Loan Agreemeathave agreed not to pay any dividends so longhassiany outstanding obligations
thereunder. Further, the rights and preferencesioSeries A Convertible Preferred Stock also plewxiations on our ability to declare or pay
any dividend or distribution on any shares of catock. We currently intend to retain earnin§aniy, to finance our growth. Consequently,
stockholders will need to sell shares of our comstoek to realize a return on their investmenaniy.

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities
Sales of Unregistered Securities
2014 Common Stock Private Placement

On January 31, 2014, we issued an aggregate dd,0@% shares of our common stock for aggregatesgnaxeeds of approximately
$37.5 million (Private Placement). The Private Blaent was issued and sold pursuant to a Securitiehase Agreement, dated January 27,
2014, between us and certain purchasers. The peg plrchase price of a share of common stock #&9$ Cowen and Company, LLC
served as sole placement agent in the Private fAkte

The issuance was made in reliance on Rule 506 pgated under the Securities Act of 1933, as ame(ithedSecurities Act) and was
made without general solicitation or advertisingck purchaser represented that it was an accraditestor with access to information about
us sufficient to evaluate the investment and thatcbommon stock was being acquired without a veedigtribution or resale in violation of the
Securities Act. A Form D filing was made in accorda with the requirements of Regulation D. In canios with the Private Placement, we
agreed to file one or more registration statemesgistering for resale the shares of common stolikia the Private Placement. The recipients
of securities in the Private Placement represethieid intention to acquire the securities for inwesnt only and not with a view to or for sale in
connection with any distribution thereof and appiate legends were affixed to the stock certifisagsued in such transaction.

2012 Series A Preferred Stock Private Placement
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On October 2, 2012, we sold units consisting chggregate of 1,000,000 shares of our Series A GbblePreferred Stock and warra
to purchase an additional 300,000 shares of SArfésnvertible Preferred Stock (or such number afrek of our common stock then issuable
upon conversion of such shares of Series A Corblerfireferred Stock) in a private placement toaterccredited institutional investors for
$40.00 per unit. The sale of the units resultegross proceeds to us of $40.0 million prior tophgment of related expenses. No underwriters
were involved in the foregoing sale of securitiBise issuances of the securities described above demmed to be exempt from registration
under the Securities Act in reliance on Section) 4{2he Securities Act under the Securities Adte Tecipients of securities in such transactiol
represented their intention to acquire the seesrfior investment only and not with a view to argale in connection with any distribution
thereof and appropriate legends were affixed testhek certificates issued in such transaction.

ITEM 6. SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA
Not applicable.

ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL GONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion and analysis should beli@aconjunction with our audited annual consolieidffinancial statements and the
related notes that appear elsewhere in this AnReglort on Form 10-K. This discussion contains fadalaoking statements reflecting our
current expectations that involve risks and undettas. Actual results may differ materially frohose discussed in these forward-looking
statements due to a number of factors, includimgétset forth in the section entitled “Risk Factasd elsewhere in this Annual Report on
Form 1(-K. For further information regarding forward-lookg statements, please refer to the “Special NogaREng Forward-Looking
Statements and Projections” at the beginning oftPaf this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Overview

Alimera Sciences, Inc., and its subsidiaries (wWéméra or the Company) is a biopharmaceutical camgphat specializes in the resear
development and commercialization of prescriptiphtbalmic pharmaceuticals. We are presently focosediseases affecting the back of the
eye, or retina, because we believe these diseesestwell treated with current therapies andesent a significant market opportunity.

Our only commercial product is ILUVIER, which has received marketing authorization intAiasthe United Kingdom, Portugal,
France, Germany and Spain, and has been recommfardadrketing authorization in Italy, for the tteeent of vision impairment associated
with chronic diabetic macular edema (DME) consideanssufficiently responsive to available therapBME is a disease of the retina that
affects individuals with diabetes and can leadeteese vision loss and blindness. ILUVIEN has natrbapproved by the U.S. Food and Drug
Administration (FDA).

We launched ILUVIEN in the United Kingdom and Genyain April and May of 2013, respectively, andmantly plan to launch
ILUVIEN in France in 2014. To date, the majorityair sales have been in Germany. We were ablaitachain Germany without price
restriction, but continue to work with the statytvealth insurance funds in Germany to streamimabursement for ILUVIEN.

In January 2013, the United Kingdom’s National itas¢ for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) puldidhinal guidance for England
and Wales indicating that ILUVIEN does not satisfyCE's definition of cost effectiveness for theatiraent of vision impairment associated
with chronic DME considered insufficiently resporsio available therapies given the cost of £5,5%08.submitted a simple patient access
scheme (PAS) for ILUVIEN to NICE for consideratiander its rapid review facility. In October 2018etNICE Appraisal Committee issued a
positive Final Appraisal Determination recommendibgVIEN funding for the treatment of pseudophakiges (eyes with an artificial lens) in
chronic DME patients that are insufficiently respime to available therapies and the final technplagpraisal guidance was published in
November 2013. The technology appraisal guidaneerses the published guidance issued by NICE inal®013, and takes in
consideration the PAS. NICE requires clinical cossiuning groups, National Health Service (NHS) Endland local public health authori
to comply with the recommendations in the finaldguice within three months of its date of publiaatid/e began receiving orders for
ILUVIEN from several NHS facilities in January 2QiAdicating early implementation of the NICE guida in certain NHS facilities. Further,
in February 2014, the Scottish Medicines Consorf8MC, after completing its assessment and revieasimilar simple PAS, announced that
is has accepted ILUVIEN for restricted use withie NHS Scotland.

In July 2013, the Transparency Commission (Commisde la Transparence or CT) of the French Natibieallth Authority (Haute
Autorite de Sante) issued a favorable opinion lierreimbursement and hospital listing of ILUVIEN tne French National Health Insurance
for the treatment of chronic DME considered instiffintly responsive to available therapies.
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In the opinion, ILUVIEN was deemed as providingnaotierate medical benefit" as defined by the SeMedical Rendu. As a result, when
agree on a price with the French authorities, p&iwill be reimbursed for 100% of the cost of ILIBW under the Affection de Longue Dur
a specific program for severe chronic diseases asichiabetes. When comparing the clinical benéfit dVIEN to existing therapies
(Amelioration du Service Medical Rendu or ASMR) 8T rated the product at "level IV" which will bised in considering the price and any
reimbursement conditions for ILUVIEN in France.

In September 2013, we submitted an applicatiohedMiedicines and Healthcare Products Regulatornné&géMHRA) in the United
Kingdom, as the Reference Member State, for teitiaddl European Union (EU) country approvals tlgbihe Mutual Recognition
Procedure.

We submitted a New Drug Application (NDA) in Jur@1® for ILUVIEN in the U.S. with the FDA. We resulited our NDA in May
2011 and April 2013 to address matters raisedarFDA's Complete Response Letters (CRLs) relatirthe NDA. In October 2013, we
received a third CRL from the FDA stating that NMiBA could not be approved in its current form. e third CRL, the FDA identified clinical
and statistical deficiencies and indicated thatibeefits of ILUVIEN did not outweigh its risks. fher, the FDA also indicated that results
from a new clinical trial would need to be subnditeogether with at least 12 months of follow-upadi@r all enrolled patients, to support
certain indications previously discussed with tilBAF The FDA suggested that a meeting with the Déofogic and Ophthalmic Drugs
Advisory Committee may be of assistance in addngstie deficiencies identified above and providadyice whether a patient population can
be identified in which the benefits of the druggwot might outweigh the risks.

We were notified of a January 2014 meeting of tkeigdory Committee shortly after the issuance oftthiel CRL. In a subsequent
communication with the FDA, we believe we clarifithét the purpose of the Advisory Committee meetiag to consider the benefits and
risks of ILUVIEN based on existing data availalieni our two completed Phase 3 pivotal clinicall$ri@ollectively, our FAME Study).
Further discussion with the FDA in preparationtfoe Advisory Committee resulted in labeling diséoss for ILUVIEN, and we and the FDA
agreed that the Advisory Committee was no longeesgary. We intend to submit a response to the @RL in the first quarter of 2014 to
include a new proposed label, address concerrisDieraised regarding the facility at which ILUVIEN manufactured, and provide a safety
update on ILUVIEN, which will include data from IINJEN patients and from physician experience with thUVIEN applicator in the Unite
Kingdom and Germany, where ILUVIEN is currently comrcially available. The FDA has indicated thatwik not be required to conduct
any new clinical trials in connection with the FBAkview of this submission.

In the third CRL, the FDA referenced deficienciedhie methods and controls used for ILUVIEN atfdlity where it is manufactured.
We do not believe that these deficiencies will efffeur European commercial supply of ILUVIEN. Wedaour third-party manufacturer are in
the process of resolving these deficiencies.

We commenced operations in June 2003. Since oapiitn we have incurred significant losses. As e€&mber 31, 2013, we have
accumulated a deficit of $277.3 million. We expiecincur substantial losses through the projectedroercialization of ILUVIEN as we:

. complete the clinical development and registrabiLUVIEN;

. continue the commercialization of ILUVIEN in the E

. continue to seek regulatory approval of ILUVIENtie U.S. and other jurisdictior

. evaluate the use of ILUVIEN for the treatment dientdiseases; a

. advance the clinical development of any futuredpicts or product candidates either currentlyungapeline, or that we may

license or acquire in the future.

As of December 31, 2013, we had approximately $flliion in cash and cash equivalents. In Janu@d42 we completed a private
placement of our common stock providing gross pedseof $37.5 million.

We launched ILUVIEN in the United Kingdom and Genyiain April and May of 2013, respectively, and mantly plan to launch
ILUVIEN in France in 2014. Based on our currentglawe believe our cash and cash equivalents widufficient to fund our operations
beyond the projected commercialization of ILUVIENthe United Kingdom, France and Germany and tipe&ed generation of positive cash
flow in late 2014, at the earliest, if at all. Hoveg, the actual amount of funds that we will nedllive determined by many factors, some of
which are beyond our control, and we may need fsodser than currently anticipated. If ILUVIEN istrapproved in additional jurisdictions
or does not generate sufficient revenue, we maysadur commercial plans so that we can continugptate with our existing cash resources
or seek to raise additional financing.

Our Agreement with pSivida US, Inc.
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We entered into an agreement with pSivida US, (ipSivida) for the use of fluocinolone acetonide ¢{fr pSividas proprietary deliver
device in February 2005, which was subsequentlynalee and restated in 2008. pSivida is a global deliyery company committed to the
biomedical sector and the development of drug defiproducts. Our agreement with pSivida providesvith a worldwide exclusive license
develop and sell ILUVIEN, which consists of a tipglyimide tube with membrane caps that is filledha#Ac in a polyvinyl alcohol matrix for
delivery to the back of the eye for the treatmemntt prevention of eye diseases in humans (otherufaitis). This agreement also provides us
with a worldwide non-exclusive license to develog sell pSivida’s proprietary delivery device tdider other corticosteroids to the back of
the eye for the treatment and prevention of eyeadiss in humans (other than uveitis) or to treaEy delivering a compound to the back of
the eye through a direct delivery method througmarsion required for a 25-gauge or larger needie.do not have the right to develop and
sell pSivida's proprietary delivery device in contien with indications for diseases outside ofélye or for the treatment of uveitis. Further,
our agreement with pSivida permits pSivida to gtardany other party the right to use its intelletforoperty (i) to treat DME through an
incision smaller than that required for a 25-gangedle, unless using a corticosteroid deliveretigdack of the eye, (ii) to deliver any
compound outside the back of the eye unlessd fissat DME through an incision required for a 2atge or larger needle, or (iii) to deliver
non-corticosteroids to the back of the eye, uniteissto treat DME through an incision required éo5-gauge or larger needle.

The agreement provides that after commercializaafdb UVIEN, pSivida will be entitled to 20% of theet profits, as defined in the
amended and restated agreement. In connectiorthistrrangement we are entitled to recover 20%pafmercialization costs of ILUVIEN,
as defined in the agreement, incurred prior to pebgrofitability out of pSivida’s share of net fiits. As of December 31, 2013 and 2012,
pSivida owed us $11.0 million and $5.6 million,pestively, in commercialization costs. Due to tineertainty of future profits from
ILUVIEN, we have fully reserved these amounts ia #tcompanying consolidated financial statements.

We will owe pSivida an additional milestone paymefn$25.0 million if ILUVIEN is approved by the FDAf we were to enter into any
sub-license of ILUVIEN, we must share 20% of netdfips and 33% of any lump sum milestone paymerdsived from a sub-licensee, as
defined in the agreement, with pSivida.

Our Credit Facility
2010 Term Loan

We entered into a loan and security agreementSiitbon Valley Bank (SVB) and MidCap Financial LI{MidCap and together with
SVB, the Lenders) in October 2010, which was subsetly amended in May 2011 (as amended, the 204h Tean Agreement). Pursuant to
the 2010 Term Loan Agreement, in October 2010 weoled an aggregate of $6.25 million from the Lesdéhe 2010 Term Loan). The 20
Term Loan Agreement also provided for the abilitydtawdown an additional $11.0 million subject @A-approval of the NDA for ILUVIEN
by December 31, 2011, which was not obtained.

In August 2011, we began repaying the outstandiigipal under the 2010 Term Loan in 33 equal miynitistallments plus interest a
rate of 11.5%. At maturity, we were also requiredntake an additional interest payment equal to ##eototal amount borrowed. We paid to
the Lenders an upfront fee of $62,500 upon exesufdhe 2010 Term Loan Agreement and an addititeeabf $50,000 in connection with
May 2011 amendment. In accordance with the FindAgeounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting St Codification (ASC) 470-50-
40-17,Debt - Modifications and ExtinguishmeifsSC 470-50-40-17), we were amortizing the defefieadncing costs on the 2010 Term Loan
and the $50,000 modification fee over the remainénm of the 2010 Term Loan, as modified.

In October 2010, in connection with entering irtte 2010 Term Loan, we issued SVB a warrant to @sehp to 15,909 shares of our
common stock and MidCap a warrant to purchase 23864 shares of our common stock. Each of theants were exercisable upon
issuance, had a per-share exercise price of $ah0@ term of 10 years. We estimated the fair valwearrants granted using the Black-
Scholes option pricing model to be $389,000. Wecalled a portion of the proceeds from the 2010 Tlayam to the warrants in accordance
with ASC 470-20-25-2Debt Instruments with Detachable Warranis a result, we recorded a discount of $366,0B@kvwas amortized to
interest expense using the effective interest nethbe Lenders were also issued warrants to pueanaso an aggregate of 69,999 additional
shares of our common stock, which were exercisatille upon the drawdown of the additional $11.0 imillsubject to FDA approval of the
NDA for ILUVIEN by December 31, 2011, which was raditained. In May 2013, we repaid all amounts oweetthe Lenders under the 20
Term Loan, including the final interest paymentado 4% of the total amount borrowed, and a 1.0&payment penalty on the then
outstanding principal owed to MidCap. In connectiath the repayment of the 2010 Term Loan, we recaagl a loss on early extinguishment
of debt of $153,000 associated with the remainimgnuortized deferred financing costs, unamortizedalint associated with the Lenders'
warrants, the final interest payment, the prepaymenalty and a lender fee and warrants assoamdthca new term loan.

2010 Revolving Loan Agreement

49




Table of Contents

In October 2010, we entered into a loan and sgcagteement with SVB, which was subsequently amgimi&lay 2011 (as amended,
the 2010 Revolving Loan Agreement), pursuant tocihiive obtained a secured revolving line of cradibf SVB against eligible U.S. domes
accounts receivable with borrowing availability tag520.0 million. Upon entering into the 2010 Rewmoy Loan Agreement, we paid to SVB
an upfront fee of $100,000. As of December 31, 20bZamounts under the 2010 Revolving Loan Agre¢mvene outstanding or available to
us. In May 2013, we terminated the 2010 Revolviogri Agreement.

2013 Loan Agreement

In May 2013, Alimera Sciences Limited (Limited),raubsidiary, entered into a loan and security@gent (2013 Loan Agreement) w
SVB to provide Limited with additional working caal for general corporate purposes. Under the 2@E3 Agreement, SVB has made a tern
loan (2013 Term Loan) in the principal amount oftiillion to Limited and has agreed to providetamn additional $15.0 million to Limited
under a working capital line of credit (2013 LinkeGredit). No advances were made at closing urftef013 Line of Credit and no amounts
were outstanding as of December 31, 2013.

The 2013 Term Loan provides for interest only paytaéor six months followed by 36 monthly paymeastténterest, plus principal. We
made our first amortization payment on the 20131koan in December 2013. Interest on outstandingobongs under the 2013 Term Loan
is payable at the rate of 7.50%. Borrowings unber2013 Line of Credit will be advanced at 80%lafilele accounts receivable as defined in
the 2013 Loan Agreement. Interest is payable om#t@nce of eligible accounts financed at the o2 75% above SVB's most recently
announced “prime rate.” Limited is also require¢p&y SVB on a monthly basis an unused line feeléqua25% per annum of the average
unused portion of the 2013 Line of Credit during greceding month. The maturity dates are Jun2@Lh with respect to the 2013 Line of
Credit and October 31, 2016 with respect to the3ZDdrm Loan.

In connection with entering into the 2013 Loan Agreent, Limited paid SVB a facility fee of $25,0@@lditionally, we re-priced
warrants to purchase an aggregate of up to 31j8di&s of our common stock previously issued to $V/&nnection with the 2010 Term
Loan; 15,909 of which were previously exercisabiyapon the drawdown of the additional $11.0 roilliof the 2010 Term Loan subject to
FDA approval of the NDA for ILUVIEN by December 32011. Upon re-pricing, each of the warrants was@sgable immediately at a per-
share exercise price of $2.86 and had a remaieimg of 7.4 years. We estimated the incrementaltlire received by SVB using the Black-
Scholes option pricing model to be $46,000. In adance with ASC 470-50-40-17, we classified theayepent of the 2010 Term Loan as an
extinguishment of debt and expensed the faciligydiad incremental value of the warrants associaitdthe 2013 Term Loan as part of a loss
on early extinguishment of the 2010 Term Loan. \Afatis to purchase up to an aggregate of 54,090i@dlishares of our common stock,
which were exercisable only upon the drawdown efgtditional $11.0 million of the 2010 Term Loamjget to FDA approval of the NDA fi
ILUVIEN by December 31, 2011, which was not obtdinemain outstanding.

In connection with the 2013 Line of Credit, Limitpdid a commitment fee of $100,000. In accordanite ASC 470-50-40-17, we
capitalized the commitment fee and $49,000 of defkfinancing costs remaining on the 2010 Revolingn Agreement as deferred financ
costs, which are being amortized over the remaiteng of the 2013 Line of Credit.

If Limited repays the 2013 Term Loan prior to Oao31, 2016, it will pay to SVB a prepayment penalt 3% of the total principal
amount if the prepayment occurs within one yearafte funding date and 2% of the total principabant if the prepayment occurs between
one and two years after the funding date, providezhch case that such prepayment penalty wiledaaed by 50% in the event of an
acquisition of Limited (either alone, or in conrientwith the acquisition of us or any of our sulisis). In addition, if Limited terminates the
2013 Line of Credit prior to June 30, 2015, it vally to SVB a termination fee of $112,500, which te& reduced by 50% in the event of an
acquisition described above.

Limited also agreed to customary affirmative andatie covenants and events of default in conneatith these arrangements. Furtt
we, on a consolidated basis, must maintain a minirfadjusted quick ratio,” tested as of the last dagach month, of at least 1.5:1.0. The
adjusted quick ratio is the ratio of (x) our comdated, unrestricted and unencumbered cash plusiltest trade accounts receivable to (y) our
current liabilities (including all obligations owéd SVB) minus the current portion of deferred mave The occurrence of an event of default
could result in the acceleration of Limited's obtigns under the 2013 Loan Agreement and an inereethe applicable interest rate, and
would permit SVB to exercise remedies with respecthe collateral under the 2013 Loan Agreemertuiting foreclosure on our intellectual
property. As of December 31, 2013, we, on a codatdid basis, were in material compliance with athe covenants of the 2013 Term Loan
and 2013 Line of Credit.

Limited's obligations to SVB are secured by a fisority security interest in substantially all lofnited's assets. We and certain of our
subsidiaries are guarantors of the obligationsiwfited to SVB under the 2013 Loan Agreement purst@separate guaranty agreements.
Pursuant to the guaranties, we and these subsigligranted SVB a first priority security interassubstantially all of our respective assets.
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We are required to maintain our primary operating ather deposit accounts and securities accoutiisS¥icon Valley Bank, which
accounts must represent at least 50% of the dadlae of our accounts at all financial institutioblnder our 2013 Loan Agreement, we have
agreed not to pay any dividends so long as it hgatstanding obligations thereunder.

The weighted average interest rates of our notgalppa approximate the rate at which we could obd#ternative financing; therefore, 1
carrying amount of the notes approximated themfalue at December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012.

Financial Operations Overview

We launched ILUVIEN in the United Kingdom and Genyiain April and May of 2013, respectively, and mantly plan to launch
ILUVIEN in France in 2014. To date, the majorityair sales have been in Germany. In addition teggimg revenue from product sales, we
intend to seek to generate revenue from other sswgach as upfront fees, milestone payments inemiom with collaborative or strategic
relationships, and royalties resulting from thetising of ILUVIEN or any future products or prodeandidates and other intellectual prope
We expect any revenue we generate will fluctuaienfquarter to quarter as a result of the naturéng and amount of any milestone payme
we may receive from potential collaborative andtsfyic relationships, as well as revenue we magivealpon the sale of our products to the
extent any are successfully commercialized.

Research and Development Expenses

Substantially all of our research and developmgpepses incurred to date related to our continaperations have been related to the
development of ILUVIEN. In the event the FDA appeswur NDA for ILUVIEN, we will owe an additionalitastone payment of $25.0
million to pSivida. We anticipate that we will incadditional research and development expensémifuture as we evaluate and possibly
pursue the regulatory approval of ILUVIEN in addital jurisdictions, the development of ILUVIEN fadditional indications, or develop
additional products or product candidates. We reasgresearch and development expenses as thacareed. Our research and developn
expenses consist primarily of:

. salaries and related expenses for persc

. fees paid to consultants and contract reseaigdn@ations (CRO) in conjunction with independgmtionitoring clinical trials
and acquiring and evaluating data in conjunctiothwiinical trials, including all related fees suah investigator grants, patient
screening, lab work and data compilation and siedisanalysis;

. costs incurred with third parties related to éiséablishment of a commercially viable manufaciyiprocess for ILUVIEN or
any future products or product candidates;

. costs related to production of clinical materiaigjuding fees paid to contract manufactui

. costs related to upfront and milestone paymentter inlicensing agreemen

. costs related to compliance with FDA, EU or otleggulatory requiremen

. consulting fees paid to thigghrties involved in research and development aigtssians

. costs related to stock options or other stbaked compensation granted to personnel in developiunctions

We expense both internal and external developnesis @s they are incurred.

We expect that a large percentage of our reseaitilevelopment expenses in the future will be iremiin support of our current and
future technical, preclinical and clinical develogmh programs. These expenditures are subject t@rmuws uncertainties in terms of both their
timing and total cost to completion. We expectaatiue to develop stable formulations of ILUVIENany future products or product
candidates, test such formulations in preclinitadlies for toxicology, safety and efficacy and emduct clinical trials for each future product
candidate. We anticipate funding clinical trialgseives, but we may engage collaboration partriarsréain stages of clinical development. As
we obtain results from clinical trials, we may ¢lecdiscontinue or delay clinical trials for cent@roducts or product candidates or progran
order to focus our resources on more promisingymtsdor product candidates or programs. Completfatinical trials by us or our future
collaborators may take several years or more ghgth of time generally varying with the type, cdexiy, novelty and intended use of a
product candidate. The costs of clinical trials naagy significantly over the life of a project owgrio but not limited to the following:

. the number of sites included in the tri
. the length of time required to enroll eligible petis
. the number of patients that participate in thdd)
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. the number of doses that patients rec:

. the dropeut or discontinuation rates of patie

. the duration of patient followp;

. the phase of development the product candidate ani
. the efficacy and safety profile of the product ddate

Our expenses related to clinical trials are basedstimates of the services received and effopiereded pursuant to contracts with
multiple research institutions and CROs that cohdad manage clinical trials on our behalf. Thaficial terms of these agreements are
subject to negotiation and vary from contract totcact and may result in uneven payment flows. Galye these agreements set forth the
scope of work to be performed at a fixed fee ot price. Payments under the contracts depend dorfasuch as the successful enrollment of
patients or the completion of clinical trial mileses. Expenses related to clinical trials genega#yaccrued based on contracted amounts
applied to the level of patient enroliment and\attiaccording to the protocol. If timelines or d¢racts are modified based upon changes in th
clinical trial protocol or scope of work to be pemined, we modify our estimates of accrued expeasesrdingly on a prospective basis.

Our only commercial product is ILUVIEN, which hasceived marketing authorization in the United Kiogd Austria, France, Germai
Portugal, and Spain, and has been recommendedaitieting authorization in Italy, for the treatmemtvision impairment associated with
chronic DME considered insufficiently responsiveat@ilable therapies. ILUVIEN has not been apprawvettie U.S. by the FDA or in any
jurisdiction other than as set forth above. In otdegrant marketing approval, a health authoritgtsas the FDA or foreign regulatory agen:
must conclude that clinical and preclinical dat@kelsh the safety and efficacy of ILUVIEN or anytdire products or product candidates with
an appropriate benefit to risk profile relevanatparticular indication, and that the product canrtanufactured under current Good
Manufacturing Practice (cGMP) in a reproducible meamto deliver the product’s intended performamcteims of its stability, quality, purity
and potency. Until our submissions are reviewetidslth authorities, there is no way to predictabteome of their review. Even if the clinic
studies meet their predetermined primary endpoéamtd,a registration dossier is accepted for filagealth authority could still determine that
an appropriate benefit to risk relationship doesaxist for the indication that we are seeking. ¥danot forecast with any degree of certainty
which of ILUVIEN or any future products or prodwzndidates will be subject to future collaborationfiow such arrangements would affect
our development plan or capital requirements. Assalt of the uncertainties discussed above, weirable to determine the duration and
completion costs of our development projects orméued to what extent we will receive cash infloweni the commercialization and sale o
approved product candidate.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses consist piliynarcompensation for employees in executive admiaistrative functions, includin
finance, accounting, information technology and harresources. Other significant costs includeifas|costs and professional fees for
accounting and legal services, including legal isessassociated with obtaining and maintainingtatéVe expect to continue to incur
significant costs to comply with the corporate gmamce, internal control and similar requiremeipisliaable to public companies.

Sales and Marketing Expenses

Sales and marketing expenses consist primarilyafepsional fees and compensation for employeeth&assessment of the commer
opportunity of, the development of market awareri@esshe pursuit of market reimbursement and tkecation of launch plans for ILUVIEN.
Other costs include professional fees associatdddeiveloping plans for ILUVIEN or any future prads or product candidates and
maintaining public relations.

We launched ILUVIEN in the United Kingdom and Genyiain the second quarter of 2013 and currentiy pdelaunch ILUVIEN in
France in 2014. We expect significant increasesiimmarketing and selling expenses as we contimuedmmercialization of ILUVIEN in
these countries. We have hired a European managéeaan and, through outsourced third party prowdare developing a commercial
infrastructure of approximately 30 people in thateh Kingdom, Germany and France, in managementtanfield combined including sales
representatives and market access personnel.

In November 2012, we entered into an agreement@itimtiles Commercial Europe Limited. Under the égment, Quintiles
Commercial Europe Limited and its affiliates (cotigely, Quintiles Commercial) will provide certaservices to us in relation to the
commercialization of ILUVIEN, in certain countrigs Europe under subsequent project orders. Sueftesrmay include marketing, brand
management, sales promotion and detailing, madaetss, pricing and reimbursement support, regylamedical science liaison and
communications and/or other advisory services. fA3azember 31, 2013, we had entered into eigheptayrders with Quintiles Commercial
for the provision of sales, marketing, managemmiatket access and medical science personnel in&wrrthe United Kingdom and France.
Under these project orders, Quintiles Commercial,
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as of December 31, 2013, employed 24 personsdeliijcated to Alimera. Quintiles Commercial also Eyed six persons partially dedicated
to Alimera in Germany, the United Kingdom and Farets of December 31, 2013. In accordance withettmes of these project orders, we
expect to incur approximately $31.1 million in costith Quintiles Commercial through 2015. For tleanss ended December 31, 2013 and
2012, respectively, we incurred $7.5 million and3®hillion of expense associated with this agreem@nDecember 31, 2013, $520,000 is
included in outsourced services payable and $2l&mis included in prepaid expenses and otherendrassets in our accompanying
consolidated financial statements in associatich thiese project orders.

Interest Expense, Net and Other

Interest expense, net and other consists primatilyterest expense offset by interest income réstieexpense consists primarily of interest
and amortization of deferred financing costs arut descounts associated with our 2010 Term Loan2@iB Term Loan. Interest income
consists primarily of interest earned on our cash equivalents and investments.

Change in Fair Value of Derivative Warrant Liabilit

Warrants to purchase our Series A Convertible PredeStock or common stock that do not meet thairements for classification as
equity, in accordance with the Derivatives and Hieglg opic of the Financial Accounting Standards BioAccounting Standards Codification
(FASB ASC), are classified as liabilities. We rattiese derivative financial instruments as liéibsi in our balance sheet measured at thei
value. We record the changes in fair value of sastruments as non-cash gains or losses in theolidated statements of operations.

Basic and Diluted Net Loss Applicable to Common &tbolders per Common Share

We calculated net loss per share in accordanceA@th 260,Earning Per Share We had a net loss for all periods presented;
accordingly, the inclusion of common stock optiansl warrants would be anti-dilutive. Dilutive comms&tock equivalents would include the
dilutive effect of convertible securities, commdack options, warrants for convertible securitiad avarrants for common stock equivalents.
Potentially dilutive weighted average common stegkivalents totaled approximately 18,293,871, &®i&L4 for the years ended
December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively. Potgntalitive common stock equivalents were excluftedn the diluted earnings per share
denominator for all periods of net loss becaustheif anti-dilutive effect. Therefore, for the yseanded December 31, 2013 and 2012, the
weighted average shares used to calculate botb dadidiluted loss per share are the same.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our discussion and analysis of our financial caadiand results of operations are based on ourotidased financial statements which
have been prepared in accordance with accountingiples generally accepted in the U.S. The prajmaraf these financial statements
requires us to make estimates and judgments tfeait dfie reported amounts of assets, liabilitiegenues and expenses. On an ongoing basis
we evaluate these estimates and judgments, ingullose described below. We base our estimategstoribal experience and on various
other assumptions that we believe to be reasonmtler the circumstances. These estimates and agsnosform the basis for making
judgments about the carrying values of assetsiahilities that are not readily apparent from oteeurces. Actual results and experiences
differ materially from these estimates. We beligvwat the following accounting policies are the motical to aid you in fully understanding
and evaluating our reported financial results dfecathe more significant judgments and estim#tes we use in the preparation of our
consolidated financial statements.

Clinical Trial Prepaid and Accrued Expenses

We record prepaid assets and accrued liabilitiesee to clinical trials associated with CROs, iclah trial investigators and other vend
based upon amounts paid and the estimated amowmrkfcompleted on each clinical trial. The finalderms of agreements vary from
vendor to vendor and may result in uneven paymewst As such, if we have advanced funds exceedlimgestimate of the work completed,
we record a prepaid asset. If our estimate of thikkwompleted exceeds the amount paid, an acciataitity is recorded. All such costs are
charged to research and development expenses thaskese estimates. Our estimates may or may nohrtfee actual services performed by
the organizations as determined by patient enraitieyels and related activities. We monitor patiemroliment levels and related activities to
the extent possible through internal reviews, @poadence and discussions with our CROs and resfi@antractual terms. However, if we
have incomplete or inaccurate information, we maglarestimate or overestimate activity levels asdediwith various clinical trials at a given
point in time. In this event, we could record sfgraint research and development expenses in fpenieds when the actual level of activities
becomes known. To date, we have not experienceerimathanges in these estimates. Additionallyda@ot expect material adjustments to
research and development expenses to result frammgels in the nature and level of clinical triaivatt and related expenses that are currently
subject to estimation. In the future, as we expaundclinical trial activities, we expect to haveilaased levels of research and development
costs that will be subject to estimation.
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Research and Development Costs

Research and development expenditures are expaasadurred, pursuant to ASC 7&research and Developmer@osts to license
technology to be used in our research and developthat have not reached technological feasibitisfined as regulatory approval for
ILUVIEN or any future products or product candidatand have no alternative future use are expemked incurred. Payments to licensors
that relate to the achievement of preapproval dgreent milestones are recorded as research antbdmeant expense when incurred.

Stock-Based Compensation

We have stock option plans which provide for graftstock options to employees, directors and clbasis or other service providers to
purchase shares of our common stock at exercisespgienerally equal to the fair values of suchkstthe dates of grant. Compensation cost
is recognized for all stock-based awards baseti@grant date fair value in accordance with theigions of ASC 718Compensation —Stocl
Compensation We recognize the grant date fair value as congieEmscost of employee stock-based awards usingtthghtline method ove
the actual vesting period, adjusted for our estémaf forfeiture. Typically, we grant stock optiomih a requisite service period of four years
from the grant date. We have elected to use thekBizholes option pricing model to determine thievialue of stock-based awards.

We concluded that this was the most appropriatéoaeby which to value our share-based payment geraents, but if any share-based
payment instruments should be granted for whictBilaek-Scholes method does not meet the measurementiobjaststated within ASC 71
we will utilize a more appropriate method for valgithat instrument. However, we do not believe #mtinstruments granted to date and
accounted for under ASC 718 would require a metitbdr than the Black-Scholes method.

Our determination of the fair market value of sHaased payment awards on the grant date usingnoydiloation models requires the
input of highly subjective assumptions, includihg expected price volatility and option life. Fbetcalculation of expected volatility, because
we lack significant company-specific historical amplied volatility information, we estimate ourhatility by utilizing an average of
volatilities of publicly traded companies, includiour own, deemed similar to us in terms of progwehposition, stage of lifecycle,
capitalization and scope of operations. We intencbintinue to consistently apply this process ustiigysame index until a sufficient amouni
historical information regarding the volatility ofir own share price becomes available.

To estimate the expected term, we utilize the “siinep” method for “plain vanilla” options as disssed within the Securities and
Exchange Commission’s (SEC) Statement of AccourBinlietin (SAB) 107. We believe that all factorstéd within SAB 107 as pnequisites
for utilizing the simplified method are true for asd for our share-based payment arrangementsniéfadi to utilize the simplified method for
the foreseeable future until more detailed infoioratibout exercise behavior will be more widelyikalde.

Income Taxes

We recognize deferred tax assets and liabilitieseimporary differences between the financial répgrbasis and the tax basis of our
assets and liabilities in accordance with ASC Td€pme TaxesWe evaluate the positive and negative evideneeiigeupon the realizability
of our deferred tax assets on an annual basisifS@m management judgment is involved in deteiimgrthe provision for income taxes,
deferred tax assets and liabilities, and any vedoatllowance recorded against net deferred tagtasBue to uncertainties with respect to the
realization of our deferred tax assets due to @ioty of operating losses, a valuation allowanas been established against our deferred tax
asset balances to reduce the net carrying valae tonount that is more likely than not to be realizAs a result we have fully reserved agains
the deferred tax asset balances. The valuatiowatioes are based on our estimates of taxable ingothe jurisdictions in which we operate
and the period over which deferred tax assetshsillecoverable. In the event that actual resuttsrdrom these estimates or we adjust these
estimates in future periods, a change in the vianalowance may be needed, which could materiallyact our financial position and results
of operations. Our deferred tax assets primarilysisi of net operating loss (NOL) carry-forwards.Dfecember 31, 2013 we had federal NOL
carry-forwards of approximately $82.4 million antdte NOL carry-forwards of approximately $65.8 ioifl, respectively, that are available to
reduce future income otherwise taxable. If noizéd, the federal NOL carry-forwards will expirevairious dates between 2023 and 2033 anc
the state NOL carry-forwards will expire at variadetes between 2020 and 2033. We periodically et@lour NOL carry-forwards and
whether certain changes in ownership have occuiadvould limit our ability to utilize a portionf@ur NOL carry-forwards. If it is
determined that significant ownership changes lweerred since these NOLs were generated, we maytject to annual limitations on the
use of these NOLs under Internal Revenue Code (B¥€)ion 382 (or comparable provisions of staté.lale issuance of the Series A
Convertible Preferred Stock on October 2, 2012 titated such a change in ownership. As a resuhisfchange in ownership, we performe
formal analysis in connection with IRC Section 28 determined that approximately $13.7
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million of our NOLs generated prior to the chang@wnership could not be utilized in the futurer@maining NOLs remain subject to futi
limitation under IRC Section 382.

In the event that we were to determine that weahte to realize any of our net deferred tax asadtse future, an adjustment to the
valuation allowance would increase net income enghriod such determination was made. We belieatethie most significant uncertainty that
will impact the determination of our valuation allance will be our estimation of the extent and tighof future net income, if any.

We considered our income tax positions for uncetyain accordance with ASC 740. We believe our medax filing positions and
deductions are more likely than not of being sustdion audit and do not anticipate any adjustntéatswill result in a material change to our
financial position; therefore, we have not record&C 740 liabilities. We recognize accrued intesgsl penalties related to unrecognized tax
benefits as interest expense and income tax expessgeectively, in our statements of operationg. t&xiyears since 2003 remain subject to
examination in Georgia, Tennessee, and on thedkelsel. We do not anticipate any material chartgesur uncertain tax positions within the
next 12 months.

Foreign Currency Translation

The U.S. dollar is the functional currency of AliraeSciences, Inc. The Euro is the functional cuayefor the majority of our subsidiari
operating outside of the U.S.

Our foreign currency assets and liabilities aregasured into U.S. dollars at end-of-period exchaatgs, except for nonmonetary
balance sheet accounts, which are remeasuredatitas exchange rates. Revenue and expensesraeasared at average exchange rates in
effect during each period, except for those expenslated to the non-monetary balance sheet amowmhish are remeasured at historical
exchange rates. Gains or losses from foreign cayresmeasurement are included in income.

The financial statements of the foreign subsidsavwéose functional currency is not the U.S. ddilave been translated into U.S. Dollars
in accordance with ASC 830-30ranslation of Financial Statement§or the subsidiaries operating outside of the. th& are denominated in
the Euro, assets and liabilities are translatezhdtofperiod rates while revenues and expenses aredtadsit average rates in effect during
period in which the activity took place. Equitytianslated at historical rates and the resultinguative translation adjustments are include
a component of accumulated other comprehensiveriaco
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Results of Operations

The following selected financial and operating dataderived from our financial statements and khbe read in conjunction with
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Finan€iahdition and Results of Operations" and our cadatédd financial statements.

Years Ended December 31,

2013 2012
(In thousands)

NET REVENUE

1,872

COST OF GOODS SOLD (1,869 —
GROSS MARGIN 9 —
RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT EXPENSES 8,42¢ 7,93¢
GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES 9,61: 6,57t
SALES AND MARKETING EXPENSES 16,37: 7,52¢
OPERATING EXPENSES 34,41 22,03¢
INTEREST EXPENSE, NET AND OTHER (5329) (790)
UNREALIZED FOREIGN CURRENCY GAIN, NET 82t —
LOSS ON EARLY EXTINGUISHMENT OF DEBT (159) —
CHANGE IN FAIR VALUE OF DERIVATIVE WARRANT LIABILIT Y (11,969 3,08:
NET LOSS $ (46,229 $ (19,74¢)

Year ended December 31, 2013 compared to the yeded December 31, 2012

Net RevenueNet revenue was $1.9 million for the year endedebgger 31, 2013. We initiated the commercial lausfclL UVIEN in
Germany and the United Kingdom in the second quaft2013 and began recognizing revenue at tha.t@ur revenues for the fiscal year
ended December 31, 2013 were primarily generated product sales in Germany and our product saéee woncentrated to a limited numbel
of customers. Two customers in Europe accountedgproximately 23% of our total consolidated revenfor the year ended December 31,
2013. No other customer accounted for more than dDfévenue in 2013.

Cost of goods soldCost of goods sold was $1.9 million for the yeademhDecember 31, 2013. We initiated the commelaiaich of
ILUVIEN in Germany and the United Kingdom in thecead quarter of 2013 and began recognizing cogbotls sold at that time. Cost of
goods sold was impacted by two inventory issuemduhe year ended December 31, 2013. During an@uanufacturing inspection, we
identified a quality issue related to one of oysiers that affected certain batches of work iogess which we had to write off. This write-off
amounted to $1.4 million. Additionally, we reseneggproximately $400,000 for potential United Kingd@ventory expiration later this year,
as a result of the slower than anticipated laufdh@VIEN in the United Kingdom in 2013 due to aldg in the receipt of positive guidance
from the National Institute of Health and Care Bbarece (NICE) regarding the reimbursement of ILUMIENtil November 2013.

Research and development expenResearch and development expenses increased toxapately $500,000, or 6%, to approximately
$8.4 million for the year ended December 31, 20drdared to approximately $7.9 million for the yeaded December 31, 2012. The incrt
was primarily attributable to $820,000 in costsoasated with contracting medical science liaisansrigage with retina specialists in the study
of ILUVIEN in Germany, the United Kingdom and Fran&470,000 in costs for scientific materials asewganded into Europe, $250,000 in
costs related to preparation for a previously guaied FDA Advisory Committee meeting, $220,00@asts for a five-year, post-authorization,
open label registry study of ILUVIEN in patienteated per the labeled indication in Europe, offsedecreases of $630,000 in costs related t
a consultant engaged to assist with the continuesuit of approval of ILUVIEN in the U.S. and $5000 in costs related to the physician
utilization study which was being conducted to assbe safety and utility of the commercial versibthe applicator for ILUVIEN for which
enrollment was completed in 2012.

General and administrative expensé&neral and administrative expenses increased fimp@mately $3.0 million, or 45%, to
approximately $9.6 million for the year ended Deben31, 2013 compared to approximately $6.6 milfamthe year
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ended December 31, 2012. The increase was prinatilputable to increases of $1.2 million in pensel costs associated with the hiring of a
new managing director of Europe, executive direofdmance and other personnel in the first quasfe2013 as we expanded into Europe,
$700,000 in professional and legal fees associatidthe establishment of our infrastructure andgkanning for our expansion in Europe, anc
the registration of common stock underlying our&eA Convertible Preferred Stock issued in Oct@isr2, $300,000 in costs associated \
our third party logistics provider to support tl@amercialization of ILUVIEN in Europe, $290,0000ffice costs primarily associated with «
new offices in Germany and the United Kingdom, $280 in costs associated with our third party maatufres as we improve the efficiency
of the manufacturing process of ILUVIEN and $160,00 costs for additional product liability insu@nobtained in connection with the
commercial launch of ILUVIEN in the second quaé&f013.

Sales and marketing expenssales and marketing expenses increased by appriakn$s.9 million, or 119%, to approximately $16.4
million for the year ended December 31, 2013 compan approximately $7.5 million for the year endetember 31, 2012. The increase wa
primarily attributable to increases of $5.6 millioncosts associated with contracting with Quist@mmercial for marketing, brand
management, sales promotion and detailing, madatss, pricing and reimbursement support, regylaind communications and/or other
advisory services in the EU, $1.7 million in adigng and promotion costs in connection with thenozercial launch of ILUVIEN in Germany
and the United Kingdom in 2013, $800,000 in pergbensts primarily associated with the hiring offgayees for our wholly owned
subsidiary Alimera Sciences Limited and $280,00tadical marketing costs.

Interest expense, net and othieterest expense, net and other decreased by apiety $260,000, or 33%, to approximately $530,00C
for the year ended December 31, 2013 comparedpimgimately $790,000 for the year ended Decembe@12. Interest expense, net and
other for the year ended December 31, 2013 wasapitininterest expense incurred in connection witin 2010 Term Loan and our 2013 Term
Loan. Interest expense, net and other for the greded December 31, 2012 was primarily interestes@écurred in connection with our 2010
Term Loan. The decrease was primarily attributabllewer principal balances on the 2010 Term Loae t amortization.

Unrealized foreign currency gain, nétnrealized foreign currency gain, net was approxaiye$830,000 for the year ended December
31, 2013. We began marketing ILUVIEN through ouiitdah Kingdom based subsidiary Alimera Sciences tadhin the second quarter of
2013. The 2013 unrealized foreign currency gain prasarily attributable to the strengthening of thero during 2013 and the revaluation of
Alimera Sciences Limited's U.S. dollar denomindiakilities.

Change in fair value of derivative warrant liabylitDuring the year ended December 31, 2013, we rezedra loss of approximately
$12.0 million related to the increase in the fatue of our derivative warrant liability. The chanig fair value was primarily due to an incre
in the fair market value of our underlying commaock during the year ended December 31, 2013.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

To date we have incurred recurring losses, negatigl flow from operations, and have accumulatéefiait of $277.3 million from our
inception through December 31, 2013. We have furmdedperations through the public and private gtaent of common stock, preferred
stock, warrants and convertible debt, the saledhin assets of the ngmescription business in which we were previousigaged, and certa
debt facilities.

On January 31, 2014, we issued an aggregate dd,0@% shares of our common stock for aggregatesgnaxeeds of approximately
$37.5 million, prior to the payment of approximat&R.3 million of related issuance costs and plaa@ragent fees.

On October 2, 2012, we closed a preferred sto@anfimg in which we sold units consisting of 1,000,8hares of Series A Convertible
Preferred Stock and warrants to purchase 300,0@@slof Series A Convertible Preferred Stock fosgproceeds of $40.0 million, prior to
the payment of approximately $460,000 of relatedasice costs.

As of December 31, 2013, we had approximately $ifllifon in cash and cash equivalents. We laundh&tY/IEN in the United
Kingdom and Germany, in April and May of 2013, resfvely, and currently plan to launch ILUVIEN imdhce in 2014. Based on our current
plans, we believe our cash and cash equivalentbg/gufficient to fund our operations beyond thajgcted commercialization of ILUVIEN in
the United Kingdom, France and Germany and theaggdegeneration of positive cash flow from operadiin late 2014, at the earliest, if at
However, the actual amount of funds that we wiktahevill be determined by many factors, some of Whace beyond our control, and we may
need funds sooner than currently anticipated. WWLEN is not approved in additional jurisdictions @oes not generate sufficient revenue, we
may adjust our commercial plans so that we canimoato operate with our existing cash resourceseek to raise additional financing.

In the event additional financing is needed or esiwe may seek to fund our operations througtséthe of equity securities, strategic
collaboration agreements and debt financing. Waatle sure that additional financing from anytafse
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sources will be available when needed or thatdilable, the additional financing will be obtained terms favorable to us or our stockholder:
especially in light of the current difficult finaiat environment. If we raise additional funds bgumg equity securities, substantial dilution to
existing stockholders would likely result and teens of any new equity securities may have a pgafar over our common stock. If we atte

to raise additional funds through strategic coltalion agreements and debt financing, we may naulbeessful in obtaining collaboration
agreements, or in receiving milestone or royaltynpants under those agreements, or the terms afebiemay involve significant cash paymrr
obligations as well as covenants and specific fir@matios that may restrict our ability to commiafize ILUVIEN or any future products or
product candidates or operate our business.

For the twelve months ended December 31, 2013, uwsesthin our operations of $37.8 million was priityedue to our net loss of $46.2
million, offset by a non-cash loss of $12.0 millifar a change in derivative warrant liability anglton-cash charges of $2.5 million for stock
compensation expense, and increased by aash-gain of $830,000 for unrealized foreign curyemansactions. Further decreasing cash v
decrease in accrued expenses and other curreifitibatof $2.6 million and increases in prepaigperses and other current assets of $1.4
million, inventory of $1.0 million and accounts edzable of $480,000. The decrease in accrued erpearsd other current liabilities of $2.6
million was primarily due to decreases of $2.0 imillin amounts paid to Quintiles Commercial, $320,th amounts paid to our EU
advertising agency and our EU pricing consultaB1,06000 in amounts paid to the investigators inaimical studies, $250,000 in amounts
paid to our third party reading center, $250,008rmounts paid for accounting professional feesutliolg audit and tax fees, offset by an
increases of $190,000 in amounts payable for vatisked tax and $100,000 in rebates payable to hesiéhproviders in Germany. The incre
in prepaid expense and other current assets ofrfiillidn was primarily due to increases of $1.3lioil in advances to Quintiles Commercial
during the fourth quarter of 2013.

For the twelve months ended December 31, 2012, wsesthin our operations of $21.2 million was priityadue to our net loss of $19.7
million, increased by a non-cash gain of $3.1 wiillfor a change in derivative warrant liability cdeased by non-cash charges of $1.8 million
for stock compensation expense and other and $320¢0 depreciation and amortization expense anorération of deferred financing costs.
Further increasing our net cash used in operati@re increases in prepaid expenses and other tassets of $1.3 million and inventory of
$720,000, offset by an increase in accrued exparmsther current liabilities of $1.5 million. Theerease in prepaid expense and other
current assets of $1.3 million was primarily duetdeposit with Quintiles Commercial for ongoingriworhe increase in accrued expenses an
other current liabilities was primarily due to irases of $2.4 million in amounts payable to QueatCommercial, $320,000 in amounts
payable to our EU advertising agency, $250,000rinunts payable to our third party reading center$&ti.0,000 in amounts payable to the
investigators in our FAME Study and ancillary otiai studies, offset by decreases of $590,000 iruadc2011 bonuses paid to our employees
during 2012, $520,000 in amounts owed to our vendssociated with the establishment of our U.S.agea care programs in 2011 and paid
in 2012 and $490,000 in amounts paid to our CRQ9IP.

For the year ended December 31, 2013, net cashiused investing activities was approximately $30D, which was primarily due to
the purchase of back-up manufacturing equipment iV I1EN.

For the year ended December 31, 2012, net caslidebtay our investing activities was approximat®hs0,000, which was primarily
due to the maturities of investments in marketableurities.

For the year ended December 31, 2013, net caslideabby our financing activities was approximat®ty7 million, which was primaril
due to proceeds from the 2013 Term Loan of $5.0anibffset by the use of approximately $3.2 miflito repay the 2010 Term Loan.

For the year ended December 31, 2012, net caslidewbby our financing activities was approximat$87.2 million, which was
primarily due to gross proceeds of $40.0 millioonfrthe sale of our Series A Convertible Preferrels offset by $2.5 million of principal
payments on our notes payable to SVB and MidCappagchents of $460,000 of the issuance costs assdaidth the closing of our Series A
Convertible Preferred Stock financing.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We do not have any relationships with unconsolidi@tgtities or financial partnerships, such as iestivften referred to as structured
finance or special purpose entities, that wouldehiasen established for the purpose of facilitatifidpalance sheet arrangements (as that ternr
is defined in Item 303(a)(4)(ii) of Regulation S-&) other contractually narrow or limited purpos&s.such, we are not exposed to any
financing, liquidity, market or credit risk thatuld arise if we had engaged in those types ofiozahips. We enter into guarantees in the
ordinary course of business related to the guagasiteur own performance and the performance ofabsidiaries.

New Accounting Pronouncements
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From time to time, new accounting pronouncemerdgssaued by the Financial Accounting Standards ®&aarFASB, or other standard
setting bodies that are adopted by us as of thafmmkeffective date. Unless otherwise discussezibelieve that the impact of recently issued
standards that are not yet effective will not haweaterial impact on our financial position or lesof operations upon adoption.

In March 2013, the FASB issued Accounting Stand#pdate (ASU) No. 2013-0%arent's Accounting for the Cumulative Translation
Adjustment upon Derecognition of Certain Subsidisudr Groups of Assets within a Foreign Entity bao Investment in a Foreign Ent
(ASU 2013-05), which applies to the release ofdiulative translation adjustment resulting fromtaia events occurring in foreign
subsidiaries. ASU 2013-05 is effective for fiscahys, and interim reporting periods within thosargebeginning on or after December 15,
2012. The adoption of ASU 2018 did not have a material impact on our consadiddinancial statements. In February 2013, the FAsSBe(
ASU No. 2013-02Reporting of Amounts Reclassified Out of AccumdI|@tther Comprehensive Incor®SU 2013-02), which adds new
disclosure requirements for items reclassifiedadwtccumulated other comprehensive income. ASU LB effective for fiscal years, and
interim reporting periods within those years, begig on or after December 15, 2012. The adoptioASI 2013-02 did not have a material
impact on our consolidated financial statements.
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ITEM 7A. QUALITATIVE AND QUANTITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK
Not applicable.
ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

The consolidated financial statements and reladedalidated financial statement schedules requardx filed are indexed on page 67
and are incorporated herein.

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

On August 23, 2012, the audit committee of our BazrDirectors dismissed Deloitte & Touche LLP as mdependent registered put
accounting firm, effective as of August 23, 2012Iditte & Touche LLP's report on our consolidatefcial statements for the fiscal year
ended December 31, 2011 contained an explanatoagizgh regarding our ability to continue as a ga@iancern. Other than such statement,
no report of Deloitte & Touche LLP on our consotetdfinancial statements for the fiscal year endedember 31, 2011 contained an adverse
opinion or disclaimer of opinion, or was qualifiedmodified as to uncertainty, audit scope or antiog principles. During the fiscal year
ended December 31, 2011 and through August 23,,26&& were no disagreement(s) with Deloitte & dfmLLP on any matter of
accounting principles or practices, consolidatedricial statement disclosure or auditing scopearguiure, which disagreement(s), if not
resolved to the satisfaction of Deloitte & ToucHhePl, would have caused Deloitte & Touche LLP to me#ference to the subject matter of the
disagreement in connection with its reports onamnsolidated financial statements.

On August 23, 2012, the audit committee of our BazrDirectors approved the engagement of Grantftba LLP as our independent
registered public accounting firm, subject to Grainbrnton LLP's acceptance of such engagement. i@ugt 27, 2012, we formally engaged
Grant Thornton LLP as our independent registerddipaccounting firm.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation of our Clagécutive Officer and our Chief Financial Officeyaluated the effectiveness of our
disclosure controls and procedures as of Decenthe2@®.3. The term “disclosure controls and procesitias defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and
15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act, means controls amer grocedures of a company that are designedstoreithat information required to
disclosed by a company in the reports that it filesubmits under the Exchange Act is recorded;gs®ed, summarized and reported, within
the time periods specified in the SEC's rules amthk. Disclosure controls and procedures includtiowt limitation, controls and procedures
designed to ensure that information required tdibelosed by a company in the reports that it filesubmits under the Exchange Act is
accumulated and communicated to the company’s neanegt, including its principal executive and prpatifinancial officers, as appropriate
to allow timely decisions regarding required disciee. Management recognizes that any controls eowég@ures, no matter how well designed
and operated, can provide only reasonable assuddiraahieving their objectives and management rezaég applies its judgment in evaluat
the cost-benefit relationship of possible conteoidl procedures. Based on the evaluation of oulodisie controls and procedures as of
December 31, 2013, our Chief Executive Officer @ikf Financial Officer concluded that, as of sdele, our disclosure controls and
procedures were effective at the reasonable assitawvel.

Management’s Report on Internal Control over Finandal Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishingnaaidtaining adequate internal control over finah@aorting. Internal control over
financial reporting is defined in Rules 13a-15(fidal5d45(f) under the Exchange Act as a process desigyear under the supervision of, ¢
principal executive and principal financial officend effected by our board of directors, managemedtother personnel, to provide reason
assurance regarding the reliability of financigdoging and the preparation of financial statemémt&xternal purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles and iredutiose policies and procedures that:

. pertain to the maintenance of records that in measie detail accurately and fairly reflect the sactions and dispositions of
assets;
. Provide reasonable assurance that transactiereeorded as necessary to permit preparatioimafdial statements in

accordance with generally accepted accounting iplew; and that our receipts and expenditures @irggbmade only in
accordance with authorizations of our managemeshidaectors; and
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. provide reasonable assurance regarding preveatibmely detection of unauthorized acquisitiose or disposition of our
assets that could have a material effect on oanfifal statements.

Under the supervision and with the participatioomafnagement, including our principal executive fimancial officers, we assessed our
internal control over financial reporting as of Betber 31, 2013, based on criteria for effectiverimil control over financial reporting
established in the 1992 Internal Control — InteggdaEramework issued by the Committee of Sponsdirganizations of the Treadway
Commission (COSOQ).

Based on this assessment, our management conchatadle maintained effective internal control ofieancial reporting as of
December 31, 2013 based on the specified criteria.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reportirg

There has been no change in our internal contret fimancial reporting (as defined in Rules 13af1&fd 15d-15(f) of the Exchange
Act) during the fourth quarter of 2013 that hasenatly affected, or is reasonably likely to maadisi affect, our internal control over financial
reporting.

Limitations on the Effectiveness of Controls

Control systems, no matter how well conceived goerated, are designed to provide a reasonabl@dbain absolute, level of assurance
that the objectives of the control system are fretther, the design of a control system must reflee fact that there are resource constraints,
and the benefits of controls must be consideretivel to their costs. Because of the inherent &étiahs in all control systems, no evaluation of
controls can provide absolute assurance that attalissues and instances of fraud, if any, haaentdetected. Because of the inherent
limitations in any control system, misstatements ttuerror or fraud may occur and not be detected.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

None.
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PART Il
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNACE

Information required under this item will be comil in the Company’s Proxy Statement for the AniMéting of Stockholders to be
filed with the SEC within 120 days after the endha fiscal year ended December 31, 2013, underahptons “Election of Directors,”
“Executive Officers,” “Corporate Governance,” arfégttion 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Coampdie” and is incorporated herein by
reference pursuant to General Instruction G(3)aorF10-K.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Information required under this item will be comtadl in the Company’s Proxy Statement for the Anheting of Stockholders to be
filed with the SEC within 120 days after the endtad fiscal year ended December 31, 2013, underghons “Corporate Governance” and
“Executive Compensation,” and is incorporated hrelsi reference pursuant to General Instruction &Form 10-K, except that information
required by Item 407(e)(5) of Regulation S-K wid Heemed furnished in this Form KGand will not be deemed incorporated by referante
any filing under the Securities Act of 1933 or Becurities Exchange Act of 1934, except to thertteat we specifically incorporate it by
reference into such filing.

ITEM 12, SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS ANDMANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER
MATTERS

Except for the information set forth below, theommhation required under this item will be contaimethe Company’s Proxy Statement
for the Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be fileiih the SEC within 120 days after the end of tlsedl year ended December 31, 2013,
under the caption “Security Ownership by Certaim&eial Owners and Management” and is incorpor&iemin by reference pursuant to
General Instruction G(3) to Form 10-K.

Equity Compensation Plan Information

The following table provides information as of Dedwer 31, 2013, with respect to shares of our comstock that may be issued, sub
to certain vesting requirements, under our existiggity compensation plans, including our 2010 Bgluicentive Plan (2010 Plan), 2005
Equity Incentive Plan (2005 Plan), 2004 Equity mdee Plan (2004 Plan) and our 2010 Employee Skigichase Plan (ESPP).

A B c

Number of Securities
Remaining Available

Number of Securities for Future Issuance
to be Issued Upon Weighted-Average Under Equity Compensation
Exercise of Exercise Price of Plans (Excluding Securities
Outstanding Options, Outstanding Options, Reflected in
Plan Category Warrants, and Rights Warrants, and Rights Column (A)
Equity compensation plans approved by security
holders 7,566,431 (1) $ 2.74 548,60¢ (2)
Equity compensation plans not approved by security
holders — — —
Total 7,566,43: $ 2.74 548,60

(1) Of these shares, 5,688,650 were subject iormpthen outstanding under the 2010 Plan, 1,58A88e subject to options then
outstanding under the 2005 Plan and 290,399 wédijedto options then outstanding under the 2064 Pl

(2) Represents 80,310 shares of common stockadaifor issuance under our 2010 Plan and 468 2&&s of common stock available
for issuance under our ESPP. No shares are awalflabfuture issuance under the 2005 Plan or 208d. I addition, our 2010 Plan
provides for annual increases in the number ofeshavailable for issuance thereunder on the fagtal each fiscal year equal to the
least of: (1) 2,000,000 shares of our common st(@k4% of the shares of common stock outstandirlad time; and (3) such other
amount as our board of directors may determineJ@wary 1, 2014, an additional 1,264,440 sharesnbe@vailable for future
issuance under our 2010 Plan in accordance withrtheal increase. In addition, our ESPP provideafiaual increases in the num
of shares available for issuance thereunder equaldh number of shares necessary to restore thberwf shares reserved
thereunder to 494,422 shares of our common stoglsugh, on January 1, 2014, an additional 26,18f:stbecame available for
future issuance under our ESPP. These additiomaéstrom the annual increase under the 2010 Rldthe ESPP are not includec
the table above.
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ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, ANCDIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

Information required under this item will be comdl in the Company’s Proxy Statement for the AniMéting of Stockholders to be
filed with the SEC within 120 days after the endtad fiscal year ended December 31, 2013, undesghtions “Corporate Governance” and

“Certain Relationships and Related Persons Traioseitand is incorporated herein by reference pamsto General Instruction G(3) to Form
10-K.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

Information required under this item will be comtadl in the Company’s Proxy Statement for the Anheting of Stockholders to be
filed with the SEC within 120 days after the endtdd fiscal year ended December 31, 2013, undergpton “Ratification of Selection of
Independent Regist ered Public Accounting Firm” snicicorporated herein by reference pursuant toe@# Instruction G(3) to Form 10-K.
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PART IV
ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS SCHEDULES

The consolidated financial statements filed as pftitis annual report on Form 10-K are listed amtéxed at page 67. Certain schedules
are omitted because they are not applicable, oregptired, or because the required informationétuided in the consolidated financial
statements or notes thereto.

The Exhibits listed in the Exhibit Index immediagt@receding the Exhibits are filed as part of #niswual report on Form 10-K.
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Signatures
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 and) B (he Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the tegig has duly caused this annual
report on Form 10-K to be signed on its behalftisyundersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in Alptta, Georgia, on March 6, 2014 .

ALIMERA SCIENCES, INC.

By: /sl C. Daniel Myers

President and Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the SecuritiesoA&034, this annual report on Form 10-K has bégmesl below by the following
persons on behalf of the registrant and in thea#pa and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date

/sl C. Daniel Myers President, Chief Executive Officer and Director March 6, 2014

C. Daniel Myers (Principal Executive Officer)

/sl Richard S. Eiswirth, Jr. Chief Operating Officer and Chief Financial Officer March 6, 2014
- — (Principal Financial Officer

Richard S. Eiswirth, Jr. and Principal Accounting Officer)

/s/ Philip R. Tracy Chairman of the Board of Directors March 6, 2014

Philip R. Tracy

/sl Mark J. Brooks Director March 6, 2014

Mark J. Brooks

/s/ Brian K. Halak, Ph.D. Director March 6, 2014
Brian K. Halak, Ph.D.

/sl James R. Largent. Director March 6, 2014
James R. Largent

/sl Peter J. Pizzo, Il Director March 6, 2014
Peter J. Pizzo, Il

/sl Calvin W. Roberts, M.D. Director March 6, 2014
Calvin W. Roberts, M.D.

/sl Glen Bradley, Ph.D. Director March 6, 2014
Glen Bradley, Ph.D.

/sl Garheng Kong, M.D., Ph.D. Director March 6, 2014
Garheng Kong, M.D., Ph.D.

65




Table of Contents

ALIMERA SCIENCES, INC.
INDEX TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounfinm

Consolidated Financial Statements as of Decemhe2@®13 and 2012 and for the years ended Decemb@03B and 2012:

Consolidatedalance Sheets
Consolidatedstatements of Operations
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss

Consolidatedtatements of Changes in Stockholdépeficit) Equity

Consolidatedstatements of Cash Flows
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

66

Page

67

68
69
70
71
72
73




Table of Contents
REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Aliem&ciences, Inc.,

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balaheets of Alimera Sciences, Inc. (a Delawar@aration) and subsidiaries (
“Company”)as of December 31, 2013 and 2012, and the relatesbtidated statements of operations, comprehenmsieene (loss), changes
stockholders’ equity (deficit), and cash flows thie years then ended. These financial statemeatshar responsibility of the Company’
management. Our responsibility is to express aniopion these financial statements based on outsaud

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstats of the Public Company Accounting OversighamBioUnited States). Those stand.
require that we plan and perform the audit to ebta@asonable assurance about whether the finaptaggments are free of mate
misstatement. We were not engaged to perform ait afidhe Companys internal control over financial reporting. Ourdés includet
consideration of internal control over financiapogting as a basis for designing audit procedurasdre appropriate in the circumstances
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion onetffiectiveness of the Compasyinternal control over financial reporting. Accmgly, we
express no such opinion. An audit also includesniximg, on a test basis, evidence supporting theusms and disclosures in the finan
statements, assessing the accounting principles arsg significant estimates made by managementelisas evaluating the overall financ
statement presentation. We believe that our apditgide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetaeeferred to above present fairly, in all matergspects, the financial position of Alim:
Sciences, Inc. and subsidiaries as of DecembeR@3 and 2012, and the results of their operaténts their cash flows for the years t
ended in conformity with accounting principles gealy accepted in the United States of America.

The accompanying consolidated financial statemleat® been prepared assuming the Company will amsts a going concern. As discu
in Note 3 to the consolidated financial statemettits,Company reported a net loss of $46.2 millantfie year ended December 31, 2013
used cash in operating activities of $37.8 millidhese conditions, along with the other matterseisorth in Note 3, raise substantial dc
about its ability to continue as a going concermnisigemensg plans in regards to these matters are also disdus Note 3. The consolida
financial statements do not include any adjustmtrasmight result from the outcome of this undetta

/ s/ GRANT THORNTON LLP

Atlanta, Georgia
March 6, 2014
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ALIMERA SCIENCES, INC.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2013 AND 2012

December 31,

2013 2012
(In thousands, except share and per share
data)
CURRENT ASSETS:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 12,62¢ % 49,56¢
Accounts receivable 50C —
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 3,47¢ 2,02¢
Inventory, net (Note 4) 1,78¢ 71¢
Deferred financing costs 25C 9t
Total current assets 18,63¢ 52,40°
PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT — at cost less accumulatedrdciation 982 114
TOTAL ASSETS $ 19,62( $ 52,52:
CURRENT LIABILITIES:
Accounts payable $ 1,73t % 1,97¢
Accrued expenses (Note 6) 934 1,17¢
Outsourced services payable 603 2,61¢
Note payable (Note 8) 1,667 2,27:
Capital lease obligations 10 6
Total current liabilities 4,94¢ 8,041
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES:
Derivative warrant liability 16,381 4,41¢
Note payable — less current portion (Note 8) 3,194 703
Other non-current liabilities 21 20¢

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (Note 9)
STOCKHOLDERS' (DEFICIT) EQUITY:
Preferred stock, $.01 par value — 10,000,000 stearg®rized at December 31, 2013 and 20

Series A convertible preferred stock, 1,300,000 @rized and 1,000,000 issued and outstanding
at December 31, 2013 and 2012; liquidation prefezeasf $40,000 at December 31, 2013 and
2012 32,04t 32,04t

Common stock, $.01 par value — 100,000,000 shargmazed, 31,610,991 shares issued ar
outstanding at December 31, 2013 and 31,541,28@éslesued and outstanding at Decembel

2012 31€ 31t
Additional paid-in capital 240,13! 237,48!
Common stock warrants 412 41°
Accumulated deficit (277,349 (231,119
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (48¢) —
TOTAL STOCKHOLDERS' (DEFICIT) EQUITY (4,925 39,14
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ (DEFICIT) EQUITY $ 19,62( $ 52,52:

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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ALIMERA SCIENCES, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2013 AND 2012

Years Ended December 31,

2013 2012

(In thousands, except share and per share
data)

NET REVENUE $ 1,87 $ —
COST OF GOODS SOLD (1,869 —
GROSS MARGIN 9 —
RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT EXPENSES 8,42¢ 7,93¢
GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES 9,61: 6,57¢
SALES AND MARKETING EXPENSES 16,37 7,52¢
OPERATING EXPENSES 34,41 22,03¢
INTEREST EXPENSE AND OTHER (539 (790)
UNREALIZED FOREIGN CURRENCY GAIN, NET 82t —
LOSS ON EARLY EXTINGUISHMENT OF DEBT (159) —
CHANGE IN FAIR VALUE OF DERIVATIVE WARRANT LIABILIT Y (11,969 3,08:
NET LOSS (46,229 (19,744
BENEFICIAL CONVERSION FEATURE OF PREFERRED STOCKQNE 10) (4,950) —
NET LOSS APPLICABLE TO COMMON STOCKHOLDERS $ (51,179 $ (19,744
NET LOSS PER SHARE APPLICABLE TO COMMON STOCKHOLDBR- Basic and

diluted $ (1.62) $ (0.69)
WEIGHTED AVERAGE SHARES OUTSTANDING — Basic and aiiéd 3157955 31.462,12

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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ALIMERA SCIENCES, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2013 AND 2012

Years Ended December 31,

2013 2012
NET LOSS $ (46,229 $ (19,746
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
Foreign currency translation adjustments (48¢) —
TOTAL OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS (48¢) —
COMPREHENSIVE LOSS $ (46,71) $ (19,749

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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ALIMERA SCIENCES, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS' (DEFICIT) EQUITY

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2013 AND 2012

Accumulated

Common Stock Preferred Stock Additional Other
Paid-In Common Accumulated Comprehensive
Shares Amount Shares Amount Capital Warrants Deficit Loss Total
(In thousands, except share data)

BALANCE — December 31, 201 31,427,35 314 — 3 — $ 23561 $ 41t $ (211,370 $ — $ 2497
Issuance of common stock 79,88¢ 1 — — 37 — — — 3€
Exercise of stock options 34,04 — — — 52 — — — 52
Issuance of preferred stock,
net of issuance costs o —  1,000,00 32,04 o o o o 32,04
Stock-based compensation - -
expense — — — — 1,771 — — — 1,777
Net loss — — — — — — (19,74¢) — (29,74¢)

BALANCE — December 31, 201 31,541,28 31t 1,000,001 32,04t 237,48! 41¢ (231,11 $ — 39,14«
Issuance of common stock 26,12: — — — 53 — — — 53
Exercise of stock options 43,58. 1 — — 71 — — — 72
Modification of common
stock warrants o o o o o a€ o o a€
Forfeiture of common stock Q
warrants o o o o & e T T o
Intrinsic value of beneficial
conversion feature - - - (4,950 495 - - - -
Accretion of beneficial
conversion feature T T T “Esl 250 T T T T
Stock-based compensation — — — 2,47 — — — 2,47
Net loss — — — — — — (46,229 — (46,229
Foreign currency translation _ _ _ _ _ -
adjustments (48¢) (489)

BALANCE — December 31, 201 31,610,99 31€ 1,000,000 $ 32,048 $ 240,13" $ 41z  $ (277,34 $ (48¢) $ (4,92Y)

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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ALIMERA SCIENCES, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2013 AND 2012

Years Ended December 31,

2013

2012

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:

(In thousands)

Net loss $ (46,229 $ (19,74¢
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cashigeal by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 13¢ 10€
Inventory reserve 41C —
Unrealized foreign currency transaction gain (825) —
Amortization of deferred financing costs and debtodunt 15¢ 21t
Loss on early extinguishment of debt 152 —
Stock option expense, net of taxes paid 2,471 1,777
Change in fair value of derivative warrant lialyilit 11,96¢ (3,089
Changes in assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable (48%) —
Prepaid expenses and other current assets (1,355 (1,337
Inventory (1,41¢ (719
Accounts payable (259) 25
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities (2,347 1,49¢
Other long-term liabilities (20¢) 81
Net cash used in operating activities (37,82) (21,18)
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Proceeds from maturities of investments — 50C
Purchases of property and equipment (979) (23
Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities (97%) 477
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Proceeds from exercise of stock options 72 52
Proceeds from sale of common stock 53 38
Proceeds from issuance of Series A Convertiblesied Stock — 40,00(
Payment of Series A Convertible Preferred Stockroffy costs — (45E)
Proceeds from issuance of notes payable (Note 8) 5,00( —
Payment of debt issuance costs (Note 8) (297) —
Payment of principal on notes payable (3,169 (2,462
Payments on capital lease obligations (1) (22
Net cash provided by financing activities 1,65¢ 37,16:
EFFECT OF EXCHANGE RATES ON CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENs 204 —
NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENT (36,93¢) 16,45¢
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS — Beginning of year 49,56+ 33,10¢
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS — End of year $ 12,62¢ % 49,56¢
SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES:
Cash paid for interest $ 607 $ 54¢
Cash paid for employee taxes upon vesting of R 11) $ — 48
Supplemental schedule of noncash investing anading activities:
Property and equipment acquired under capital tease $ 33 % —

There were no income tax or dividend payments nfiadihe years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012.

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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ALIMERA SCIENCES, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1.NATURE OF OPERATIONS

Alimera Sciences, Inc., and its wholbyvned subsidiaries, (the Company) is a biopharntaxadcompany that specializes in the resee
development, and commercialization of ophthalmiarpiaceuticals. The Company was formed on June08 @fder the laws of the State of
Delaware.

The Company is presently focused on diseases iffieitte back of the eye, or retina, because thepaoyis management believes these
diseases are not well treated with current thesagig represent a significant market opportunibe Tompany’s only commercial product is
ILUVIEN®, which has received marketing authorizatio the United Kingdom, Austria, Portugal, FranGermany and Spain, and has been
recommended for marketing authorization in Itaty, the treatment of vision impairment associatetth whronic diabetic macular edema
(DME) considered insufficiently responsive to aghble therapies. As part of the approval proce$sése countries, the Company has
committed to conduct a five -year, post-author@atiopen label registry study of ILUVIEN in 800 ieatts treated per the labeled indication.

The Company launched ILUVIEN in the United Kingdamd Germany in April and May of 2013, respectivelyd currently plans to
launch ILUVIEN in France in 2014. To date, the nmtyoof the Company’s sales have been in Germahg. Company was able to launch in
Germany without price restrictions, but continugsvbrk with the statutory health insurance fund&ermany to streamline reimbursement for
ILUVIEN.

In January 2013, the United Kingdom’s National itas¢ for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) puldidhinal guidance for England
and Wales indicating that ILUVIEN does not satisfyCE's definition of cost effectiveness for theatiraent of vision impairment associated
with chronic DME considered insufficiently resporsio available therapies given the cost of £5,5D0e Company submitted a simple pat
access scheme (PAS) for ILUVIEN to NICE for consadi®n under its rapid review facility. In Octol2013, the NICE Appraisal Committee
issued a positive Final Appraisal Determinatiororemending ILUVIEN funding for the treatment of pdephakic eyes (eyes with an artific
lens) in chronic DME patients that are insufficlgmesponsive to available therapies and the fieahnology appraisal guidance was publishe
in November 2013.The final draft guidance revethespublished guidance issued by NICE in January2@id takes into consideration the
PAS. NICE requires clinical commissioning groupstibinal Health Service (NHS) England and Wales, landl public health authorities to
comply with the recommendations in the final guidawithin three months of its date of publicatiBarther, in February 2014, the Scottish
Medicines Consortium, after completing its assesdrand review of a similar simple PAS, announced th has accepted ILUVIEN for
restricted use within the NHS Scotland.

In July 2013, the Transparency Commission (Commisde la Transparence or CT) of the French Natiblealth Authority (Haute
Autorite de Sante) issued a favorable opinion lierreimbursement and hospital listing of ILUVIEN ttne French National Health Insurance
for the treatment of chronic DME considered instiéfntly responsive to available therapies. In thimion, ILUVIEN was deemed as providil
a "moderate medical benefit" as defined by the iBeMedical Rendu. As a result, when the Compamgexgon a price with the French
authorities, patients will be reimbursed for 10084he@ cost of ILUVIEN under the Affection de LongDairee, a specific program for severe
chronic diseases such as diabetes. When compagrginical benefit of ILUVIEN to existing theragi€dAmelioration du Service Medical
Rendu or ASMR), the CT rated the product at "léV&lwhich will be used in considering the price aauay reimbursement conditions for
ILUVIEN in France.

In September 2013, the Company submitted an apiplicto the Medicines and Healthcare Products Regunl Agency (MHRA) in the
United Kingdom, as the Reference Member Stategivadditional European Union (EU) country apprevhtough the Mutual Recognition
Procedure.

The Company submitted a New Drug Application (ND#)June 2010 for ILUVIEN in the U.S. with the USood and Drug
Administration (FDA). The Company resubmitted itBAin May 2011 and April 2013 to address matteisaa in the FDA's Complete
Response Letters (CRLSs) relating to the NDA. Indber 2013, the Company received a third CRL froenRDA stating that the NDA could
not be approved in its current form. In the thifdlC the FDA identified clinical and statistical @@éncies and indicated that the benefits of
ILUVIEN did not outweigh its risks. Further, the Alalso indicated that results from a new clinica@ltwould need to be submitted, together
with at least 12 months of follow-up data for airelled patients, to support certain indicationsvwusly discussed with the FDA. The FDA
suggested that a meeting with the Dermatologic@picthalmic Drugs Advisory Committee may be of asasise in addressing the deficiencies
identified above and providing advice whether agmaitpopulation can be identified in which the bigseof the drug product might outweigh
the risks. In the third CRL, the FDA also referathdeficiencies in the methods and controls useth®drug product at the facility where
ILUVIEN is manufactured. The Company does not badithat these deficiencies will affect its Europeammercial supply. The Company
its third-party manufacturer are in the procesgeablving these deficiencies.
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ALIMERA SCIENCES, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Conti nued)

The Company was notified of a January 2014 meetirije Advisory Committee, shortly after the issceof the third CRL. In a
subsequent communication with the FDA, the Comgaalieves it clarified that the purpose of the AdvisCommittee meeting was to
consider the benefits and risks of ILUVIEN basecdegisting data available from its FAME Study. Fuertldiscussion with the FDA in
preparation for the Advisory Committee resultedbineling discussions for ILUVIEN, and the Compamyg dahe FDA agreed that the Advisory
Committee was no longer necessary. The Compangdat® submit a response to the third CRL in tts §uarter of 2014 to include a new
proposed label, address concerns the FDA raiseddieg the facility at which ILUVIEN is manufactuteand provide a safety update on
ILUVIEN, which will include data from ILUVIEN patiets and from physician experience with the ILUVIBpplicator in the United Kingdom
and Germany, where ILUVIEN is currently commergialailable. The FDA has indicated that the Compaitiynot be required to conduct
any new clinical trials in connection with the FBAkview of this submission.
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ALIMERA SCIENCES, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Conti nued)

2.SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The following accounting policies relate primaritythe continuing operations of the Company:

Use of Estimates in Financial StatementsThe financial statements have been preparedrifoomity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of Ameaitd, as such, include amounts based on informedatss and judgments of management.
Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Principles of Consolidatior— The consolidated financial statements includeaiteounts of Alimera Sciences, Inc. and all wholly-
owned subsidiaries. All significant inter-compargldnces have been eliminated in consolidation.

Cash and Cash Equivalents Cash and cash equivalents include cash and higjligdlinvestments that are readily convertible
cash and have a maturity of 90 days or less whethpeed. Generally, cash and cash equivalentsahélthncial institutions are in excess of
federally insured limits. The Company limits itp@sure to credit loss by placing its cash and egsitivalents in highly liquid investments w
high quality financial institutions. Cash and casjuivalents were approximately $12,628,000 and3B49000at December 31, 2013 and 20
respectively, with approximately 100.0% of thesabees held in U.S. based financial institutions.

Revenue Recognitier- The Company recognizes revenue from its prodalessvhen title passes and the risks and reward of
ownership have passed to the customer based aderthe of sale. Title passes generally upon shipmieapon receipt by the customer
depending on the agreement with the customer. $&rétiormation regarding the receipt of producthey customer is not always readily
available. In these cases, the Company estimagedatie of receipt based upon shipping policiesdnggaphic location. In the Company's
current commercial markets of Germany and the driimgdom, its shipping policies require deliventhin 24 hours of shipment in most
instances. Taxes that are collected from custoartsemitted to governmental authorities are nduited in revenue.

Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Doubtful Aot®— Accounts receivable are generated through salesply to
pharmacies, hospitals and wholesalers which beg20613. The company does note require collateoah its customers for accounts
receivable. The carrying amount of accounts retd#évs reduced by an allowance for doubtful accetimat reflects management's best
estimate of the amounts that will not be collectacaddition to reviewing delinquent accounts reable, management considers many factors
in estimating its general allowance, including diigtal data, experience, customer types, credithiress, and economic trends. From time to
time, management may adjust its assumptions facipated changes in any of those or other factopeeted to affect collectability. Provisio
for doubtful accounts are charged to operatiortkeatime management determines these accounts eecayne uncollectable. The Company
writes off accounts receivable when managementmétes they are uncollectable and credits payrmmtisequently received on such
receivables to bad debt expense in the periodvedeThere were no write-offs for the year endedddeber 31, 2013 and no allowance for
doubtful accounts at December 31, 2013.

Inventory— Inventories are stated at the lower of cost orketawith cost determined under the first in, fiost (FIFO) method.
Included in inventory costs are component partskvire-progress and finished goods. The Compangsesn third party manufacturers for the
production of all inventory and does not capitabizgy internal costs. The Company periodically regiénventories for excess or obsolete
inventory and writes down obsolete or otherwise arkatable inventory to its estimated net realizaflee. If the actual net realizable value is
less than that estimated, or if there are any éurtleterminations that inventory will not be masgt#é based on estimates of demand, addition
inventory write-downs will be required.

Samples— Samples consist of ILUVIEN applicators and apgioc components to be used in the Company's satemarketing
efforts and are included in prepaid expenses dmer @urrent assets in the Company's consolidatesidmsheets. Samples will be expensed
upon distribution as a selling expense. Samplentorees included in prepaid expenses and otheenuassets at December 31, 2013 and <
were $14,000 and $65,000 , respectively.

Long-Lived Assets- Property and equipment are stated at cost. Additand improvements are capitalized while reaits
maintenance are expensed. Depreciation is prodddtie straightine method over the useful life of the relatededsHeginning when the as
is placed in service. The estimated useful livethefindividual assets are as follows: furniturd &rtures and manufacturing equipment, five
years; office equipment and leasehold improvements, 2aths to five years ; and software, three years .

Impairment— Property and equipment and intangible asseteeaiewed for impairment whenever events or chamnges
circumstances indicate that the carrying amouino@isset may not be recoverable. When indicatdrepdirment are present, the Company
evaluates the carrying amount of such assetsatioalto the operating performance and future
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estimated undiscounted net cash flows expected treherated by the assets. If such assets aralemgito be impaired, the impairment to be
recognized is measured by the amount by whichdhgriog amount of the assets exceeds the fair \altiee assets. The assessment of the
recoverability of assets will be impacted if estiethfuture operating cash flows are not achieved.

Income Taxes— In accordance with the Financial Accounting Stadd Board (FASB) Accounting Standard CodificatiasC)
740,Income Taxesthe Company recognizes deferred tax assets apitities for temporary differences between thaficial reporting basis
and the tax basis of its assets and liabilitie® CTbhmpany records a valuation allowance againgeitsleferred tax asset to reduce the net
carrying value to an amount that is more likelyntimat to be realized.

Income tax positions are considered for uncertamgccordance with ASC 740-10. The Company be$iglat its income tax
filing positions and deductions will be sustainedaudit and does not anticipate any adjustmentsatitiaresult in a material change to its
financial position; therefore, no ASC 740-liabilities have been recorded. The Company meibgnize accrued interest and penalties relat
unrecognized tax benefits, if any, as interest egpaand income tax expense, respectively, in thedliolated statements of operations.

Significant management judgment is involved in dataing the provision for income taxes, deferreddasets and liabilities, and
any valuation allowance recorded against net dedeiax assets. Due to uncertainties with respetitetoealization of deferred tax assets as a
result of the Company's history of operating losaegluation allowance has been established aghmentire net deferred tax asset balance.
The valuation allowance is based on managemerittaaes of taxable income in the jurisdictions ihieh the Company operates and the
period over which deferred tax assets will be recable. In the event that actual results diffenfithese estimates or the Company adjusts
these estimates in future periods, a change imahmtion allowance may be needed, which could rislgimpact the Company’s financial
position and results of operations.

Research and Development CostsResearch and development costs are expenseduaigeih

Stock-Based Compensation The Company has stock option plans which profadegrants of stock options to employees and
directors to purchase shares of the Company’s canstazk at exercise prices generally equal todivevhlues of such stock at the dates of
grant. Compensation cost is recognized for allestased awards based on the grant date fair valecordance with the provisions of ASC
718,Compensation — Stock Compensatidihe fair values for the options are estimatetth@tdates of grant using a Black-Scholes option-
pricing model.

Additionally, the Company sponsors an employeekspacchase plan under which employees may eleabfpayithholdings to
fund purchases of the Company’s stock at a discdum Company estimates the fair value of the apiiopurchase shares of the Company’s
common stock using the Black-Scholes valuation rhadé recognizes compensation expense in accordetitéhe provisions of ASC 718-
50, Employee Share Purchase Plans

Derivative Financial Instruments- The Company generally does not use derivativieuineents to hedge exposures to cash flow c
market risks. However, certain warrants to purcl&esges A convertible Preferred Stock or commouokstbat do not meet the requirements
classification as equity, in accordance with theidives and Hedging Topic of the ASC, are clasdifs liabilities. In such instances, cast
settlement is assumed for financial reporting pegsp even when the terms of the underlying costideinot provide for a net-cash settlement
These warrants are considered derivative instrusregtause the agreements provide for settlem&sries A Convertible Preferred Shares ol
common shares at the option of the holder, an adprit to the warrant exercise price for commoneshat some point in the future, and
contain antidilution provisions whereby the number of sharesiafbich the warrants are exercisable and/or theceseprice of the warrants ¢
subject to change in the event of certain issuaotetck at prices below the then-effective exarqrice of the warrants. The primary
underlying risk exposure pertaining to the warrasmthe change in fair value of the underlying coonnstock. Such financial instruments are
initially recorded at fair value with subsequenabes in fair value recorded as a component ofgghanfair value of derivative warrant
liability in the consolidated statements of opemasi in each reporting period. If these instrumentssequently meet the requirements for equit
classification, the Company reclassifies the failue to equity. At December 31, 2013 and 2012 ghesrrants represented the only
outstanding derivative instruments issued or hglthe Company.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments- The carrying amounts of the Company’s finanaiatiuments, including cash and cash
equivalents and current liabilities approximatertfesr value because of their short maturitiese Weighted average interest rate of the
Company’s note payable to Silicon Valley Bank apprates the rate at which the Company could otatiernative financing; therefore, the
carrying amount of the note approximates the faiu@. The Company uses the Black-Scholes optimingrimodel and assumptions that
consider, among other variables, the fair valuhefunderlying
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stock, risk-free interest rate, volatility, expeattde and dividend rates in estimating fair vafoethe warrants considered to be derivative
instruments.

Translation Policy -The U.S. dollar is the functional currency for Ara Sciences, Inc. The Euro is the functional ewaydor the
majority of the Company's subsidiaries operatintgide of the U.S.

For Alimera Sciences, Inc., foreign currency asaatsliabilities are remeasured into U.S. dolldarsral-of-period exchange rates, except
for nonmonetary balance sheet accounts, whichemmeasured at historical exchange rates. Revenuexpetises are remeasured at average
exchange rates in effect during each period, exoepghose expenses related to the non-monetaanbalsheet amounts, which are remeasure
at historical exchange rates. Gains or losses fovgign currency remeasurement are included innreco

The financial statements of the foreign subsidsavwéose functional currency is not the U.S, dolave been translated into U.S. dollars
in accordance with ASC 830-30ranslation of Financial Statement§or the subsidiaries operating outside of the th& are denominated in
the Euro, assets and liabilities are translatezhdtofperiod rates while revenues and expenses aredtadsit average rates in effect during
period in which the activity took place. Equitytianslated at historical rates and the resultinguative translation adjustments are include
a component of accumulated other comprehensiveriaco

Earnings (Loss) Per Share (EPS) Basic EPS is calculated in accordance with ASQ, B&rnings per Sharby dividing net
income or loss attributable to common stockholdgrthe weighted average common stock outstandifgtdd EPS is calculated in
accordance with ASC 260 by adjusting weighted aye@mmon shares outstanding for the dilutive ¢ common stock options, warrants,
convertible preferred stock and accrued but unpaitvertible preferred stock dividends. In periodgeve a net loss is recorded, no effect is
given to potentially dilutive securities, since #féect would be anti-dilutive. Weighted averagewtdéies that would have diluted basic EPS,
but were not included in the computation of diluEERS because to do so would have been anti-dijutigee as follows:

Years Ended December 31,

2013 2012
Series A convertible preferred stock 15,037,59 —
Series A convertible preferred stock warrants 518,80: —
Common stock warrants 5,761 3,28¢
Stock options 2,731,71 855,54
Total 18,293,87 858,83

Reporting Segments- The Company's chief decision maker is the Chiefdative Officer (CEO). While the CEO is apprisédo
variety of financial metrics and information, thasiness is principally managed on an aggregats.baliof the Company's revenues are
currently, and for the foreseeable future, gendratéhe European Union (EU). Additionally, the wrdtly of the Company's expenditures and
personnel either directly support its efforts ie U, or cannot be specifically attributed to aggaphy outside of the EU. Therefore, the
Company has only one reportable operating segrifeahe Company commercializes ILUVIEN in additionafisdictions in the future,
management expects to report multiple operatinghsegs based on geographic segmentation.

Promotional and Advertising Costs Promotional and advertising costs are expensétcasred.

Recent Accounting Pronouncementdn March 2013, the Financial Accounting Standa@dard (FASB) issued Accounting
Standard Update (ASU) No. 2013-05: Parent's Acdogribr the Cumulative Translation Adjustment ug@erecognition of Certain
Subsidiaries or Groups of Assets within a Foreigtitiz or of an Investment in a Foreign Entity (A2013-05), which applies to the release of
the cumulative translation adjustment resultingrfroertain events occurring in foreign subsidiarESU 2013-05 is effective for fiscal years,
and interim reporting periods within those yeaegjibhning on or after December 15, 2012. The adomifo)ASU 2013-05 did not have a
material impact on the Company's consolidated fir@rstatements. In February 2013, the FASB is\M@d No. 2013-02: Reporting of
Amounts Reclassified Out of Accumulated Other Caghpnsive Income (ASU 2013-02), which adds new dissgk requirements for items
reclassified out of accumulated other comprehenisis@me. ASU 2013-02 is effective for fiscal yeasd interim reporting periods within
those years, beginning on or after December 152.2De adoption of ASU 2013-02 did not have a ni@ténpact on the Company's
consolidated financial statements.
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3. FACTORS AFFECTING OPERATIONS

To date the Company has incurred recurring losssgative cash flow from operations, and has accatedla deficit of $277,345,000
from the Company'’s inception through December 31,3. As of December 31, 2013 , the Company hadoappately $12,628,000 in cash
and cash equivalents. In January 2014, the Compamyleted a private placement of its common stookiding gross proceeds of
$37,500,000 .

The Company believes that it has sufficient fundsilable to fund its operations beyond the proje@emmercialization of ILUVIEN in
Germany, the United Kingdom and France in 2014. Cbmpany does not expect the generation of positigl flow from operations until |z
2014, at the earliest, if at all. If ILUVIEN is napproved in additional jurisdictions or does nengrate sufficient revenue, the Company may
adjust its commercial plans so that it can contittueperate with its existing cash resources ok seeaise additional financing.

The accompanying consolidated financial statemieane been prepared assuming the Company will assés a going concern. The
Company's recurring net losses, negative cashfflomr operations and accumulated deficit raise sutiistl doubt about its ability to continue
as a going concern. The consolidated financiagéstahts do not include any adjustments that mightlrérom the outcome of this uncertainty.
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4. INVENTORY

Inventory consisted of the following:

December 31,

2013 2012
(In thousands)
Component parts (1) $ 26€ $ 35
Work-in-process (2) 587 684
Finished goods 1,34: —
Total inventory 2,19¢ 71¢
Inventory reserve (410) —
Inventory — net $ 1,78¢ $ 71¢

(1) Component parts inventory consisted of manufact components of the ILUVIEN applicator.
(2) Work-inprocess consisted of completed units of ILUVIENt u@ undergoing, but have not completed, quafisueance testing as requi
by regulatory authorities.

5. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Property and equipment consisted of the following:

December 31,

2013 2012
(In thousands)

Furniture and fixtures $ 30 9 304
Office equipment 42~ 39¢
Software 43¢ 425
Leasehold improvements 82 45
Manufacturing equipment 937 52

Total property and equipment 2,191 1,22(
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization (1,209 (1,10€)

Property and equipment — net $ 98z % 114

Depreciation and amortization expense associatddprperty and equipment totaled $138,000 and $006for the years ended
December 31, 2013 and 2012 , respectively.

6. ACCRUED EXPENSES

Accrued expenses consisted of the following:

December 31,

2013 2012
(In thousands)
Accrued clinical investigator expenses $ 56z $ 897
Value added tax payable 184 —
Accrued other compensation expenses 10€ 237
Other accrued expenses 82 45

Total accrued expenses $ 934 $ 1,17¢
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7. LICENSE AGREEMENTS

The Company entered into an agreement with pSiiialnc. (pSivida) for the use of fluocinolone awetle (FAC) in pSivida’s
proprietary delivery device in February 2005, arslibsequent amendment in 2008. pSivida is a gliiogl delivery company committed to t
biomedical sector and the development of drug dgfiproducts. The agreement with pSivida provitlesGompany with a worldwide
exclusive license to develop and sell ILUVIEN.

The Company’s license rights to pSivida's proprigi@elivery device could revert to pSivida if ther@pany were to (i) fail twice to cure
its breach of an obligation to make certain paymémipSivida following receipt of written noticestieof; (ii) fail to cure other breaches of
material terms of its agreement with pSivida witBhdays after notice of such breaches or suctelopgriod (up to 90 days ) as may be
reasonably necessary if the breach cannot be eutkith such 30 -day period; (jii) file for proteoti under the bankruptcy laws, make an
assignment for the benefit of creditors, appoirgudfer appointment of a receiver or trustee oigepioperty, file a petition under any
bankruptcy or insolvency act or have any suchipetfiled against it and such proceeding remairdismissed or unstayed for a period of n
than 60 days ; or (iv) notify pSivida in writing @$ decision to abandon its license with respeet tertain product using pSivida’s proprietary
delivery device.

Upon commercialization of ILUVIEN, the Company mskare 20% of net profits and 33% of any lump sufastone payments
received from a sub-licensee of ILUVIEN, as defiliydhe agreement, with pSivida. In connection wlitis arrangement the Company is
entitled to recover 20% of commercialization cagt UVIEN, as defined in the agreement, incurretbpto product profitability out of
pSivida’s share of net profits. As of December@113 and 2012 , the Company was owed $12,219,008%565,000 , respectively, in
commercialization costs. Due to the uncertaintfutiire net profits, the Company has fully resertrezbe amounts in the accompanying
consolidated financial statements. The Companyamitt pSivida an additional milestone payment of.@26illion if ILUVIEN is approved by
the FDA.

In November 2007, the Company entered into a lieawgeement with Dainippon Sumitomo Pharma Co., ([Odinippon) whereby
Dainippon granted the Company a non-exclusive, dvade, royalty free license to patent rights ursigcific patents and patent applications.
The Company paid $200,000 to Dainippon shortlyrdfte execution of this license agreement andheilfequired to make an additional
payment in the amount of $200,000 to Dainippon iiB0 days following the first regulatory approwdla licensed product in the U.S. by the
FDA.
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8. LOAN AGREEMENTS
2010 Term Loan

The Company entered into a loan and security aggaemith Silicon Valley Bank (SVB) and MidCap Fir@al LLP (MidCap and
together with SVB, the Lenders) in October 2010icivlwas subsequently amended in May 2011 (as ardettte2010 Term Loan
Agreement). Pursuant to the 2010 Term Loan Agregnre@ctober 2010 the Company borrowed an aggeegfa$6,250,008rom the Lender:
(the 2010 Term Loan). The 2010 Term Loan Agreeratsat provided for the ability to drawdown an aduitl $11,000,000 subject to FDA
approval of the NDA for ILUVIEN by December 31, 2ZQ0which was not obtained.

In August 2011, the Company began repaying theandgng principal under the 2010 Term Loan in 3@adenonthly installments plus
interest at a rate of 11.5% . At maturity, the Campwas also required to make an additional intgr@gment equal to 4% of the total amount
borrowed. The Company paid to the Lenders an upfeenof $62,500 upon execution of the 2010 TerrarLAgreement and an additional fee
of $50,000 in connection with the May 2011 amendmienaccordance with ASC 470-50-40-Dkbt - Modifications and Extinguishments
(ASC 470-50-40-17), the Company was amortizingdéferred financing costs on the 2010 Term Loanthad$50,000 modification fee over
the remaining term of the 2010 Term Loan, as medifi

In October 2010, in connection with entering irtte 2010 Term Loan, the Company issued SVB a watogmirchase up to 15,909
shares of the Company's common stock and MidCagreant to purchase up to 23,864 shares of the Caoyfgpeommon stock. Each of the
warrants were exercisable upon issuance, had shaee exercise price of $11.00 and a term of 16sy@ae Company estimated the fair value
of warrants granted using the Black-Scholes opbiacing model to be $389,000 . The Company allatatgortion of the proceeds from the
2010 Term Loan to the warrants in accordance wBICA 70-20-25-2Debt Instruments with Detachable Warrants a result, the Company
recorded a discount of $366,000 which was amortiaedterest expense using the effective interethod. The Lenders were also issued
warrants to purchase up to an aggregate of 69,@@8a@nal shares of the Company's common stockchviiere exercisable only upon the
drawdown of the additional $11,000,000 subject@d\Fapproval of the NDA for ILUVIEN by December 32011, which was not obtained.

In May 2013, the Company repaid all amounts owetthéd_enders under the 2010 Term Loan, includirgfitial interest payment equal
to 4% of the total amount borrowed, and a 1.0% gyemEnt penalty on the then outstanding principadto MidCap. In connection with the
repayment of the 2010 Term Loan, and in accordaniiteASC 470-50-40-17, the Company recognized a tosearly extinguishment of debt
of $153,000associated with the remaining unamortized defefireshcing costs, unamortized discount associatéld thie Lenders' warrants,
final interest payment, the prepayment penaltyatehder fee and warrants associated with a new Iten.

2010 Revolving Loan Agreement

In October 2010, the Company and SVB entered it@@a and security agreement, which was subsequaménded in May 2011 (as
amended, the 2010 Revolving Loan Agreement), patswavhich the Company obtained a secured revgliiire of credit from SVB against
eligible U.S. domestic accounts receivable withrtwing availability up to $20,000,000 . Upon enterinto the 2010 Revolving Loan
Agreement, the Company paid to SVB an upfront fe&160,000 . As of December 31, 2012, no amountieuthe 2010 Revolving Loan
Agreement were outstanding or available to the Gompin May 2013, the Company and SVB terminated2®10 Revolving Loan
Agreement.

2013 Loan Agreement

In May 2013, Alimera Sciences Limited (Limited)sabsidiary of the Company, entered into a loanssudirity agreement (2013 Loan
Agreement) with SVB to provide Limited with additial working capital for general corporate purpo&ésder the 2013 Loan Agreement, S
has made a term loan (2013 Term Loan) in the grai@mount of $5,000,000 to Limited and has agtegatovide up to an additional
$15,000,000 to Limited under a working capital lofecredit (2013 Line of Credit). No advances werade at closing under the 2013 Line of
Credit and no amounts were outstanding as of DeeeBih 2013. At December 31, 2013, the Companyfityaio borrow under the 2013 Line
of Credit was limited based on the Company's adsougteivable at the date as described below.

The 2013 Term Loan provides for interest only paytador six months followed by 36 monthly paymeuiténterest, plus principal. The
Company made its first amortization payment on20&3 Term Loan in December 2013. Interest on oudiitg borrowings under the 2013
Term Loan is payable at the rate of 7.50% . Borngwiunder the 2013 Line of Credit will be advanae80%of eligible accounts receivable
defined in the 2013 Loan Agreement. Interest isapdyyon the balance of eligible accounts finanddterate of 2.75% above SVB's most
recently announced “prime rate.” Limited is alsquiged to pay SVB on a monthly basis an unusedféeesqual to 0.25% per annum of the
average unused portion of the 2013

81




Table of Contents
ALIMERA SCIENCES, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Conti nued)

Line of Credit during the preceding month. The miafwdates are June 30, 2015 with respect to tH&8 20ne of Credit and October 31, 2016
with respect to the 2013 Term Loan.

In connection with entering into the 2013 Loan Agreent, Limited paid SVB a facility fee of $25,00@dditionally, the Company re-
priced warrants to purchase an aggregate of ufh,&18 shares of the Company’s common stock preljigssued to SVB in connection with
the 2010 Term Loan; 15,909 of which were previoesigrcisable only upon the drawdown of the additici 1,000,000 of the 2010 Term
Loan subject to FDA approval of the NDA for ILUVIEDY December 31, 2011. Upon re-pricing, each ofthgants was exercisable
immediately at a per-share exercise price of $ar@6had a remaining term of 7.4 year. The Compatisnated the incremental fair value
received by SVB using the Black-Scholes optionipganodel to be $46,000 . In accordance with ASQ-8@-40-17, the Company expensed
the facility fee and incremental value of the watsaassociated with the 2013 Term Loan as patteofdss on early extinguishment of the 201(
Term Loan. Warrants to purchase up to an aggredd4,090 additional shares of the Company's comstock, which were exercisable only
upon the drawdown of the additional $11,000,00thef2010 Term Loan subject to FDA approval of ti@ANor ILUVIEN by December 31,
2011, which was not obtained, remain outstanding.

In connection with the 2013 Line of Credit, Limitpdid a commitment fee of $100,000 . In accordavite ASC 470-50-40-17, the
Company capitalized the commitment fee and $49d@@ferred financing costs remaining on the 2020dR/ing Loan Agreement as
deferred financing costs, which are being amortzeg the remaining term of the 2013 Line of Credit

If Limited repays the 2013 Term Loan prior to OctoB1, 2016, it will pay to SVB a prepayment penalt3% of the total principal
amount if the prepayment occurs within one yeaardfie funding date and 2% of the total principabant if the prepayment occurs between
one and two years after the funding date, provideghch case that such prepayment penalty wiledaaed by 50% in the event of an
acquisition of Limited (either alone, or in conrientwith the acquisition of the Company or anytefsubsidiaries). In addition, if Limited
terminates the 2013 Line of Credit prior to June M5, it will pay to SVB a termination fee of $£1%00 , which will be reduced by 50% in
the event of an acquisition described above.

Limited also agreed to customary affirmative andatie covenants and events of default in conneatith these arrangements. Furtt
the Company, on a consolidated basis, must maiataimimum “adjusted quick ratio,” tested as of ldmt day of each month, of at least
1.5:1.0. The adjusted quick ratio is the ratig@fthe Company's consolidated, unrestricted armhonmbered cash plus net billed trade
accounts receivable to (y) the Company's currabilities (including all obligations owed to SVB)mas the current portion of deferred
revenue. The occurrence of an event of defaultccmsgult in the acceleration of Limited's obligasainder the 2013 Loan Agreement and an
increase to the applicable interest rate, and wpetdit SVB to exercise remedies with respect éodbllateral under the 2013 Loan
Agreement, including foreclosure on the Compamtalliectual property. As of December 31, 2013,Gloenpany, on a consolidated basis with
its subsidiaries, was in compliance with all of tiwenants of the 2013 Term Loan and 2013 LinerefiiT.

Limited's obligations to SVB are secured by a finsority security interest in substantially all lofnited's assets. The Company and
certain of its subsidiaries are guarantors of thlegations of Limited to SVB under the 2013 LoanrAgment pursuant to separate guaranty
agreements. Pursuant to the guaranties, the Congmaththese subsidiaries granted SVB a first pyigicurity interest in substantially all of
their respective assets.

The Company is required to maintain its primaryrating and other deposit accounts and securitiesuaats with SVB, which accounts
must represent at least 50% of the dollar valuésaccounts at all financial institutions. Undiee 2013 Loan Agreement, the Company has
agreed not to pay any dividends so long as it hgatstanding obligations thereunder.

The weighted average interest rates of the Compaoyes payable approximate the rate at which drepany could obtain alternative
financing; therefore, the carrying amount of théesapproximated their fair value at December 8132and 2012.
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9. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Term Note Payable- In May 2013, the Company received proceeds di®5000 from the issuance of a Note Payable todele(Note
8). As of December 31, 2013 a schedule of futur@mmuim principal payments under the Note Payabies ifollows (in thousands):

Years Ending December 31

2014 $ 1,667
2015 1,667
2016 1,523

Total $ 4,861

As of December 31, 2013 , the Company had no adand unpaid interest payable on the Note Payalslef December 31, 2012 , the
Company had $209,000 accrued and unpaid intergabjgaon the Notes Payable.

Operating Leases- The Company leases office space and equipmerrummhcancelable agreements accounted for as opueledses.
The leases generally require that the Companyaast maintenance, and insurance. Management expatin the normal course of
business, leases that expire will be renewed daced by other leases. In November 2012, the Coynggmed an extension of its lease for
office space through January 31, 2015. In Marct82€He Company signed a lease for office spackarunited Kingdom for its whollpwned
subsidiary, Alimera Sciences Limited (Note 1), fray 1, 2013 to December 31, 2014. In January 24Company signed a lease for
office space in the Germany for Alimera Sciencesiteéd , from April 1, 2014 to March 31, 2015. At@enber 31, 2013a schedule by year
future minimum payments under operating leases fsllows:

December 31,

2014 2015
(In thousands)
Alimera Sciences Inc. $ 272 $ 23
Alimera Sciences Limited 24z 13
Total $ 514 $ 36

Rent expense under all operating leases totaleasippately $576,000 and $270,000 for the years eérdecember 31, 2013 and 2012,
respectively.

Capital Leases— The Company leases equipment under capital ledkesproperty and equipment is capitalized atekser of fair
market value or the present value of the minimuasdepayments at the inception of the leases uss@ompanys incremental borrowing rai

At December 31, 2013, a schedule by year of futiremum payments under capital leases, togethrthe present value of minimum
lease payments, is as follows (in thousands):

Years Ending December 31

2014 $ 12
2015 12
2016

Total 33
Less amount representing interest 4
Present value of minimum lease payments 28
Less current portion (10)
Noncurrent portion $ 18
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Property and equipment under capital leases, wdrielincluded in property and equipment (Note Shsexied of the following:

December 31,

2013 2012
(In thousands)

Office equipment $ 32 % 36

Less accumulated amortization (5) (30

Total $ 28 % 6

Depreciation expense associated with office equifirarder capital leases was $11,000 for each ofehes ended December 31, 2013
and 2012 .

Significant Agreements- In February 2010, the Company entered into aeeagent with a third party manufacturer for the niaciure
of the ILUVIEN implant, the assembly of the ILUVIE&pplicator and packaging of the completed ILUVIEd&Nnmercial product. The
Company is responsible for supplying the ILUVIENdApator and the active pharmaceutical ingredienaccordance with the terms of the
agreement, the Company must order at least 80%edt tJVIEN units required in the U.S., Canada amel EU from the third party
manufacturer for an initial term of six years. Tdgreement has an initial six year term and wilbenatically renew for successive one year
periods unless either party delivers written notitaon-renewal to the other at least 12 monthsr o the end of the then current term.

In March 2011, the Company entered into an agreemidim a contract research organization (CRO) fimical and data management
services to be performed in connection with a ptigai utilization study which is being conductedasess the safety and utility of the
commercial version of the ILUVIEN applicator. Incacdance with the terms of the agreement, the Cagnpaél! incur approximately
$2,100,000 in costs with the CRO through 2013.tReryears ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 , tmp&ty incurred $690,000 and
$798,000 , respectively, of expense associatedthishagreement. At December 31, 2013 and 201,088 and $160,000 , respectively, is
included in outsourced services payable.

In February 2012, the Company engaged a constuttaatnnection with the Company's efforts to obthi@ approval of ILUVIEN from
the FDA. For the years ended December 31, 2012abd, the Company recorded approximately $1,700s0@0$2,300,000 , respectively, in
costs pertaining to consulting fees related toGbmpany's agreement with this consultant. The Compapects to record an additional
$300,000 in charges in connection with this agregrieough 2014. In addition, the Company has apjteg@ay the consultant $2,000,000 , if,
and only if, the FDA approves the Company's NDAIfdJVIEN.

In November 2012, the Company entered into an aggaewith Quintiles Commercial Europe Limited. Untlee agreement, Quintiles
Commercial Europe Limited and its affiliates (cotigely, Quintiles Commercial) will provide certagervices to the Company in connection
with the commercialization of ILUVIEN in certain gotries in Europe under subsequent project or@ersh services may include marketing,
brand management, sales promotion and detailinggghaccess, pricing and reimbursement supportjaéary, medical science liaison and
communications and/or other advisory services. fA3axember 31, 2013, the Company had entered igta project orders with Quintiles
Commercial for the provision of services in Germahg United Kingdom and France. Under the existirgject orders, the Company expects
to record approximately $31,100,000 in costs withnfiles Commercial through 2015. For the year eéndecember 31, 2013 , the Company
incurred $7,500,000 of expense associated withatflisement. At December 31, 2013, $520j800cluded in outsourced services payable
$2,500,000 is included in prepaid expenses and otlreent assets. Under these project orders Qesrfiommercial, as of December 31, 2013
employed 24 persons fully dedicated to the Comp@uyntiles Commercial also employed six personsigdhr dedicated to Alimera in
Germany, the United Kingdom and France as of Deeer@b, 2013.

Employment Agreements The Company is party to employment agreements siit executives. The agreements generally prdaide
annual salaries, bonuses, and benefits and foatheill” employment of such executives. Effectivanuary 1, 2014 and 2013, the Company
was party to six agreements with salaries rangiogn 261,000 to $445,000 . If any of the agreemarggerminated by the Company without
cause, or by the employee for good reason, aseatkfinthe agreements, the Company will be liabteofee year of salary and benefits. Certain
other employees have general employment contrdutswinclude stipulations regarding confidentigli§ompany property, and miscellaneous
items.
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10. PREFERRED STOCK

On October 2, 2012, the Company closed its predesteck financing in which it sold units consistiofgl,000,000 shares of Series A
Convertible Preferred Stock and warrants to purel®®,000 shares of Series A Convertible Prefe8tedk for gross proceeds of
$40,000,000 , prior to the payment of approxima$&$0,000 of related issuance costs. The powezfen@nces and rights of the Series A
Convertible Preferred Stock are set forth in theifteate of designation filed by the Company wille Secretary of State of the State of
Delaware on October 1, 2012. Each share of Seriésvertible Preferred Stock, including any sharfeSeries A Convertible Preferred Stock
issued upon exercise of the warrants, is convertitib shares of the Compasy¢ommon stock at any time at the option of theléwoat the rat
equal to $40.00 divided by the then current corigarprice (Conversion Price). The initial Conversierice of $2.91 of the Series A
Convertible Preferred Stock was subject to adjustritee$3.16 or $2.66 based on the occurrence omconrrence of certain events relating to
guidance from NICE regarding ILUVIEN, in addition tertain customary price based anti-dilution atj@nts. A voluntary conversion by the
holder prior to the determination of this adjustmiersubject to a Conversion Price of $3.16 pereshaach share of Series A Convertible
Preferred Stock shall automatically be converteéd #ares of common stock at the then-effectivev@rion Price upon the occurrence of the
later to occur of both (i) the Company receives pmblicly announces the approval by the FDA of @mnpany’s NDA for ILUVIEN and
(ii) the date on which the Company consummatesjaityefinancing transaction pursuant to which tra@any sells to one or more third ps
investors either (a) shares of common stock oo{fls@r equity securities that are convertible iftares of common stock and that have rights,
preference or privileges, senior to or on a pawity, the Series A Convertible Preferred Stockeath case having an as-converted per share
common stock price of not less than $10.00 andréwatlts in total gross proceeds to the Comparat ffast $30,000,000 . The rights and
preferences of Series A Convertible Preferred Stdek place limitations on the Company's abilitglézlare or pay any dividend or distribut
on any shares of capital stock.

On June 30, 2013, the Conversion Price was autoaligtadjusted to $2.66 . As a result of the adhestt to the Conversion Price, the
value of the common stock underlying the Seriesofw@rtible Preferred Stock at issuance exceededrttwaint of the net proceeds allocate
the Series A Convertible Preferred Stock at isseiafberefore, the Company recorded the contingeme¢ficial conversion feature of
$4,950,000 as an increase in additional paid int@laBecause the Series A Convertible PreferretiStvas immediately convertible into
common stock at the option of the holder on June803, the Company immediately accreted the fallie of the beneficial conversion feal
to the carrying value of the Series A Convertibleferred Stock on that date.

Each unit sold in the preferred stock financinduded a warrant to purchase 0.30 shares of Seriésrivertible Preferred Stock at an
exercise price equal to $44.00 per share. At thetieh of the holder of a warrant, the warrant rhayexercised for the number of shares of
common stock then issuable upon conversion of greSA Convertible Preferred Stock that would othige be issued upon such exercise at
the then-effective Conversion Price.

These warrants are considered derivative instrusnegtause the agreements provide for settlemé&srias A Convertible Preferred
Stock shares or common stock shares at the optithre dolder, an adjustment to the warrant exengigee for common shares at some point ir
the future, and contain anti-dilution provisionsesby the number of shares for which the warrarg®gercisable and/or the exercise price of
the warrants are subject to change in the evecgréin issuances of stock at prices below the-#ifattive exercise price of the warrants.
Therefore the warrants were recorded as a liatatiigsuance. At December 31, 2013 and 2012 thentaiket value of the warrants was
estimated to be $16,381,000 and $4,418,000 , regplyc The Company recorded a loss of $11,964 @908 result of the change in fair valu
the warrants during the year ended December 313.Z0ie Company recorded a gain of $3,083,000 asudtrof the change in fair value of the
warrants in the fourth quarter of 2012.

In the second quarter of 2013, the Company conditiogt it was appropriate to classify the derivativarrant liability as a non-current
liability because the warrants do not provide fastt settlement, and will be settled in sharestbéeiSeries A Convertible Preferred Stock or
common stock at the option of the holder. The ppieniod amount has been reclassified for consigteuith the current period presentation.
This reclassification had no effect on the repore=iilts of operations.
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11. STOCK INCENTIVE PLANS

The Company has stock option and stock incentimagpivhich provide for grants of shares to emplog@esgrants of options to
employees and directors to purchase shares ofdhg@ny’s common stock at exercise prices geneggjlial to the fair values of such stock at
the dates of grant. Options granted to employgasdily become exercisable over a four -year vgstiariod and have a ten -year contractual
term. Initial options granted to directors typigalest over a four -year period and have a tenr-geatractual term. Annual option grants to
directors typically vest immediately and have ayear contractual term.

As of December 31, 2013, the Company was authebtzgrant options to purchase up to 80,310 shardsr the 2010 Equity Incentive
Plan. Upon the exercise of stock options, the Compaay issue the required shares out of authotizedinissued common stock or out of

treasury stock at management’s discretion.

A summary of stock option transactions under tlzmplare as follows:

Years Ended December 31,

2013 2012

Weighted Weighted

Average Average

Exercise Exercise

Options Price Options Price

Options outstanding at beginning of period 5,493,070 $ 2.67 2,607,441 $ 3.8¢
Grants 2,630,001 2.71 3,027,501 1.7t
Forfeitures (513,059 1.9¢ (107,82) 5.517
Exercises (43,58 1.64 (34,045 1.5¢
Options outstanding at year end 7,566,43: 2.7¢ 5,493,07! 2.67
Options exercisable at year end 3,304,98. 3.0¢ 2,471,29 3.0¢
Weighted average per share fair value of optioastgd during the year $ 2.1¢ $ 1.32

The following table provides additional informaticglated to outstanding stock options, fully vesteatk options, and stock options

expected to vest as of December 31, 2013 :

Weighted Weighted
Average Average Aggregate
Exercise Contractual Intrinsic
Shares Price Term Value
(In thousands)
Outstanding 7,566,431 $ 2.7¢ 7.63 year: $ 17,75¢
Exercisable 3,304,98 3.0¢ 5.45 year: 7,58¢
Expected to vest 3,469,111 2.4¢ 9.25 year: 8,31«

The Company estimated the fair value of optionsig@ using the Black-Scholes option-pricing modighvhe following weighted-

average assumptions used for option grants:

Years Ended December 31,

2013 2012
Risk-free interest rate 1.73% 1.01%
Volatility factor 100.7¢% 98.5%
Grant date fair value of common stock $ 212 % 1.34
Weighted-average expected life 5.92 year 5.98 year
Assumed forfeiture rate 10.0(% 10.0(%
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Employee stock-based compensation expense retatgddk options recognized under ASC 718 was &/sl

Years Ended December 31,

2013 2012
(In thousands)
Marketing $ 36€ $ 26¢
Research and development 504 44k
General and administrative 1,58¢ 934
Total employee stock-based compensation expense $ 2,45¢ $ 1,641

As of December 31, 2013, there was approximate)938000 of total unrecognized compensation cdata@ to outstanding stock
option awards that will be recognized over a weidhdverage period of 3.1 years. The total fairealushares vested during the year ended
December 31, 2013 was approximately $2,416,000 .

The total estimated fair value of options grantadrdj the years ended December 31, 2013 and 204%%;618,000 and $4,065,000 ,
respectively. The total estimated intrinsic val@i@ptions exercised during the years ended DeceBibe2013 and 2012 was $79,000 and
$22,000 , respectively.

Per the terms of the Company’s 2004 and 2005 Ojptians (Plans), the Company’s October 2012 Seri€srvertible Preferred Stock
financing (Note 10) constituted a change of corftvokhe purposes of Plan and resulted in an ac@a of the vesting of 79,380 unvested
options. The Company recognized $196,000 of congiEmsexpense during the year ended December 32, idCconnection with this
accelerated vesting.

The Company’s 2010 Plan provides for annual in@eas the number of shares available for issudmeetinder on the first day of each
fiscal year equal to the least of: (1) 2,000,068rss of our common stock; (2) 4% of the sharemonfmon stock outstanding at that time; and
(3) such other amount as our board of directors detgrmine. On January 1, 2014, an additional 14&2@4shares became available for future
issuance under the 2010 Plan. These additiona¢sHi@am the annual increase under the 2010 Planadiecluded in the foregoing discussion.
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The following table summarizes outstanding and @sable options at December 31, 2013 :

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable

Weighted Weighted

Average Average

Remaining Remaining

Number Contractual Number Contractual

Exercise Prices Outstanding Life Exercisable Life
$1.33 545,05:. 2.42 545,05:. 2.42
1.39 378,58 3.79 378,58 3.79
1.65 700,00( 8.11 320,83: 8.11
1.66 1,538,501 8.97 384,62! 8.97
1.70 95,00( 8.09 43,54: 8.09
1.85 292,50( 9.09 87,50( 9.09
2.04 217,31. 0.76 217,31. 0.76
2.24 4,50¢ 4.16 4,50¢ 4.16
2.32 130,00( 8.85 35,83 8.85
2.36 35,00( 9.92 — 0.00
2.41 435,15¢ 4.22 435,15¢ 4.22
2.47 1,850,00 9.95 — 0.00
2.49 20,00( 8.75 5,00( 8.75
2.77 52,50( 8.45 52,50( 8.45
2.91 100,00( 9.22 — 0.00
2.99 2,50( 9.35 — 0.00
3.04 5,00( 9.33 = 0.00
3.75 12,50( 9.69 — 0.00
3.83 22,50( 9.72 — 0.00
3.88 33,82 4.09 33,82 4.09
4.01 247,06! 5.59 247,06! 5.59
4.15 145,00( 9.96 — 0.00
5.03 1,17¢ 4.65 1,17¢ 4.65
5.39 160,00( 9.46 80,00( 9.46
5.44 2,05¢ 4.77 2,05¢ 4.77
6.74 79,50( 6.61 66,76 6.61
7.53 37,50( 7.44 37,50( 7.44
7.97 20,00( 7.30 12,50( 7.30
8.47 43,05¢ 7.08 30,45¢ 6.88
11.00 50,00( 6.32 43,74¢ 6.32
11.15 302,65( 6.84 233,28 6.84
1191 8,00( 6.92 6,16¢ 6.92
7,566,43: 3,304,98

Restricted Stock Uni

In February 2012, the Company awarded 85,447 céstiristock units (RSUSs), to executive officers antployees at a grant date fair
value of $1.70 per RSU. A RSU is a stock award ¢imditles the holder to receive shares of the Catyigacommon stock as the award vests.
The fair value of the RSUs was determined on thie digrant based on the closing price of the Camisacommon stock on the date of grant,
which equals the RSU’s intrinsic value. The RSUsente vest upon the receipt of marketing authoidnadf ILUVIEN in four of the seven EU
countries in which ILUVIEN is recommended for markg authorization (Note 1). During 2012, the Udit€éingdom, Austria, Portugal and
France granted marketing authorization to ILUVIENIaas a result, the RSUs became fully vestedte@€ompany recognized $145,000 of
compensation expense during the year ended Dece3tib2012 in connection with the RSUs.
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12. COMMON STOCK WARRANTS

The Company has issued warrants to purchase coratockito various members of the board of directiisg-parties for services, and
lenders. Total warrants to purchase common st@tle and exercisable were 109,772 and 82,568 aniler 31, 2013 and 2012 ,
respectively, at exercise prices ranging from $2a8611.00 per share. The warrants are exercisabeperiod of 10 years from the issuance
date.

Warrants to purchase 39,773 of the Company’s constuek were granted to the Lenders during the grded December 31, 2010 in
connection the issuance of the 2010 Term Loan (Rpt&he Lenders also hold warrants to purchassggnegate of up to 69,999 shares of the
Company’s common stock, which were exercisable aplyn the drawdown of the additional $11,000,806ject to FDA approval of the ND
for ILUVIEN by December 31, 2011, which was notaibed. In May 2013, in connection with the 2013 h@greement, the Company re-
priced warrants to purchase an aggregate of ufh,&18 shares of the Company's common stock prdyi@ssied to SVB in connection with
the 2010 Term Loan; 15,909 of which were previoesigrcisable only upon the drawdown of the additici1,000,000 of the 2010 Term
Loan subject to FDA approval of the NDA for ILUVIEDY December 31, 2011. Upon re-pricing, each ofghgants was exercisable
immediately at a per-share exercise price of $ar@6had a remaining term of 7.4 years.
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13. CONCENTRATIONS AND CREDIT RISK

There were two customers that comprised $314,0@88e0€ompany’s accounts receivable at Decembe2(@®13. These same two
customers accounted for approximately 23% of then@any's total consolidated revenues for the yede@&mecember 31, 2013. No other
customer accounted for more than 10% of reven2@118. There were no accounts receivable at Dece8ih&012 or revenues for the year
ended December 31, 2012.

For the years ended December 31, 2013 and 201;énaors comprised approximately 42% of the Comisatoyal purchases.
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14. INCOME TAXES
The components of net loss before taxes are asnsil

Years Ended December 31,

2013 2012

(In thousands)
United States $ (29,30) $ (19,74¢)
Foreign (16,92¢) —
Loss before provision for income taxes $ (46,229 $ (19,749

In accordance with ASC 740, the Company recogrdedsarred tax assets and liabilities for temporaffgiences between the financial
reporting basis and the tax basis of assets abititiiss at the enacted tax rates in effect foryhar in which the differences are expected to
reverse. The Company records a valuation allowagenst the net deferred tax asset to reduce treanging value to an amount that is more
likely than not to be realized.

The provision for income taxes consists of theofwlhg components:

Years Ended December 31,

2013 2012
(In thousands)

Deferred benefit (expense):

Federal $ (18,567 $ 7,54:
State (2,162) 87¢
Foreign 3,16( —
(17,56 8,42

Valuation allowance 17,567 (8,427
Income tax benefit (expense) $ —  $ —

The Company is recording a foreign tax expense oorapt for the first time during tax year 2013. Tampany's subsidiaries in the
Netherlands and the United Kingdom commenced basidaring the current year. All foreign subsidigiiiecurred net operating losses in tt
first year of existence. The net operating lossyetorwards of the foreign entities are fully reged as of the current balance sheet date.

Worldwide net deferred tax assets and liabilitiesas follows:

December 31,

2013 2012

Deferred tax assets (current and non-current) (In thousands)
Depreciation and amortization $ 34 % 11€
Other deferred tax assets 1,90¢ 1,255
NOL carry-forwards 33,45¢ 53,12:
Research and development costs 6,14z 7,11¢
Collaboration agreement receivable reserves 4,63¢ 2,11z
Valuation allowance (46,15¢) (63,727

Total deferred tax assets $ 18 $ —
Deferred tax liabilities (current and non-current)
Unrealized foreign currency gains $ (18 $ =
Other deferred tax liabilities — —
Total deferred tax liabilities (18) —
Net deferred tax assets and deferred tax liatslif@rrent and non-current) $ — 3 —

In Accordance with ASC 740-10-45-4, the Companysengs below the current and non-current comporadnitee Company's deferred
tax assets and deferred tax liabilities. The Comireas applied the jurisdictional netting requiretsesf ASC 740-10-45-5 to allocate the
valuation allowance between current and non-cumdefdrred tax assets on a jurisdictional
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basis. The current deferred tax liability and tbe4turrent deferred tax asset disclosed belowtaibwtable to the United States. Deferred tax
positions in each foreign jurisdiction net to zeroboth a current and non-current basis.

Years Ended December 31,

2013 2012
(In thousands)
Current deferred tax liability $ 18 $ =
Non-current deferred tax asset 18 —

A reconciliation from the federal statutory ratelte total provision for income taxes is as follows

Years Ended December 31,

2013 2012
Amount Percent Amount Percent

Federal tax benefit at statutory rate $ (15,719 34(% $ (6,719 34.C%
State tax — net of federal benefit (1,160 2.t (782) 4.C
Permanent items and other 31,85: (68.9) (927) 4.7
Foreign rate differential 2,59¢ (5.6 — —
Change in valuation allowance (17,567 38.C 8,42 42.7)

Total tax benefit (expense) $ — — % $ — — %

The significant increase for the current year i dfffect of permanent differences is caused bydotapany transactions between
Alimera Sciences, Inc. and its subsidiaries. Fuoaricial statement purposes, the transaction eltasria consolidation. For income tax
purposes, the transaction resulted in taxable ircionthe United States which was offset by net atireyg losses.

Income tax positions are considered for uncertdmgccordance with ASC 740-10. The Company bedig¢hat its income tax filing
positions and deductions are more likely than ffidteing sustained on audit and does not anticipayeadjustments that will result in a mate
change to its financial position; therefore, no ABD-10 liabilities and no related penalties and intenave been recorded. The Company «
not anticipate any material changes to its unaettad positions within the next 12 months. Tax gesince from 2010 to 2013 remain subject t
examination in Georgia, Tennessee, and on thedkelsel, with the exception of the assessment©f Marry-forwards available for
utilization which can be examined for all yearscgir2003. The statute of limitations on these yedltslose when the NOLs expire or when
statute closes on the years in which the NOLs tiliead.

Significant management judgment is involved in dataing the provision for income taxes, deferreddasets and liabilities, and any
valuation allowance recorded against net defear@ssets. Due to uncertainties with respect toghkzation of deferred tax assets due to the
history of operating losses, a valuation allowanae been established against the entire net déferxxeasset balance. The valuation allowance
is based on management’s estimates of taxable d@omhe jurisdictions in which the Company opesated the period over which deferred
tax assets will be recoverable. In the event thatad results differ from these estimates or then@any adjusts these estimates in future
periods, a change in the valuation allowance maydseled, which could materially impact the Comparfiyiancial position and results of
operations.

At December 31, 2013 and 2012 , the Company haatdédet operating loss (NOL) carry-forwards of mpgmately $82,380,000 and
$142,580,000 and state NOL carry-forwards of apjpnately $65,840,000 , and $126,050,000 respectjvbst are available to reduce future
income unless otherwise taxable. If not utilizéwd tederal NOL carry-forwards will expire at vargodates between 2023 and 2033 and the
state NOL carry-forwards will expire at variousembetween 2020 and 2033. Additionally, the Compmmerated NOLs in the Netherlands
and the United Kingdom during the current yeahi&a amounts of $3,800,000 and $13,200,000 respbcfiymss in USD). If not utilized, the
Netherlands NOL car-forwards will expire in 2022 (9 year carryover ipel). The UK NOL carry-forwards will never expireder current
United Kingdom tax law.

NOL carry-forwards may be subject to annual liniitas under Internal Revenue Code Section 382 (mpawable provisions of state
law) in the event that certain changes in ownershipe Company were to occur. The Company peralyievaluates its NOL carry-forwards
and whether certain changes in ownership, includstPO, have occurred that would limit the Comyarability to utilize a portion of its
NOL carny-forwards. If it is determined that significant ogrship changes have occurred since the Companyajedéts NOL carry-forwards,
it may be subject to annual limitations on the use
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of these NOL carry-forwards under Internal Reve@oee (IRC), Section 382 (or comparable provisidnsgtate law). The issuance of the
Series A Convertible Preferred Stock on Octob&02,2 constituted such a change in ownership. Asaltrof this change in ownership, the
Company performed a formal analysis in connectiadh iRC Section 382 and determined that approxiigai&3,700,000 of its NOLs
generated prior to the change in ownership coutdeaitilized in the future.

As of December 31, 2013, the Company had cumul@iok losses in foreign subsidiaries of $16,926,000e Company has not
recorded a deferred tax asset for the excess @viixbook basis in the stock of its foreign suiasids. The Company anticipates that its
foreign subsidiaries will be profitable and havengzgs in the future. Once the foreign subsidiadediave earnings, the Company intends to
indefinitely reinvest in its foreign subsidiaridsandistributed earnings of and original investriseim such subsidiaries. As a result, the
Company does not expect to record deferred talitiab in the future related to excesses of bowe&rdax basis in the stock of its foreign
subsidiaries in accordance with ASC 740-30-25.
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15. FAIR VALUE

The Company applies ASC 8Zeair Value Measurementa determining the fair value of certain assets létllities. Under this
standard, fair value is defined as the price thaild/be received to sell an asset or paid to tearssfiability (i.e., the “exit price”) in an ordgr
transaction between market participants at the areasent date.

In determining fair value, the Company uses varialgation approaches. The hierarchy of those vi@wapproaches is broken down
into three levels based on the reliability of irgas follows:

Level 1 inputs are quoted prices in active markatédentical assets or liabilities that the repagtentity has the ability to access at
the measurement date. An active market for the asdiability is a market in which transactions the asset or liability occur with sufficient
frequency and volume to provide pricing informat@man ongoing basis. The valuation under this @ggr does not entail a significant degre
of judgment.

Level 2 inputs are inputs other than quoted pricelsided within Level 1 that are observable for éisset or liability, either directly
or indirectly. Level 2 inputs include: quoted psder similar assets or liabilities in active masgkanputs other than quoted prices that are
observable for the asset or liability, (e.g., in&rates and yield curves observable at commardyedl intervals or current market) and
contractual prices for the underlying financialtimsnent, as well as other relevant economic measure

Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for thetamskability. Unobservable inputs shall be usedrteasure fair value to the extent
that observable inputs are not available, therdlbying for situations in which there is little, #ny, market activity for the asset or liability at
the measurement date.

There have been no changes in the methodologiesatisgecember 31, 2013 and 2012.
The following fair value table presents informatamout the Company’s assets and liabilities medsairéir value on a recurring basis:

December 31, 2013

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
(In thousands)
Assets:
Cash equivalents(1) $ 6,94 $ — — 3 6,94/
Assets measured at fair value $ 6,94« $ — — 3 6,94¢
Liabilities:
Derivative warrant liability (2) $ — 3 16,38 $ — % 16,38:
Liabilities measured at fair value $ —  $ 16,38 $ — 3 16,38:
December 31, 2012
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
(In thousands)
Assets:
Cash equivalents(1) $ 48,94 $ — ¢ —  $ 48,94
Assets measured at fair value $ 48,94 $ — % — % 48,94:
Liabilities:
Derivative warrant liability (2) $ — 4,41¢ 3% —  $ 4,41¢
Liabilities measured at fair value $ — % 4,418 3 — % 4,41¢

(1) The carrying amounts approximate fair value tluthe shorterm maturities of the cash equivale

(2) The Company uses the Black-Scholes optionngrimodel and assumptions that consider, among sth@bles, the fair value of the
underlying stock, risk-free interest rate, volétiliexpected life and dividend rates in estimafaigvalue for the warrants considered to
be derivative instruments. Assumptions used aremglg consistent with those disclosed for stockduhcompensation (see Note 11).
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16. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS

The Company has a salary deferral 401(k) plan wbisters substantially all employees of the Compémjlay 2008, the Company
established a plan to match participant contrimgisubject to certain plan limitations. The Compamnyatching plan took effect on July 1,
2008. Compensation expense associated with the @uoytgpomatching plan totaled $95,000 and $66,00@eryears endedecember 31, 201
and 2012 , respectively. The Company may also raakannual discretionary profit-sharing contributiblo such discretionary contributions
were made during the years ended December 31,&012012 , respectively.

In April 2010, the Company established an Empldytxk Purchase Plan (the “Purchase Plan”). Unde€ttimpany’s Purchase Plan,
eligible employees can participate and purchasenoamstock semi-annually through accumulated pagedluctions. The Purchase Plan is
administered by the Company’s board of directora committee appointed by the Company’s boardrefctlrs. Under the Purchase Plan
eligible employees may purchase stock at 85% ofatlver of the fair market value of a share of Comnstock on the offering date or the
exercise date. The Purchase Plan provides forivar®mnth purchase periods generally starting @nfittst trading day on or after October 31
and April 30 of each year. Eligible employees magtdbute up to 15% of their eligible compensatiArparticipant may purchase a maximum
of 2,500 shares of common stock per purchase pertoelvalue of the shares purchased in any calgredarmay not exceed $25,000 .

The Purchase Plan was effective upon the complefitine Company’s IPO, at which time a total of 422 shares of the Company’s
common stock were made available for sale. Aswfidgy 1 of each year, starting in 2011, the reseilleautomatically be restored to the
original level. A total of 26,123 and 15,984 shawéthe Company’s common shares were acquired ¢firtle Purchase Plan during the years
ended December 31, 2013 and 2012 , respectivelguéls, on January 1, 2014 and 2013, respectivelgdditional 26,123 and 15,984 shares
became available for future issuance under thehasecPlan. In accordance with ASC 718-50, thetabdipurchase stock at 85% of the lower
of the fair market value of a share of Common Stmckhe offering date or the exercise date reptesenoption. The Company estimates the
fair value of such options at the inception of eaffaring period using the Black-Scholes valuatioadel. In connection with the Purchase
Plan, the Company recorded $21,000 and $34,000rmpensation expense for the years ended Decemp2033 and 2012 , respectively.
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17. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

On January 31, 2014, the Company issued an aggref)61250,000 shares of its common stock for agageegross proceeds of
approximately $37,500,000 (Private Placement). Hitreate Placement was issued and sold pursuanbézarities Purchase Agreement, datec
January 27, 2014, between the Company and cemaoh@sers. The per share purchase price of a shasenmon stock was $6.00 .
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4.8

4.9

4.10

10.1

10.2%

10.3f

10.4%

Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Registraistamended on various dates (filed as Exhibit@&mendment No.
4 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement omF8f1 (SEC File No. 333-162782), as filed on AfriR010, and
incorporated herein by reference)

Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Registrant(file Exhibit 3.4 to Amendment No. 4 to the Regigisa
Registration Statement on Form S-1 (SEC File N8-B32782), as filed on April 6, 2010, and incorgietaherein by
reference)

Second Amended and Restated Investor Rights Agmeteieted March 17, 2008, by and among the Registrartain
stockholders and the investors listed on the sigegiages thereto (filed as Exhibit 4.3 to Amendnim 1 to the
Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-X&ie No. 333-162782), as filed on December 282 @nd
incorporated herein by reference)

Second Amended and Restated Stock Sale Agreenaeat March 17, 2008, by and among the Registrantiia
stockholders and the investors listed on the sigegiages thereto (filed as Exhibit 4.4 to Amendnim 1 to the
Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1(&ie No. 333-162782), as filed on December 282@nd
incorporated herein by reference)

Omnibus Amendment, dated August 25, 2009, by amahgrthe Registrant, certain stockholders and thesitors listed
on the signature pages thereto (filed as Exhibitd Amendment No. 1 to the Registrant’s Regigiratatement on
Form S-1 (SEC File No. 333-162782), as filed ondhlber 23, 2009, and incorporated herein by refejenc

Warrant to Purchase Stock dated October 14, 2@1@dsto Silicon Valley Bank (filed as Exhibit 4dlthe Registrant’s
Current Report, as filed on October 18, 2010, acdriporated herein by reference)

Warrant to Purchase Stock dated October 14, 2@1L@dsto MidCap Funding Ill, LLC (filed as Exhibit24to the
Registrant’s Current Report, as filed on October2lB8.0, and incorporated herein by reference)

Warrant to Purchase Stock dated May 16, 2011 issubtidCap Funding lll, LLC (filed as Exhibit 4.d the
Registrant’s Current Report, as filed on May 171 20and incorporated herein by reference)

Warrant to Purchase Stock dated May 16, 2011 issu8dicon Valley Bank (filed as Exhibit 4.2 toglRegistrant’s
Current Report, as filed on May 17, 2011, and ipooated herein by reference)

Amendment No. 1 to Warrant to Purchase Stock dsliegl 7, 2013 by and between Silicon Valley Bank el
Registrant (filed as Exhibit 4.10 to the Registiatuarterly Report on Form 10-Q, as filed on Audus 2013, and
incorporated herein by reference)

Form of Indemnification Agreement between the Regig and each of its directors and executive effidfiled as
Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Registration Statat on Form S-1 (SEC File No. 333-162782), ad file October 30,
2009, and incorporated herein by reference)

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, datgdd.8, 2008, by and between the Registrant amzb@iel
Myers (filed as Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant’sgigration Statement on Form S-1 (SEC File No. 383782), as filed
on October 30, 2009, and incorporated herein Breefkce)

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, datgd$tl8, 2008, by and between the Registrant acldaRd
Eiswirth (filed as Exhibit 10.3 to the RegistranRegistration Statement on Form S-1 (SEC File N@-B862782), as
filed on October 30, 2009, and incorporated helbpgineference)

Amended and Restated Employment Agreematgddiugust 18, 2008, by and between the RegistrashDavid
Holland (filed as Exhibit 10.4 to the RegistrarRegistration Statement on Form S-1 (SEC File N8-B32782), as



filed on October 30, 2009, and incorporated indog reference)

10.5t Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, datgdsd.8, 2008, by and between the Registrant asdrSu
Caballa (filed as Exhibit 10.5 to the Registrafisgistration Statement on Form S-1 (SEC File N8-B32782), as
filed on October 30, 2009, and incorporated helbbgineference)

10.6F Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, datgd#d8, 2008, by and between the Registrant amehéth
Green (filed as Exhibit 10.6 to the Registrant'gReation Statement on Form S-1 (SEC File No. 383782), as filed
on October 30, 2009, and incorporated herein Breeice)
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10.7

10.7.A

10.8

10.8.A

10.9

10.10

10.11

10.12

10.13%

10.18

10.25%

10.26%

10.27

10.28

10.30

10.31

Alimera Sciences, Inc. 2004 Incentive Stock Planamended (filed as Exhibit 10.7 to the RegisteaRegistration
Statement on Form S-1 (SEC File No. 333-162782fijexton October 30, 2009, and incorporated hebbgineference)

Form of Option Certificate under the Alimera Sciescinc. 2004 Incentive Stock Plan (filed as Exhilfi.7.A to the
Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-X($ite No. 333-162782), as filed on October 30,20Ghd
incorporated herein by reference)

Alimera Sciences, Inc. 2005 Incentive Stock Plédrdfas Exhibit 10.8 to the Registrant’s Registnatbtatement on
Form S-1 (SEC File No. 333-162782), as filed onabet 30, 2009, and incorporated herein by refedence

Form of Option Certificate under the Alimera Sciesicinc. 2005 Incentive Stock Plan (filed as ExHil6i.8.A to the
Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-10($ite No. 333-162782), as filed on October 30,20hd
incorporated herein by reference)

2010 Equity Incentive Plan (filed as Exhibit 1009&mendment No. 4 to the Registrant's RegistraBtatement on
Form S-1 (SEC File No. 333-162782), as filed onilAr2010, and incorporated herein by reference)

2010 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (filed as ExhihitO to Amendment No. 4 to the Registrant’s Regfisn
Statement on Form S-1 (SEC File No. 333-162782jjlexson April 6, 2010, and incorporated hereinrbference)

Management Cash Incentive Plan (filed as Exhibit1@0o the Registrant’s Registration Statementam¥FS-1 (SEC
File No. 333-162782), as filed on October 30, 2G0%9] incorporated herein by reference)

Compensation Program for Non-Employee Directotedfas Exhibit 10.12 to the Registrant’s RegistraBtatement
on Form S-1 (SEC File No. 333-162782), as fileddmtober 30, 2009, and incorporated herein by rafee

Amended and Restated Collaboration Agreement bybahdeen pSivida, Inc. (f/k/a/Control Delivery Sgsis, Inc.)
and Alimera Sciences, Inc., dated as of March 088Zfiled as Exhibit 10.13 to Amendment No. 5he Registrant’s
Registration Statement on Form S-1 (SEC File N8-B32782), as filed on April 16, 2010, and incogied herein by
reference)

Office Lease by and between Rubicon, L.C. and Alarféciences, Inc., dated as of May 27, 2003, andetke(filed as
Exhibit 10.18 to the Registrant’s Registration &ta¢nt on Form S-1 (SEC File No. 333-162782), asl filn October
30, 2009, and incorporated herein by reference)

License Agreement between Alimera Sciences, Ind.Cainippon Sumitomo Pharma Co., Ltd., dated Nowerdh
2007 (filed as Exhibit 10.25 to Amendment No. Ihe Registrant’'s Registration Statement on Form(SEIC File No.
333-162782), as filed on December 23, 2009, anarpurated herein by reference)

Commercial Contract Manufacturing Agreement, betw&kmera Sciences, Inc. and Alliance Medical Pretduinc.,
dated February 5, 2010 (filed as Exhibit 10.26 toehdment No. 6 to the Registrant’'s Registratione®tant on Form
S-1 (SEC File No. 333-162782), as filed on April 2010, and incorporated herein by reference)

Loan and Security Agreement dated October 14, d@h@een Registrant, Silicon Valley Bank and Mid@amding 111,
LLC (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Registrant’s Currdeport on Form 8-K, as filed on October 18, 2010l imcorporated
herein by reference)

Loan and Security Agreement dated October 14, d@h@een Registrant and Silicon Valley Bank (filesdexhibit 10.2
to Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, agdfitem October 18, 2010, and incorporated hereirefgrence)

Form of Notice of Stock Option Grant and Stock OptAgreement under 2010 Equity Incentive Plandfds Exhibit
10.30 to Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10fjlad on March 25, 2011, and incorporated hebgimeference)

First Loan Modification Agreement dated May 16, 2@fetween Registrant, Silicon Valley Bank and Mig@ander
lll, LLC (filed as Exhibit 10.1 to Registrant’'s Geint Report on Form 8-K, as filed on May 17, 20drid incorporated
herein by reference)



10.32 First Loan Modification Agreement dated May 16, 2@fketween Registrant and Silicon Valley Bank (fitedExhibit
10.2 to Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-Kfjlasl on May 17, 2011, and incorporated hereindfgrence)
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10.46

10.47
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23.1*

31.1*

Amendment to Manufacturing Agreement between Registind Alliance Medical Products, Inc. (filedEhibit 10.3
to Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Qjlad bn August 5, 2011, and incorporated hereinggrence)

Form of Notice of Stock Unit Award and Stock Unigreement under 2010 Equity Incentive Plan (filedEakibit
10.34 to Registrant’'s Annual Report on Form 10-fied on March 30, 2012, and
incorporated herein by reference)

Manufacturing Agreement by and between the Registrad Flextronics Medical Sales and Marketing, [fited as
Exhibit 10.35 to Registrant's Quarterly Report anrfr 10-Q, as filed on August 14, 2012, and incaapent herein by
reference)

Securities Purchase Agreement dated July 17, Z0é@& &s Exhibit 10.36 to the Registrant's Curri@aport, as filed on
July 18, 2012, and incorporated herein by reference

Amendment No. 1 to Securities Purchase Agreemdatdseptember 21, 2012 (filed as Exhibit 10.3 hoRegistrant’
Current Report, as filed on October 2, 2012, acdriporated herein by reference)

UK Sub-Plan of the 2010 Equity Incentive Plan oiidra Sciences, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 10.38 to Registrant's
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, as filed on Novemhe2012, and incorporated herein by reference)

Form of UK Sub-Plan Notice of Stock Option Grantl &tock Option Agreement (filed as Exhibit 10.39he
Registrant's Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, aslfie November 7, 2012, and incorporated hereirefgrence)

Employment Contract dated November 3, 2012 by ataden the Registrant and Philip Ashman (filed asitiit 10.40
to the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-Kfjlad on March 28, 2013)

Master Services Agreement dated November 28, 20 Hh8 between the Registrant and Quintiles Comrakirope
Limited (filed as Exhibit 10.41 to the Registramtisnual Report on Form 10-K, as filed on March 2813)

Loan and Security Agreement dated May 7, 2013 batv&ilicon Valley Bank and Alimera Sciences Limifétbd as
Exhibit 10.42 to the Registrant’s Quarterly RepmrtForm 10-Q, as filed on August 14, 2013)

Security Agreement entered into as of May 7, 201 ard between Silicon Valley Bank and the Regist(hled as
Exhibit 10.43 to the Registrant’s Quarterly ReportForm 10-Q, as filed on August 14, 2013)

Unconditional Guaranty entered into as of May 7,208y Alimera Sciences B.V. in favor of Silicon & Bank(filed
as Exhibit 10.44 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Repa Form 10-Q, as filed on August 14, 2013)

Unconditional Guaranty entered into as of May 7,208y AS C.V. in favor of Silicon Valley Bank (filtas Exhibit
10.45 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on F&a0¥Q, as filed on August 14, 2013)

Unconditional Guaranty entered into as of May 7,208y the Registrant in favor of Silicon Valley Baffiled as
Exhibit 10.46 to the Registrant’s Quarterly ReportForm 10-Q, as filed on August 14, 2013)

Second Loan Modification Agreement entered intofdglay 7, 2013 by and between Silicon Valley Bank ¢he
Registrant (filed as Exhibit 10.47 to the Registsa@uarterly Report on Form 10-Q, as filed on Asigi4, 2013)

Securities Purchase Agreement dated January 24,(8@&d as Exhibit 10.42 to the Registrant's Catrigeport, as filed
on January 27, 2014, and incorporated herein lereate)

List of subsidiaries of the Registrant (includingidiction of organization and names under whigbsgiaries do
business) (filed as Exhibit 21.1 to the RegistsaaAtinual Report on Form 10-K, as filed on March 281 3)

Consent of Grant Thornton LLP, Indeperideegistered Public Accounting Firm

Certification of the Chief Executive Qffir, as required by Section 302 of the SarbaneeyOxtt of 2002



31.2* Certification of the Chief Financial Gféir as required by Section 302 of the SarbanesyGhdeof 2002

32.1* Certifications of the Chief Executive @#r and Chief Financial Officer as required byl.$.C. 1350

101.INS+* XBRL Instance Document
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101.SCH+* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Docoime

101.CAL+* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculatioinkbase Document

101.DEF+* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definitionrikbase Document

101.LAB+* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbm®ocument

101.PRE+* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentatiotkbase Document

t Compensation Arrangement.

¥ Confidential treatment has been granted witheeisto certain portions of this document.

* Filed herewith.

+ Users of this data are advised pursuant to Rd of Regulation S-T that this interactive dal& it deemed not filed or part of a

registration statement or prospectus for purpos&ections 11 or 12 of the Securities Act of 19@8amended, is deemed not filed
purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchangef1934, as amended, and otherwise is not sutgdiability under these
sections.
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EXHIBIT 23.1B

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We have issued our report dated March 6, 2014, negpect to the consolidated financial statememsided in the Annual Rep
of Alimera Sciences, Inc. on Form ¥0for the year ended December 31, 2013. We heremgant to the incorporation
reference of said report in the Registration Statemof Alimera Sciences, Inc. on Forms S-8 (Fite 8B3166822, effective Me
14, 2010, and File No. 333-173095, effective Ma2bBh2011, and File No. 333-180567, effective Agrik012, and File No. 333-
187600, effective March 28, 2013) and Form S-3z(Kib. 333-184996, effective April 4, 2013).

/sl GRANT THORNTON LLP

Atlanta, Georgia
March 6, 2014



EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION
I, C. Daniel Myers, certify that:

1. | have reviewed this annual report on Form 16flimera Sciences, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notadony untrue statements of a material fact oit torstate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntets.under which such statements were made, nigamisg with respect to the peri
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the consolidated firdrstatements, and other financial informationtudeld in this report, fairly present in all
material respects the financial condition, resofteperations and cash flows of the registrantfaara for, the periods presented in this
report;

4.  The registrant’s other certifying officer andrke responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%(nd internal control over financial reportirag @defined in Exchange Act Rules
13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant andeéhav

a. designed such disclosure controls and procedareaused such disclosure controls and procedaotee designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtbsidiaries, is made known tc
by others within those entities, particularly dgrite period in which this report is being prepared

b. designed such internal control over finanaglarting, or caused such internal control overrfaial reporting to be designed under
our supervision; to provide reasonable assurargardeng the reliability of financial reporting atite preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting principles;

c.  evaluated the effectiveness of the registratisslosure controls and procedures and presentihisi report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls andguiures, as of the end of the period coveredibyédport based on such
evaluation; and

d. disclosed in this report any change in thestegit's internal control over financial reportitigat occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s foigbal quarter in the case of an annual repod) tias materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regastt's internal control over financial reporting;dan

5.  The registrant’s other certifying officer(s)dnhave disclosed, based on our most recent ei@tuaf internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@s persons performing the equivalent
functions):

a. all significant deficiencies and material wesdses in the design or operation of internal cbotrer financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registeaability to record, process, summarize and refioancial information; and

b.  any fraud, whether or not material, that ineslvnanagement or other employees who have a smmtifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 6, 2014 /sl C. Daniel Myers

C. Daniel Myers
President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)







EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATION
I, Richard S. Eiswirth, Jr., certify that:

1. | have reviewed this annual report on Form 16flimera Sciences, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notadony untrue statements of a material fact oit torstate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntets.under which such statements were made, nigamisg with respect to the peri
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the consolidated firdrstatements, and other financial informationtudeld in this report, fairly present in all
material respects the financial condition, resofteperations and cash flows of the registrantfaara for, the periods presented in this
report;

4.  The registrant’s other certifying officer andrke responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%(nd internal control over financial reportirag @defined in Exchange Act Rules
13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant andeéhav

a. designed such disclosure controls and procedareaused such disclosure controls and procedaotee designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhtbsidiaries, is made known tc
by others within those entities, particularly dgrite period in which this report is being prepared

b. designed such internal control over finanaglarting, or caused such internal control overrfaial reporting to be designed under
our supervision; to provide reasonable assurargardeng the reliability of financial reporting atite preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting principles;

c.  evaluated the effectiveness of the registratisslosure controls and procedures and presentihisi report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls andguiures, as of the end of the period coveredibyédport based on such
evaluation; and

d. disclosed in this report any change in thestegit's internal control over financial reportitigat occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s foigbal quarter in the case of an annual repod) tias materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regastt's internal control over financial reporting;dan

5.  The registrant’s other certifying officer(s)dnhave disclosed, based on our most recent ei@tuaf internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@s persons performing the equivalent
functions):

a. all significant deficiencies and material wesdses in the design or operation of internal cbotrer financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registeaability to record, process, summarize and refioancial information; and

b.  any fraud, whether or not material, that ineslvnanagement or other employees who have a smmtifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 6, 2014 /s/ Richard S. Eiswirth, Jr.

Richard S. Eiswirth, Jr.
Chief Operating Officer and Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)







EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION

In connection with the Annual Report of Alimera &utes, Inc. (the “Registrant”) on Form 10-K for #renual period ended December 31,
2013 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Cwsion on the date hereof (the “Report”), the usigred, C. Daniel Myers, President,
Chief Executive Officer, and Director of the Compaand Richard S. Eiswirth, Jr., Chief Financiafi@dr and Chief Operating Officer, certi
certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, agptetbpursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxbewf 2002, that to their respective
knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirems of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securitiestaxge Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report faphgsents, in all material respects, the finarmaldition and results of operations of
the Registrant.

Date: March 6, 2014 /sl C. Daniel Myers
C. Daniel Myers

President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Date: March 6, 2014 /s/ Richard S. Eiswirth, Jr.
Richard S. Eiswirth, Jr.

Chief Operating Officer and Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

This certification is made solely for the purpos&48 U.S.C. Section 1350, subject to the knowlstlyedard contained therein, and not for
any other purpose. A signed original of this writtgatement required by Section 906 has been prduin the Registrant and will be retained
by the Registrant and furnished to the United St&ecurities and Exchange Commission or its spafiuequest

This certification accompanies the Form KGe which it relates, is not deemed filed with 8exurities and Exchange Commission and is n
be incorporated by reference into any filing of Registrant under the Securities Act of 1933 orSbkeurities Exchange Act of 1934 (whether
made before or after the date of the Form 10-Kgspective of any general incorporation languagetamed in such filing.



